
OREGON PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM BOARD MEETING 

http://www.oregon.gov/PERS/ 
2015 Meetings:    November 20*    * Audit Committee 

Lawrence Furnstahl    Krystal Gema     John Thomas, Chair     Pat West, Vice Chair    Rhoni Wiswall     Steve Rodeman, Executive Director 
SL1 

Friday 
September 25, 2015 

1:00 P.M. 

PERS 
11410 SW 68th Parkway 

Tigard, OR 

    ITEM    PRESENTER 
A.    Administration  

1. 

2. 

July 31, 2015 Board Meeting Minutes 

Director’s Report 

a. Forward-Looking Calendar

b. OIC Investment Report

c. Budget Execution Report

d. Customer Service Survey Results

RODEMAN 

CROSLEY 

B.    Administrative Rulemaking 

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

Notice of 2015 Legislation Rules 

Notice of Partial Year for Academic Employees Rule 

Notice of Retirement Benefits Rules 

Adoption of COLA/Supplementary Payments Rules 

Adoption of Assumed Rate Rule 

VAUGHN 

C.    Action and Discussion Items 

1. 

2. 

3. 

Moro Project Update and Funding Request 

OPSRP Contribution Start Date 

Adoption of Actuarial Methods and Assumptions and 2014 Valuation 
Results 

DUNN 

ELLEDGE-RHODES 

MILLIMAN 



OREGON PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

SL1     PERS Board Meeting  September 25, 2015

Item A.1. 

July 31, 2015 

Board Members: Staff: 

John Thomas, Chair Linda Barnett Robert Jones Adrienne Southard Yong Yang 
Lawrence Furnstahl David Crosley Andy Kicza Jason Stanley 
Krystal Gema Mary Dunn Kyle Knoll Marjorie Taylor 
Pat West 
Rhoni Wiswall 

Yvette Elledge-
Rhodes 

Beth Porter 
Daniel Rivas 

Stephanie Vaughn 
Anne Marie Vu 

Brian Harrington Steve Rodeman Dale Wakabayashi 
Jessica Johnson David Shevchenko Joli Whitney 

Others: 

Nancy Brewer Stacy Cowan Robert Judge Kevin McCartin Patrick Weisgerber 
Molly Butler Doug Dillon Jerry King Michael McCoy Peter Wong 
Nate Carter Linda Ely Agee David Lacy Michelle Morrison Greg Hartman 
Alison Chan Janice Essenberg Matt Larrabee Carol Samuels Scott Preppernau 
Lance Colley Claire Hertz Elizabeth McCann Deborah Tremblay 

Chair John Thomas called the meeting to order at 1:00 P.M. 

ADMINISTRATION 

A.1. BOARD MEETING MINUTES OF MAY 29, 2015 

Board member Pat West moved and Board member Lawrence Furnstahl seconded approval of 
the minutes submitted from the May 29, 2015 Board meeting. The motion passed unanimously. 

A.2.a. DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

Executive Director Steve Rodeman reviewed the 2015 Forward Looking Calendar. He 
highlighted the importance of the upcoming agenda items. Rodeman presented the Oregon 
Investment Council (OIC) Investment Report of the Oregon Public Employees Retirement Fund 
(OPERF) for the period ending June 30, 2015. There is a year-to-date return of 3.34 percent in 
the regular account. A recent public funds survey done by Callan showed that in one, three, five 
and ten year returns, OPERF exceeded the median of other public funds by 75-100 basis points. 

Rodeman also presented the July 2015 Budget Execution Report. The current positive variance 
is about 5 percent of the operating budget. The 2015-17 budget was approved by the legislature 
and signed by the Governor. 

ADMINSTRATIVE RULEMAKING 

Policy, Analysis, and Compliance Section Manager Stephanie Vaughn presented. 



Board Meeting Minutes 
July 31, 2015 
Page 2 of 4 
 

SL1                                            PERS Board Meeting                                                                                       September 25, 2015      

B.1. NOTICE OF COST-OF-LIVING ADJUSTMENT RULES 

Vaughn presented the notice of rulemaking for the Cost-of-Living Adjustment Rules, OAR 459-
005-0510 and -005-0520. The proposed rule amendments clarify annual cost-of-living 
adjustment method for earned benefits. A rulemaking hearing will be held at PERS 
Headquarters August 25, 2015. A second rulemaking hearing will be held in Salem August 27, 
2015. The public comment period ends September 1, 2015. No Board action was required. 

B.2. NOTICE OF ASSUMED RATE RULE 

Vaughn presented the notice of rulemaking for the Assumed Rate Rule, OAR 459-007-0007. 
The proposed rule amendments will specify the new assumed rate should the PERS Board adopt 
a change. A rulemaking hearing will be held August 25, 2015. The public comment period ends 
September 1, 2015. No Board action was required. 

B.3. ADOPTION OF DISABILITY APPLICATION RULES 

Vaughn presented the revised rules, OAR 459-015-0020, and -076-0020, for adoption. A 
rulemaking hearing on the rules noticed previously was held on April 28, 2015. No members of 
the public attended the hearing. The public comment period was extended and a second 
rulemaking hearing was held on June 23, 2015. No public attended. The public comment period 
for both rules ended July 1, 2015. No public comment was received. The rule changes make 
housekeeping edits to properly incorporate defined terms “date of termination,” “date of 
separation from service,” and “date of disability.”  

Board member Krystal Gema moved to adopt modifications to the Disability Application rule, 
as presented. Furnstahl seconded. The motion passed unanimously. 

B.4. ADOPTION OF REEMPLOYMENT OF OPSRP RETIREES RULES 

Vaughn presented the revised Reemployment for OPSRP Retirees rules: OAR 459-075-0300, 
and -080-0300 for adoption. A rulemaking hearing was held June 23, 2015, and the public 
comment period ended on July 22, 2015. No members of the public attended the hearing and no 
public comment was received. The modifications clarify the standard for number of hours a 
retired OPSRP member can work in the calendar year in which they retire without affecting their 
status as a retired member.  

Board member Rhoni Wiswall moved to adopt modifications to the Reemployment of OPSRP 
Retirees rules as presented. Gema seconded. The motion passed unanimously. 

ACTION AND DISCUSSION ITEMS 

C.1. LEGISLATIVE UPDATE 

Senior Policy Advisor Marjorie Taylor presented. She highlighted 10 bills which are either 
under consideration or signed by the Governor. PERS staff is working through implementation 
of these new or revised provisions. House Bill 5034, PERS’ Agency budget bill, included 
funding for additional call center, budget calculations, and data verification staff. It also 
included budget notes requiring PERS to report to the 2016 legislature on any Board approved 
change to the assumed earnings rate; a risk assessment of agency business continuity and 
disaster preparedness; and a statutory review of how to simplify benefit structure and reduce the 
costs of administration. 



Board Meeting Minutes 
July 31, 2015 
Page 3 of 4 
 

SL1                                            PERS Board Meeting                                                                                       September 25, 2015      

 
C.2. CONTRACTED ACTUARIAL SERVICES 

Procurement and Facilities Manager Robert Jones presented. The contract for actuarial services 
contract expires on December 31, 2015. Through a formal solicitation process, Milliman was 
selected. With assistance from the Department of Justice, both parties agreed on a contract that 
will provide actuarial services through December 31, 2019, with options for six additional years 

Wiswall asked if this contract starts a new 10-year clock for Milliman’s services. Jones 
responded that the contract would become effective January 2016. Thomas reviewed the 
decision matrix used by the committee.  

Wiswall moved to direct staff to proceed with the award of the contract to Milliman based upon 
the mutually agreed upon terms and conditions. The contract’s term will be four years, 
beginning January 1, 2016, with options to renew for three additional two-year terms, up to a 
maximum contract length of 10 years. Furnstahl seconded. The motion passed unanimously. 

 

C.3. MORO IMPLEMENTATION UPDATE 

Mary Dunn, Financial and Administrative Services Division, presented. Dunn reviewed the 
current status of implementing the changes as a result of the Moro case. 

The project’s fiscal impact projection of $1.6 million was approved by the legislature by an 
amendment to the agency’s budget, House Bill 5034. The funds represent staff costs to restore 
member benefits and for system changes to administer 2016 and future cost-of-living 
adjustments (COLA) based on the Supreme Court’s decision. 

PERS will pay a 2% COLA in August to all 132,000+ who are eligible for this benefit. The next 
milestone will be to determine the amount of underpaid COLA to a population of about 123,000 
retirees and send out retroactive payments in October. 

In September, there will be a request to use the Contingency Reserve to cover the cost of the 
retroactive COLA payments. West commented that he is impressed with the speed with which 
PERS has put together a package to restore member benefits.  

Chair Thomas discussed the moving parts of the benefit structure and the importance of good 
inputs and information to make decisions.  

C.4. VALUATION METHODS & ASSUMPTIONS INCLUDING ASSUMED RATE OF 
RETURN 
Matt Larrabee and Scott Preppernau of Milliman presented. Since the May meeting, there has 
been significant data analysis. In addition to the Moro ruling, the assumption review analysis 
also indicates a change in the mortality assumptions. The new consensus from nationwide 
studies is that future life expectancy rates have increased. Increased life expectancy results in a 
significant impact to liability. Considering all assumptions, an increase of $3.6 billion in UAL is 
expected.  

Thomas commented on the last time assumed interest rates were reviewed and the fiduciary 
responsibility of the Board.  

West moved to reduce the assumed interest rate to 7.5 percent effective January 1, 2016. 
Furnstahl seconded. The motion passed unanimously.  

West noted the impact of the change in the rate and the historical assumptions.  



Board Meeting Minutes 
July 31, 2015 
Page 4 of 4 
 

SL1                                            PERS Board Meeting                                                                                       September 25, 2015      

OPEN FORUM 
Joe Gymkowsky came forward to address the Board about his concerns with his retirement from 
the City of Portland Fire Department’s plan.  

Del Steven, retired deputy chief of Portland fire department, appeared in support of 
Gymkowsky’s request and requested that the Board require the City of Portland have a 
comprehensive Equal to or Better Than (ETOB) test by an independent actuarial firm.  

Dwight Williams addressed the Board, but his matter was previously litigated as a contested 
case and a final order was issued.  

Thomas adjourned the Board meeting at 2:00 PM. 

Respectfully submitted,  

 

 

Steven Patrick Rodeman 
Executive Director 



 

SL1                         PERS Board Meeting    September 25, 2015 

Item A.2.a. 

PERS Board Meeting 
Forward-Looking Calendar 

 
 
 
Friday, November 20, 2015 
 
Adoption of 2015 Legislation Rules 
Adoption of Retirement Benefits Rules 
Adoption of Partial Year for Academic Employees Rule 
Notice of Proposed Rulemaking Rule 
Notice of Leave of Absence Without Pay Rule 
Board Scorecard Report on Agency Performance Measures 
Audit Committee Meeting 
 
 
 
2016 meetings dates: 
 
Friday, January 29, 2016 
 
Monday, March 28, 2016 
 
Friday, May 27, 2016 
 
Friday, July 29, 2016 
 
Friday, September 30, 2016 
 
Friday, November 18, 2016 
 
 

 



Returns for periods ending 8/31/15 Oregon Public Employees Retirement Fund

Year- 1 2 3 4 5 7 10

OPERF Policy
1

Target
1

$ Thousands
2

Actual To-Date
3

YEAR YEARS YEARS YEARS YEARS YEARS YEARS

Public Equity 32.5-42.5% 37.5% 27,014,213$     39.8% (2.34) (4.73) 7.24 10.93 9.78 10.80 5.55 5.62

Private Equity 16-24% 20% 14,040,071         20.7% 4.19 9.54 14.05 13.61 11.84 13.69 8.84 11.86

Total Equity 52.5-62.5% 57.5% 41,054,284         60.6%

Opportunity Portfolio 0-3% 0% 1,165,214           1.7% 2.96 4.42 8.62 10.85 9.31 10.45 8.86

Total Fixed 15-25% 20% 16,240,998         24.0% 1.13 1.12 3.47 2.70 4.32 4.73 6.68 5.62

Real Estate 9.5-15.5% 12.5% 7,402,037           10.9% 4.68 10.94 12.64 12.64 12.12 13.16 4.47 7.89

Alternative Investments 0-10% 10% 1,671,179           2.5% (3.38) (6.18) 1.04 2.45 0.62

Cash   0-3% 0% 262,975 0.4% 0.39 0.47 0.61 0.63 0.77 0.71 0.81 1.94

TOTAL OPERF Regular Account 100% 67,796,687$     100.0% 0.67 1.35 8.27 9.41 8.94 10.08 6.44 6.73

OPERF Policy Benchmark 1.47 2.33 9.27 9.94 9.75 10.30 6.99 6.96

Value Added (0.80) (0.98) (1.00) (0.53) (0.81) (0.22) (0.55) (0.23)

TOTAL OPERF Variable Account 676,440$    (2.96) (5.69) 6.89 10.03 9.11 10.18 5.21 4.01

Asset Class Benchmarks:

Russell 3000 Index (2.61) 0.36 11.88 14.63 15.22 16.03 8.83 7.33

MSCI ACWI Ex US IMI Net (3.60) (11.93) 1.94 5.63 3.58 5.01 1.92 4.45

MSCI ACWI IMI Net (3.23) (6.11) 6.57 9.69 8.73 9.83 4.94 5.53

Russell 3000 Index + 300 bps--Quarter Lagged 8.71 15.71 20.85 19.88 17.43 18.12 13.19 11.99

Oregon Custom FI Benchmark 0.79 0.95 2.89 2.03 3.65 3.38 4.82 4.62

NCREIF Property Index--Quarter Lagged 6.72 12.72 11.95 11.47 11.95 12.75 4.98 8.39

91 Day T-Bill 0.02 0.03 0.04 0.06 0.06 0.08 0.17 1.38

1
OIC Policy 4.01.18, as revised October 2013.

2
Includes impact of cash overlay management.

3
For mandates beginning after January 1 (or with lagged performance), YTD numbers are "N/A". Performance is reflected in Total OPERF. YTD is not annualized.

Regular Account Historical Performance (Annual Percentage)

69,964 69,913 
70,459 

70,025 
69,342 

70,791 

71,065 71,631 71,510 
70,793 70,419 

68,473 

50,000

55,000

60,000

65,000

70,000

75,000

Sep-14 Oct-14 Nov-14 Dec-14 Jan-15 Feb-15 Mar-15 Apr-15 May-15 Jun-15 Jul-15 Aug-15

TOTAL OPERF NAV 

(includes variable fund assets) 

One year ending August 2015 

($ in Millions) 

Ite
m

 A
.2

.b
.



 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting September 25, 2015  

Item A.2.c. 

Public Employees Retirement System 
Headquarters: 

11410 S.W. 68th Parkway, Tigard, OR 
Mailing Address: 

P.O. Box 23700 
Tigard, OR 97281-3700 

(503) 598-7377 
TTY (503) 603-7766 

www.o re go n .go v/p er s  

Oregon 
   
     Kate Brown, Governor 

 
September 25, 2015 
 
TO:  Members of the PERS Board                                                                

FROM: Linda M. Barnett, Budget Officer  

SUBJECT: September 2015 Board Report  
 
2015-17 OPERATIONS BUDGET 
 
Operating expenditures for July 2015 and preliminary expenditures for August 2015 were 
$2,897,322 and $3,036,441, respectively. Final expenditures for August will close in the Statewide 
Financial Management System (SFMS) on September 25, 2015, and will be included in the 
November 2015 report to the Board. 
 
· To date, through the first two months (or 8.3%) of the 2015-17 biennium, the Agency has 

expended a total of $5,933,763, or 6.3% of PERS’ legislatively approved operations budget of 
$93,871,154.  

· Agency budget reports are still being finalized in SFMS and, until that process is completed, 
budget execution reports cannot be prepared. For example, final allocations to agency budgets 
to account for the compensation packages within the recently ratified collective bargaining 
agreements are not yet finalized. The November budget report will include the usual reports.         

 
2013-15 OPERATIONS BUDGET 
 
Remaining 2013-15 expenditures paid in July and August were $871,697 and $262,786 
respectively. PERS has now expended a total of $79,136,062, or 93.3%, of PERS’ legislatively 
approved 2013-15 operations budget of $84,820,034. 

 
· The current projected positive variance is $5,683,973, or 6.7% of the operations budget. 
 
· The 2013-15 operations budget will close in SFMS by December 31, 2015. A final report on 

2013-15 expenditures will be submitted at the Board’s January 2016 meeting. 
 
SENATE BILL 822/861 BUDGETS 
 
These bills contained separate budget limitations that were approved for the administrative costs to 
implement the COLA modifications and other elements of the legislation. 
 
· Expenditures to date are $1,445,830, or 71.2% of the cumulative SB 822/861 legislatively 

approved budget of $2,031,096.  Since the Moro decision, project expenditures have been used 
to prepare for restoring member benefits in line with the court’s directives. The current 
projected variance is $585,266, or 28.8% of appropriated amount. A final report on these 
expenditures will also be submitted to the Board’s January 2016 meeting. 



 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting September 25, 2015 
 

Public Employees Retirement System 
Headquarters: 

11410 S.W. 68th Parkway, Tigard, OR 
Mailing Address: 

P.O. Box 23700 
Tigard, OR 97281-3700 

(503) 598-7377 
TTY (503) 603-7766 

www.o re go n .go v/p er s  

Oregon 
   
     Kate Brown, Governor 

 
  
 
 
 
 

 

September 25, 2015 

  
 
TO: Members of the PERS Board 
FROM: David Crosley, Communications Director                  
SUBJECT: 2015 Customer Service Survey Results 
 

PERS conducted customer satisfaction surveys for active and retired members and employers in 
August 2015, in accordance with requirements adopted by the 2005 Legislature for standardized 
customer service performance measures and survey questions for all state agencies. The measures 
require agencies to survey customers and report results in their budget presentations.  

Our 2015 surveys continue to show good overall ratings from both members and employers. We 
will continue to conduct yearly surveys to measure and trend improvement in our customer 
service. 

MEMBER CUSTOMER SATISFACTION SURVEY 
PERS posted a link to the customer service survey on its website during August 2015. We also 
placed a hard copy of the survey in the August 1 edition of the retired members’ newsletter, 
Perspectives. The August 1 Perspectives newsletter for active members noted that the survey was 
available online. In total, we received approximately 1,150 responses, a number of which included 
individual comments. In comparison, we received approximately 1,450 responses in 2014. 

We identified two key issues and suggestions from the comments received as detailed below. We 
also describe our strategies to address those items and the methodologies used in the survey. The 
following graphs and charts display the survey results and provide a comparison of responses for 
the 2011 through 2015 survey years.  
In addition to the standard questions we are required to survey by the legislature, we also asked for 
input regarding the PERS website: 

§ Was the PERS website easy to navigate? 
§ Did you find the information you wanted? 
§ Are there any changes you would make to the PERS website? 

Approximately 81% of respondents said the website was easy to navigate and approximately 83% 
found the information they were seeking.  

Another question asked: “If you rated PERS ‘Fair’ or ‘Poor’ in any part of question 3, please tell 
us why you did not rate us ‘Excellent’ or ‘Good.’ ” Many noted their dissatisfaction with 
legislative changes to PERS benefits. 

Item A.2.d. 



Survey Results 
9/25/2015 
Page 2 of 8 
 
 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting  September 25, 2015 
 
 

Again this year we asked: “Are PERS forms easy to understand and use?” Approximately 73% of 
respondents answered “yes,” with approximately 7% answering “no.” The remainder had “not 
used” PERS forms. 

For the second year, we asked: “What type of device do you prefer to access websites?” 
Approximately 85% of respondents preferred a computer, while approximately 13% preferred a 
tablet and 8% a phone. 

Percent of member respondents rating “excellent” or “good” (the state’s measures do not 
include the “Don’t Know” responses; the numbers in the graph have been rebaselined to 
exclude those responses). 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

92 92 90 91 91 90 85 91 

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100

O
ve

ra
ll

Ti
m

el
in

es
s

A
cc

ur
ac

y

H
el

pf
ul

ne
ss

E
xp

er
tis

e

A
va

ila
bi

lit
y 

of
In

fo
rm

at
io

n

W
eb

si
te

R
ec

en
t s

er
vi

ce
 v

s 
pa

st

PE
R

C
EN

T 



Survey Results 
9/25/2015 
Page 3 of 8 
 
 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting  September 25, 2015 
 
 

NUMERICAL MEMBER RESULTS (may not equal 100% due to rounding) 
 

How do you rate… Percent 
 Excellent Good Fair Poor Don’t Know 
The overall quality of service? 60 29 4 3 4 
The timeliness of services PERS provides? 59 30 3 3 5 
PERS’ ability to provide services accurately 
the first time? 

59 27 4 5 5 

PERS’ helpfulness? 62 25 5 3 5 
The knowledge and expertise of PERS 
employees? 

55 29 4 2 10 

The availability of information at PERS? 53 31 5 4 7 
The PERS website? 23 23 6 3 45 
Our service in the past year compared to 
previous years? 

45 24 3 3 25 

 

COMPARISON OF 2011-2015 MEMBER RESULTS 

 
 
 
 

 

50
55
60
65
70
75
80
85
90
95

O
ve

ra
ll 

Se
rv

ic
e

Ti
m

el
in

es
s

A
cc

ur
ac

y

H
el

pf
ul

ne
ss

E
xp

er
tis

e

In
fo

rm
at

io
n 

A
va

ila
bi

lit
y

W
eb

si
te

R
ec

en
t S

er
vi

ce
 v

s 
Pa

st

PE
R

C
EN

T 

RATED "EXCELLENT" OR "GOOD" 

2011
2012
2013
2014
2015



Survey Results 
9/25/2015 
Page 4 of 8 
 
 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting  September 25, 2015 
 
 

KEY MEMBER ISSUES AND SUGGESTIONS (in order of number of responses) 
1. Members and retirees noted that PERS encourages use of Online Member Services 

(OMS), accessible on the PERS website, but asked why OMS is often not available. 
With computers, people want access to information at any hour of the day. OMS is a 
repository of member data. Members can create benefit estimates and get other membership 
information while retired members can change their address, confirm upcoming benefit 
payment information, and access other data. 

Resolution:  
Because employers report data to PERS daily, we process and update the information in OMS 
on a daily basis. OMS is normally available daily from 6 a.m. to 9 p.m. Pacific Time. OMS 
may sometimes not be available until 10 a.m. Saturday and from 4 p.m. Saturday until 6 a.m. 
Monday for routine maintenance.  
 
We will add information to our messaging to members regarding the agency’s need to process 
information supplied by employers daily that requires an overnight shutdown of OMS. Also, 
one of the key goals of the agency’s system modernization efforts is to reduce or eliminate the 
need for a batch processing window, which would improve OMS’ up-time.  

 

2. Respondents noted that the PERS website can be hard to navigate. 
Members feel that the PERS website can be cumbersome when trying to find specific 
information. 

      Resolution:  
The state is providing new templates for website design and PERS will be updating its 
website. We anticipate having a website that is more user-friendly later this year. 

 
SURVEY METHODOLOGIES 
To maximize member response, PERS created this survey online and posted it in a prominent 
position on our home page. We also published the location of the survey in our member 
newsletters. The online survey ran throughout August 2015. Further, we placed a hard copy of the 
survey in the newsletter that goes to retired members and they had several weeks to complete and 
mail the survey to PERS.  

We used surveymonkey.com to create the survey, using the six key questions the state requires all 
state agencies to use for the Customer Satisfaction Performance Measure survey.  

The survey report combines the online and hard copy responses, even though only retired 
members received hard copies. 

 

  



Survey Results 
9/25/2015 
Page 5 of 8 
 
 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting  September 25, 2015 
 
 

EMPLOYER CUSTOMER SATISFACTION SURVEY 
PERS surveyed employers online for the tenth consecutive year. The employer satisfaction survey 
was posted online throughout August 2015. Employers received an e-mail inviting them to take 
the survey; 166 responses were received, a number of which included individual comments. In 
comparison, we received 184 responses in 2014. 

We identified two key issues and suggestions from the comments received as detailed below. We 
also describe our strategies to address those items and the methodologies used in the survey. 

The following graphs and charts display the survey results and provide a comparison of responses 
for the 2011 through 2015 survey years.  

Again this year, we asked three questions regarding the PERS employer website: 

§ Was the PERS employer website easy to navigate? 
§ Did you find the information you wanted? 
§ Are there any changes you would make to the PERS website? 

 
More than 90% of employer respondents said the employer website is “easy” or “somewhat easy” 
to navigate and nearly 84% of employer respondents said information they were seeking was 
“easy” or “somewhat easy” to find. 

Another questions asked: “If you rated PERS ‘Fair’ or ‘Poor’ in any part of question 6, please tell 
us why you did not rate us ‘Excellent’ or ‘Good.’ ” Some employers noted the complexity of the 
electronic data reporting system. 



Survey Results 
9/25/2015 
Page 6 of 8 
 
 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting  September 25, 2015 
 
 

Percent of employer respondents rating “excellent” or “good” (the state’s measures do not 
include the “Don’t Know” responses; the numbers in the graph have been rebaselined to 
exclude those responses). 

 
 
NUMERICAL EMPLOYER RESULTS (may not equal 100% due to rounding) 

How do you rate… Percent 
 Excellent Good Fair Poor Don’t Know 
The overall quality of service? 44 44 9 3 0 
The timeliness of services PERS provides? 43 44 9 2 1 
PERS’ ability to provide services 
accurately the first time? 

43 43 11 3 1 

PERS’ helpfulness? 56 33 7 4 0 
The knowledge and expertise of PERS 
employees? 

50 38 9 2 1 

The availability of information at PERS? 37 44 15 4 0 
The PERS employer website? 29 51 9 6 5 
Our service in the past year compared to 
previous years? 

47 37 7 1 8 

 

88 88 87 88 90 81 84 91 

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100
O

ve
ra

ll

Ti
m

el
in

es
s

A
cc

ur
ac

y

H
el

pf
ul

ne
ss

E
xp

er
tis

e

A
va

ila
bi

lit
y 

of
In

fo
rm

at
io

n

W
eb

si
te

R
ec

en
t s

er
vi

ce
 v

s 
pa

st

PE
R

C
EN

T 



Survey Results 
9/25/2015 
Page 7 of 8 
 
 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting  September 25, 2015 
 
 

 
COMPARISON OF 2011-2015 EMPLOYER RESULTS 

 

KEY EMPLOYER ISSUES AND SUGGESTIONS (in order of number of responses) 
1. Employers noted that it is sometimes difficult to find information on the PERS Employer 

website.  
Employers noted that there is a wealth of information but it could be organized differently. 

Resolution: The state has updated templates for websites and PERS will be updating the PERS 
employer website later this year with the new templates. We sought input from employers on 
how to make the site more intuitive and will hold a focus group with employers before we go 
live with the updated website to ensure that data is easier to locate. 

2. Employers noted that PERS documents for employers could use “plainer” language. 
Employers requested that information be easier to understand. 

Resolution: We will work to make language easier to understand in documents used by 
employers. This may include defining terms, using more examples, and creating more visual 
representations. 

SURVEY METHODOLOGIES 
To maximize employer response, we created this survey online and sent an email to all employers 
inviting them to participate. A follow-up email was sent to employers approximately 10 days 
before the survey deadline. The survey ran throughout August 2015. We set the survey so more 

50
55
60
65
70
75
80
85
90
95

O
ve

ra
ll 

Se
rv

ic
e

Ti
m

el
in

es
s

A
cc

ur
ac

y

H
el

pf
ul

ne
ss

E
xp

er
tis

e

In
fo

rm
at

io
n

A
va

ila
bi

lit
y

W
eb

si
te

R
ec

en
t S

er
vi

ce
 v

s
P

as
t

PE
R

C
EN

T 

RATED "EXCELLENT" OR "GOOD" 

2011
2012
2013
2014
2015



Survey Results 
9/25/2015 
Page 8 of 8 
 
 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting  September 25, 2015 
 
 

than one employee per employer could respond since we often interact with more than one 
employer contact. 

We used surveymonkey.com to create the survey, using the six key questions the state requires all 
state agencies to use for the Customer Satisfaction Performance Measure survey. The survey 
included a comments section. The most common comments are summarized and addressed in the 
respective Key Employer Issues and Suggestions section of this report. 



 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting September 25, 2015 

Item B.1. 

Public Employees Retirement System 
Headquarters: 

11410 S.W. 68th Parkway, Tigard, OR 
Mailing Address: 

P.O. Box 23700 
Tigard, OR 97281-3700 

(503) 598-7377 
TTY (503) 603-7766 

www.o re go n .go v/p er s  

Oregon 
   
     Kate Brown, Governor 

 
 
September 25, 2015 
 
 
TO:   Members of the PERS Board 

FROM:  Stephanie Vaughn, Manager, Policy Analysis & Compliance Section 

SUBJECT: Notice of Rulemaking for Rules to Implement 2015 Legislation: 

   459-005-0001, Definitions, Generally 
459-005-0310, Date of Participation and Transfer of Employee Funds to the 

Optional Retirement Plan 
459-005-0350, Membership Status of Persons in Concurrent Employment Eligible 

to Participate in an Optional or Alternative Retirement Plan 

 459-011-0500, Accumulated Unused Sick Leave 
459-080-0150, Employee Contributions into the IAP Account 

OVERVIEW 

· Action: None. This is notice that staff has begun rulemaking. 

· Reason: Implement 2015 legislation impacting PERS. 

· Policy Issue: No policy issues have been identified at this time. 

BACKGROUND 

The 2015 Oregon Legislative Assembly passed three bills which require rulemaking: 

Senate Bill 80 (Chapter 767, Oregon Laws 2015), became effective July 27, 2015. Section 2 of 
SB 80 abolishes the Oregon University System as of July 1, 2015. Each of the seven public 
universities now has an independent governing board. The rule modifications reflect this change 
in reference to the universities’ Optional Retirement Plan (ORP). 

Senate Bill 454 (Chapter 537, Oregon Laws 2015), which becomes effective on January 1, 2016, 
requires Oregon employers to provide a minimum rate of accrual of “sick time” to employees 
(up to 40 hours per year), whether paid or unpaid. ORS 238.350 allows employers to elect to 
participate in the unused sick leave program, which affects the calculation of Final Average 
Salary for Tier One and Tier Two members.  

Under that program, employees may accrue sick leave at the lowest rate in effect for the covered 
group. Staff received many questions from employers regarding the effect of SB 454 on the 
unused sick leave program. Employers represented that the types of positions expected to be 
covered by SB 454 (part-time, seasonal, or temporary workers) would not be in PERS 
“qualifying positions” and, therefore, not be covered by the unused sick leave program.  

In addition, the language of SB 454 specifies that this law is not to be construed to “preempt, 
limit or otherwise impact any employer policy . . . that provides for greater use of paid or unpaid 
sick time.” This language indicates that the legislature specifically intended not to interfere with 



Notice – Rules to Implement 2015 Legislation 
09/25/15 
Page 2 of 3 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting September 25, 2015 

any similar, existing policy or program. Therefore, construing “sick time” in SB 454 as limiting 
the “sick leave” used for purposes of ORS 238.350 could have a limiting effect with respect to 
the number of hours accrued under the PERS program, contrary to the legislative intent.   

For these reasons, PERS staff concluded that SB 454 does not impact the unused paid sick leave 
accrual available to Tier One and Tier Two members under ORS 238.350. The proposed 
amendments to OAR 459-011-0500 confirm this understanding by specifically stating that “sick 
time” (the term used by SB 454) does not constitute “sick leave” for PERS purposes. 

House Bill 3495 (Chapter 326, Oregon Laws 2015), amending ORS 238A.100 and 238A.330, 
becomes effective on January 1, 2016. As previously reported to the PERS Board, this bill 
amends the “contribution start date” for new OPSRP and IAP members, such that employer 
contributions to fund the pension benefit and employee contributions to the IAP will be due for 
wages attributable to services performed by the employee during the first full pay period 
following the new member’s six-month waiting time. The modifications to OAR 459-080-0150 
implement this change for new members as of January 1, 2016. 

The proposed rule modifications are summarized below. 

SUMMARY OF PROPOSED RULE MODIFICATIONS 

SB 80 
OAR 459-005-0001, Definitions, Generally; 459-005-0310, Date of Participation and Transfer 
of Employee Funds to the Optional Retirement Plan; and 459-005-0350, Membership Status of 
Persons in Concurrent Employment Eligible to Participate in an Optional or Alternative 
Retirement Plan: The modifications replace “Oregon University System” with “public 
university.” A new definition for “public university” was added in 459-005-0001 to clarify that 
the term means a public university with a governing board listed in ORS 352.002, in accordance 
with SB 80. 

SB 454  
OAR 459-011-0500, Accumulated Unused Sick Leave: Clarifies that the new “sick time” 
provisions provided by SB 454 do not constitute “sick leave” for purposes of ORS 238.350. 

HB 3495  
OAR 459-080-0150, Employee Contributions into the IAP Account: Provides that contributions 
for newly established IAP members will be made for wages attributable to services performed by 
the employee during the first full pay period after the employee has established membership in 
the IAP. 

PUBLIC COMMENT AND HEARING TESTIMONY 

A rulemaking hearing will be held October 27, 2015, at 2:00 p.m. at PERS headquarters in 
Tigard. The public comment period ends November 2, 2015, at 5:00 p.m. 

LEGAL REVIEW 

The attached rules were submitted to the Department of Justice for legal review and any 
comments or changes will be incorporated before the rules are presented for adoption. 



Notice – Rules to Implement 2015 Legislation 
09/25/15 
Page 3 of 3 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting September 25, 2015 

IMPACT 

Mandatory: Yes, changes are necessary to bring the rules in line with changes or additions to 
statute made by the 2015 legislature. 

Impact: Stakeholders will benefit from the rules’ clarification and implementation of the 
statutory provisions.  

Cost: There is no cost specific to the rule changes. 

RULEMAKING TIMELINE 

September 15, 2015 Staff began the rulemaking process by filing Notice of Rulemaking 
with the Secretary of State. 

September 25, 2015 PERS Board notified that staff began the rulemaking process. 

October 1, 2015 Oregon Bulletin publishes the Notice. Notice is sent to employers, 
legislators, and interested parties. Public comment period begins. 

October 27, 2015 Rulemaking hearing to be held at 2:00 p.m. at PERS in Tigard. 

November 2, 2015 Public comment period ends at 5:00 p.m.  

November 20, 2015  Staff will propose adopting the rule modifications, including any  
    changes resulting from public comment or reviews by staff or legal 
    counsel. 

NEXT STEPS 

A rulemaking hearing will be held October 27, 2015, at 2:00 p.m. at PERS headquarters in 
Tigard. The rule is scheduled to be brought before the PERS Board for adoption at the November 
20, 2015 Board meeting. 

 

 
B.1. Attachment 1 - OAR 459-005-0001, Definitions, Generally 
B.1. Attachment 2 - OAR 459-005-0310, Date of Participation and Transfer of Employee Funds to the 

Optional Retirement Plan 
B.1. Attachment 3 - OAR 459-005-0350, Membership Status of Persons in Concurrent Employment 

Eligible to Participate in an Optional or Alternative Retirement Plan 
B.1. Attachment 4 – OAR 459-011-0500, Accumulated Unused Sick Leave 
B.1. Attachment 5 – OAR 459-080-0150, Employee Contributions into the IAP Account 

 
 
 

 
 



B.1. Attachment 1 
OREGON ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT BOARD 
CHAPTER 459 

DIVISION 5 – ADMINISTRATION 
 

005-0001-1 Page 1 Draft 

459-005-0001 1 

Definitions, Generally 2 

The words and phrases used in OAR Chapter 459 have the same meaning given them 3 

in ORS chapters 237, 238, 238A, and 243 unless otherwise indicated. Specific and 4 

additional terms used in OAR Chapter 459 generally are defined as follows unless context 5 

requires otherwise:  6 

(1) “Ad hoc” means one-time for a specific purpose, case, or situation without 7 

consideration of a broader application.  8 

(2) “After-tax” contributions means:  9 

(a) Member contributions required or permitted by ORS 238.200 or 238.515, which a 10 

participating employer has not elected to “pick up,” assume or pay in accordance with 11 

ORS 238.205 and 238.515(b). “After-tax” contributions are included in the member’s 12 

taxable income for purposes of state or federal income taxation at the time paid to PERS. 13 

“After-tax” contributions are included in computing FAS and in computing the employer’s 14 

contributions paid to PERS.  15 

(b) Payments made by a member to PERS for the purchase of additional benefits.  16 

(3) “Before-tax” contributions means member contributions required or permitted by 17 

ORS 238.200 or 238.515, which a participating employer has elected to “pick up,” assume 18 

or pay in accordance with ORS 238.205 and 238.515(b). “Before-tax” contributions are not 19 

included in the member’s taxable income for purposes of state or federal income taxation 20 

at the time paid to PERS. “Before-tax” contributions are included in:  21 

(a) Computing final average salary; and  22 



DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT 

005-0001-1 Page 2 Draft 

(b) Computing the employer’s contributions paid to PERS if the employer has elected 1 

to “pick up” the member contributions.  2 

(4) “Business day” means a day Monday through Friday when PERS is open for 3 

business.  4 

(5) “Calendar month” means a full month beginning with the first calendar day of a 5 

month and ending on the last calendar day of that month.  6 

(6) “Calendar year” means 12 consecutive calendar months beginning on January 1 7 

and ending on December 31.  8 

(7) “Casual worker” means an individual engaged for incidental, occasional, irregular, 9 

or unscheduled intervals or for a period of less than six consecutive calendar months.  10 

(8) “Contributions” means any contributions required or permitted pursuant to ORS 11 

238.200 or 238.515.  12 

(9) “Differential wage payment” means a payment made on or after January 1, 2009:  13 

(a) By an employer to a member with respect to any period during which the member 14 

is performing service in the uniformed services, as defined in USERRA, while on active 15 

duty for a period of more than 30 consecutive days; and  16 

(b) That represents all or a portion of the wages the member would have received 17 

from the employer if the member were performing service for the employer.  18 

(10) “Effective date of withdrawal” means the later of:  19 

(a) The first day of the calendar month in which PERS receives the last completed 20 

document required from a member who requested a withdrawal; or  21 



DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT 

005-0001-1 Page 3 Draft 

(b) The first day of the second calendar month following the calendar month in which 1 

the member terminated employment with all participating employers and all employers in 2 

a controlled group with a participating employer.  3 

(11) “Effective retirement date” means:  4 

(a) For service retirements, the date described in OAR 459-013-0260; or  5 

(b) For disability retirements, the date described in OAR 459-015-0001.  6 

(12) “Elected official” means an individual who is a public official holding an elective 7 

office or an appointive office with a fixed term for the state or for a political subdivision of 8 

the state who has elected to participate in PERS pursuant to ORS 238.015(5).  9 

(13) “Emergency worker” means an individual engaged in case of emergency, 10 

including fire, storm, earthquake, or flood.  11 

(14) “Employee” has the same meaning as provided in ORS 238.005 and shall be 12 

determined in accordance with OAR 459-010-0030.  13 

(a) For the purposes of ORS 238.005 to 238.750 the term “employee” includes public 14 

officers whether elected or appointed for a fixed term.  15 

(b) The term “employee” does not include:  16 

(A) A member of the governing board of a political subdivision unless the individual 17 

qualifies for membership under ORS 238.015.  18 

(B) An individual who performs services for a public employer as a contractor in an 19 

independently established business or as an employee of that contractor as determined in 20 

accordance with OAR 459-010-0032.  21 



DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT 

005-0001-1 Page 4 Draft 

(C) An individual providing volunteer service to a public employer without 1 

compensation for hours of service as a volunteer, except for volunteer firefighters who 2 

establish membership in accordance with ORS 238.015(6).  3 

(15) “Employer contribution account” means a record of employer contributions to the 4 

Fund, as required by ORS 238.225(1), and investment earnings attributable to those 5 

contributions, that the Board has credited to the account after deducting amounts required 6 

or permitted by ORS Chapter 238.  7 

(16) “Employment” is compensated service to a participating employer as an 8 

employee whose:  9 

(a) Period or periods of employment includes only the actual hours of compensated 10 

service with a participating employer as an employee; and  11 

(b) Compensated service includes, but is not limited to, paid vacation, paid sick leave, 12 

or other paid leave.  13 

(17) “Estimate” means a projection of benefits prepared by staff of a service or 14 

disability retirement allowance, a death or a refund payment. An estimate is not a 15 

guarantee or promise of actual benefits that eventually may become due and payable, and 16 

PERS is not bound by any estimates it provides.  17 

(18) “FAS” and “final average salary” have the same meaning as provided in:  18 

(a) ORS 238.005 for all PERS Tier One members;  19 

(b) ORS 238.435(2) for all PERS Tier Two members who are not employed by a local 20 

government as defined in ORS 174.116;  21 

(c) ORS 238.435(4) for all PERS Tier Two members who are employed by a local 22 

government as defined in ORS 174.116; or  23 



DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT 

005-0001-1 Page 5 Draft 

(d) ORS 238.535(2) for judge members of PERS for service as a judge.  1 

(19) “General service member” means membership in PERS as other than a judge 2 

member, a police officer, a firefighter, or a legislator.  3 

(20) “Good cause” means a cause beyond the reasonable control of an individual. 4 

“Good cause” exists when it is established by satisfactory evidence that factors or 5 

circumstances are beyond the reasonable control of a rational and prudent individual of 6 

normal sensitivity, exercising ordinary common sense.  7 

(21) “Independent contractor” means an individual or business entity that is not 8 

subject to the direction and control of the employing entity as determined in accordance 9 

with OAR 459-010-0032.  10 

(22) “Judge member” has the same meaning as provided in ORS 238.500(3). For 11 

purposes of this chapter, active, inactive, and retired membership of a judge member shall 12 

have the same meaning as provided in ORS 238.005.  13 

(23) “Legislator” means an individual elected or appointed to the Oregon Legislative 14 

Assembly who has elected to participate in PERS for their legislative service.  15 

(24) “Member cost” means after-tax member contributions and payments made by or 16 

on behalf of a member to purchase additional benefits.  17 

(25) “Participating employer” means a public employer who has one or more 18 

employees who are active members of PERS.  19 

(26) “PERS” and “system” have the same meaning as the Public Employees 20 

Retirement System in ORS 238.600.  21 

(27) “Public university” means a public university with a governing board as 22 

listed in ORS 352.002. 23 



DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT 

005-0001-1 Page 6 Draft 

[(27)](28) “Qualifying position” has the same meaning as provided in ORS 238.005 1 

and OAR 459-010-0003.  2 

[(28)](29) “Regular account” means the account established under ORS 238.250 for 3 

each active and inactive member who has made contributions to the Fund or the account of 4 

an alternate payee of such a member.  5 

[(29)](30) “Salary” has the same meaning as provided in ORS 238.005.  6 

(a) “Salary” includes a differential wage payment, as defined in this rule.  7 

(b) For a Tier One member, a lump sum payment for accrued vacation pay is 8 

considered salary:  9 

(A) In determining employee and employer contributions.  10 

(B) In determining final average salary for the purpose of calculating PERS benefits.  11 

(c) For a Tier Two member, a lump sum payment for accrued vacation pay:  12 

(A) Is considered salary in determining employee and employer contributions.  13 

(B) Is not considered salary in determining final average salary for the purpose of 14 

calculating PERS benefits.  15 

[(30)](31) “Seasonal worker” means an individual whose engagement is characterized 16 

as recurring for defined periods that are natural divisions of the employer’s business cycle 17 

or services.  18 

[(31)](32) “Staff” means the employees of the Public Employees Retirement System 19 

as provided for in ORS 238.645.  20 

[(32)](33) “Tier One member” means a member who established membership in the 21 

system before January 1, 1996, as defined in ORS 238.430(2).  22 



DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT 

005-0001-1 Page 7 Draft 

[(33)](34) “Tier Two member” means a member who established membership in the 1 

system on or after January 1, 1996, in accordance with ORS 238.430.  2 

[(34)](35) “USERRA” means the federal Uniformed Services Employment and 3 

Reemployment Rights Act of 1994, 38 U.S.C. 4301-4334, as in effect on the effective date 4 

of this rule.  5 

[(35)](36) “Vacation pay” means a lump sum payment for accrued leave in a Vacation 6 

Leave Program provided by a public employer which grants a period of exemption from 7 

work for rest and relaxation with pay, and does not include:  8 

(a) Sick leave programs;  9 

(b) Programs allowing the accumulation of compensatory time, holiday pay or other 10 

special leaves unless the public employer’s governing body indicates by resolution, 11 

ordinance, or other legislative process, that such leave is intended to serve as additional 12 

vacation leave; and  13 

(c) Other programs, such as a Personal Time Off (PTO) plan, which are a combination 14 

of vacation, sick, bereavement, personal and other leaves of pay as defined and described 15 

by a public employer unless the employer has a written policy that clearly indicates the 16 

percentage of the plan that represents vacation leave. If the employer’s PTO has a cash 17 

option, the employer must report to PERS the amount of any lump sum pay-off for the 18 

percentage that represents vacation leave.  19 

[(36)](37) “Variable account” and “member variable account” mean the account in 20 

the Variable Annuity Account established under ORS 238.260(2) for each active and 21 

inactive member who has elected to have amounts paid or transferred into the Variable 22 

Annuity Account.  23 



DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT 

005-0001-1 Page 8 Draft 

[(37)](38) “Variable Annuity Account” means the account established in ORS 1 

238.260(2).  2 

[(38)](39) “Volunteer” means an individual who performs a service for a public 3 

employer, and who receives no compensation for the service performed. The term 4 

“volunteer” does not include an individual whose compensation received from the same 5 

public employer for similar service within the same calendar year exceeds the reasonable 6 

market value for such service.  7 

[(39)](40) “Working day” means a day that the employer is open for business. Unless 8 

the employer communicates this information to PERS, PERS will presume an employer’s 9 

“working day” is the same as a “business day,” as defined in section (4) of this rule.  10 

[(40)](41) “Year” means any period of 12 consecutive calendar months.  11 

Stat. Auth.: ORS 238.650  12 

Stats. Implemented: ORS 238  13 



B.1. Attachment 2 
OREGON ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT BOARD 
CHAPTER 459 

DIVISION 005 – ADMINISTRATION 
 

005-0310-1 Page 1 Draft 

459-005-0310  1 

Date of Participation and Transfer of Employee Funds to the [Oregon University 2 

System] Optional Retirement Plan 3 

(1) Definitions. For the purposes of this rule:  4 

(a) “IAP account” means the member’s employee, rollover, and employer accounts 5 

in the Individual Account Program, to the extent the member is vested in those accounts 6 

under ORS 238A.320.  7 

(b) “OPSRP Pension account” means the member’s transferable interest in the 8 

pension program under ORS 243.800(6)(d).  9 

(c) “PERS member account” includes a “member account” as defined in ORS 10 

238.005, an account established under ORS 238.440, and an account subject to ORS 11 

238.095(4). 12 

(2) The effective date of an election by an administrative or academic employee of 13 

[the Oregon University System (OUS)] a public university to participate in the Optional 14 

Retirement Plan (ORP) authorized under ORS 243.800 is the first day of the month 15 

following a period of six full calendar months of employment in an administrative or 16 

academic position.  17 

(a) Unless otherwise agreed upon, notice of the effective date of the election will be 18 

provided to PERS by [OUS] the public university within 30 days of the date of the 19 

election.  20 

(b) If the employee is a member of PERS and elects to transfer funds from PERS to 21 

the Optional Retirement Plan pursuant to ORS 243.800(6), [OUS] the public university 22 



DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT 

005-0310-1 Page 2 Draft    

will forward to PERS a copy of the ORP election form and a written transfer request from 1 

the employee at the time of the notification required in subsection (a) of this section.  2 

(3) If an employee who is a member of PERS requests a transfer of funds pursuant to 3 

ORS 243.800(6):  4 

(a) PERS must transfer the funds to the ORP within the 60-day period following the 5 

later of:  6 

(A) The effective date of the employee’s election to participate in the ORP; or  7 

(B) The effective date of the transfer.  8 

(b) The effective date of a transfer is the first of the month in which PERS completes 9 

reconciliation of the account to be transferred.  10 

(c) PERS may not transfer funds to the ORP if the member is concurrently employed 11 

by a participating employer [other than an institution of the Oregon University System].  12 

Stat. Auth: ORS 238A.450, 238.650 13 

Stats. Implemented: ORS 243.800 14 



B.1. Attachment 3 
OREGON ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT BOARD 
CHAPTER 459 

DIVISION 005 – ADMINISTRATION 
 

005-0350-1 Page 1 Draft      

459-005-0350  1 

Membership Status of Persons in Concurrent Employment Eligible to Participate in 2 

an Optional or Alternative Retirement Plan 3 

(1) For the purpose of this rule, concurrent employment means employment with 4 

two or more different employers participating in the Public Employees Retirement 5 

System (PERS) at the same time.  6 

(2) If a person employed by [the Oregon University System] a public university or 7 

by the Oregon Health and Science University is concurrently employed by another PERS 8 

or Oregon Public Service Retirement Plan (OPSRP) participating employer, eligibility for 9 

PERS or OPSRP membership shall be based on the following:  10 

(a) If the person elects to participate in an Optional Retirement Plan offered by [the 11 

Oregon University System] a public university under ORS 243.800, or an alternative 12 

retirement plan offered by the Oregon Health and Science University under ORS 13 

353.250, and concurrently employed with other PERS or OPSRP participating employers 14 

in a non-qualifying position(s) as defined in OAR chapter 459, the person:  15 

(A) Shall not be eligible to establish membership in PERS or OPSRP as an employee 16 

of [the Oregon University System] a public university or the Oregon Health and Science 17 

University, and  18 

(B) Shall not be eligible to establish membership in PERS or OPSRP as an employee 19 

of the other concurrent PERS employer or employers.  20 

(b) If the person elects to participate in an Optional Retirement Plan offered by [the 21 

Oregon University System] a public university under ORS 243.800, or an alternative 22 



DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT 

005-0350-1 Page 2 Draft  

retirement plan offered by the Oregon Health and Science University under ORS 1 

353.250, and concurrently employed with other PERS or OPSRP participating employers 2 

is in a qualifying position(s) as defined in OAR chapter 459, the person:  3 

(A) Shall not be eligible to establish membership in PERS or OPSRP as an employee 4 

of [the Oregon University System] a public university or the Oregon Health and Science 5 

University; and  6 

(B) Shall establish membership in OPSRP as an employee of the other concurrent 7 

PERS or OPSRP employer or employers.  8 

(3) A member of PERS or OPSRP who is concurrently employed and establishes 9 

PERS or OPSRP membership under the provisions of paragraph (2)(b)(B) of this rule 10 

shall not be eligible to have the member’s account transferred to an Optional or 11 

alternative retirement plan [as described in ORS 243.800(6) and (7)].  12 

Stat. Auth: ORS 238.650 13 

Stats. Implemented: ORS 238.015, 243.775 & 353.250[(3)] 14 



B.1. Attachment 4 
OREGON ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT BOARD 
CHAPTER 459 

DIVISION 011 – RETIREMENT CREDIT 
 

011-0500-1 Page 1 Draft 

459-011-0500 1 

Accumulated Unused Sick Leave 2 

(1) Pursuant to ORS 238.350, a public employer may request that one or more 3 

groups of its employees be compensated for accumulated unused sick leave in the form of 4 

increased retirement benefits. The request, in writing and accompanied by certified copy 5 

of the public employer’s governing body’s official action, shall be effective not earlier 6 

than the first of the calendar month following date of the official action by the public 7 

employer. 8 

(2) The Board shall determine the monetary value of 1/2 of the accumulated unused 9 

sick leave by the following procedure: 10 

(a) For retiring employees not subject to ORS 238.350(1)(b), the hourly rate used to 11 

establish the monetary value of the unused sick leave shall be determined by dividing the 12 

monthly final average salary by 173.3 hours, multiplying this hourly rate times 1/2 of all 13 

accumulated unused sick leave hours reported, and adding this value to the final average 14 

salary calculation; 15 

(b) For retiring employees subject to ORS 238.350(1)(b), the hourly rate used to 16 

establish the monetary value of the unused sick leave shall be determined by dividing the 17 

salary in the final contract of employment by the number of contract hours, multiplying 18 

this hourly rate times 1/2 of all unused sick leave hours reported for employment as 19 

described in ORS 238.350(1)(b) and adding this value to the final average salary 20 

calculation; 21 



DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT 

011-0500-1 Page 2 Draft 

(c) The monetary value of the unused sick leave for retiring employees described in 1 

ORS 238.350(1)(b) who were employed under contracts for 12 months or earned 96 2 

hours of sick leave in any of the three or less years used in determining final average 3 

salary will be valued as provided in subsection (a) of this section. 4 

(3) Upon an employee’s termination of employment from any PERS covered 5 

position, a public employer shall report the amount of accumulated unused sick leave on 6 

forms furnished by the Board. The public employer shall transmit the forms to the Board 7 

and provide a legible copy of the form or a facsimile thereof to each terminated employee 8 

immediately following final payment of salary. For PERS purposes, accumulated unused 9 

sick leave cannot exceed an accrual of more than eight hours per month worked less 10 

usage. 11 

(4) To be eligible for the use of unused sick leave pursuant to ORS 238.350, a 12 

member must have been in the employ of a public employer and in a covered group on or 13 

after the effective date of an employer’s election to extend the use of accumulated unused 14 

sick leave. A member retiring with an effective retirement date the same as the effective 15 

date of the election is deemed an employee on the effective date of the election if the 16 

member was employed during the month [proceeding] preceding the effective date of 17 

the employer’s election. 18 

(5) “Sick time” as provided in Chapter 537, Oregon Laws 2015 does not 19 

constitute “sick leave” for purposes of ORS 238.350. 20 

Stat. Auth.: 238.650 21 

Stats. Implemented: ORS 238.350 22 



B.1. Attachment 5 
OREGON ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT BOARD 
CHAPTER 459 

DIVISION 080 – OPSRP INDIVIDUAL ACCOUNT PROGRAM 
 

080-0150-1 Page 1 Draft 

459-080-0150  1 

Employee Contributions into the IAP Account  2 

(1) Definitions. For the purposes of this rule: 3 

(a) “Forfeiture account” means the account set up by PERS to administer 4 

overpayments of employee contributions.  5 

(b) “Salary” has the same meaning provided in:  6 

(A) ORS 238A.005 for members who established membership in the Individual 7 

Account Program under the provisions of OAR 459-080-0010(1); or  8 

(B) ORS 238.005 for members who established membership in the Individual Account 9 

Program under the provisions of OAR 459-080-0010(2) or (3).  10 

(2) Employee contributions under the OPSRP Individual Account Program (“IAP”) 11 

are required from all eligible employees who qualify as members, as established under 12 

OAR 459-080-0010, who:  13 

(a) Are working in a position designated as a “qualifying position” as defined in OAR 14 

459-070 0001; or  15 

(b) Perform a total of 600 or more hours in a calendar year with one or more 16 

participating employers in one or more classes the participating employer has designated as 17 

a participating class.  18 

(3) Contributions for current members. 19 

(a) For a member who meets the standard set forth in section (2)(a) of this rule, 20 

contributions of six percent of the member’s salary are required to be transmitted for all 21 

pay periods assigned under OAR 459-070-0100 from the date of hire, or January 1 of the 22 

current year, whichever is later.  23 



DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT 

080-0150-1 Page 2 Draft 

(b) Once a member meets the standard set forth in section (2)(b) of this rule, 1 

retroactive contributions of six percent of the member’s salary are required to be 2 

transmitted following the member’s performance of 600 hours in the calendar year. 3 

Contributions are due for all pay periods assigned under OAR 459-070-0100 from the date 4 

of hire, or January 1 of the current year, whichever is later.  5 

(4) Contributions for new employees who establish membership on or after 6 

January 1, 2016. 7 

(a) For an eligible employee who meets the standard set forth in section (2)(a) of this 8 

rule, contributions of six percent of the member’s salary are required to be transmitted for 9 

wages that are attributable to services performed by the employee during the first full 10 

pay period after the employee has established membership in the IAP as set forth under 11 

OAR 459-080-0010.  12 

(b) Once an eligible employee meets the standard set forth in section (2)(b) of this 13 

rule, retroactive contributions of six percent of the member’s salary are required to be 14 

transmitted [from the date of] for wages that are attributable to services performed by 15 

the employee during the first full pay period after the employee has established 16 

membership in the IAP[,] as [established] set forth under OAR 459-080-0010.  17 

(5)(a) If contributions are submitted on behalf of an eligible employee who does not 18 

meet the standards set forth under section (2)(a) or (b) of this rule, the actual amount of 19 

those contributions will be returned after the end of the calendar year during which the pay 20 

period triggering those contributions ended. 21 

(b) Any net earnings, losses, or administrative fees attributable to the returned 22 

contributions will be applied to the forfeiture account.  23 

Stat. Auth.: ORS 238A.450 24 

Stats. Implemented: ORS 238A.330 25 



 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting September 25, 2015 

Item B.2. 

Public Employees Retirement System 
Headquarters: 

11410 S.W. 68th Parkway, Tigard, OR 
Mailing Address: 

P.O. Box 23700 
Tigard, OR 97281-3700 

(503) 598-7377 
TTY (503) 603-7766 

www.o re go n .go v/p er s  

Oregon 
   
     Kate Brown, Governor 

 
 
September 25, 2015   
 
 
TO:   Members of the PERS Board 

FROM:  Stephanie Vaughn, Manager, Policy Analysis & Compliance Section 

SUBJECT: Notice of Rulemaking for Partial Year Rule: 
  OAR 459-010-0012, Membership of Community College Employees 

OVERVIEW 

· Action: None. This is notice that staff has begun rulemaking. 

· Reason: Clarify application of partial year rules to Tier One and Tier Two academic 
employees. 

· Policy Issue: No policy issues have been identified at this time. 

BACKGROUND 

PERS membership is based on employment in a “qualifying position,” which generally requires 
600 hours of employment in a year. ORS 238.074 provides specific conditions for determining 
whether an academic employee of a community college has worked 600 hours for all purposes 
under ORS Chapter 238 (.375 Full Time Equivalent (FTE) on a 12-month basis or .50 FTE on a 
9-month basis). The modifications to OAR 459-010-0012 clarify that, for academic employees of 
community colleges, a year shall be the 12-month period beginning July 1 and ending the 
following June 30, also known as an “academic year.” Under PERS administration of the statute 
and rule, PERS uses an academic year rather than a calendar year as the standard of measure 
when determining qualifying position for academic employees of community colleges under 
OAR 459-010-0003, including during a partial year of employment.  

PUBLIC COMMENT AND HEARING TESTIMONY 

A rulemaking hearing will be held October 27, 2015, at 2:00 p.m. at PERS headquarters in 
Tigard. The public comment period ends November 2, 2015, at 5:00 p.m. 

LEGAL REVIEW 

The attached rule was submitted to the Department of Justice for legal review and any comments 
or changes will be incorporated before the rule is presented for adoption. 

IMPACT 

Mandatory: No. 

Impact: Clarify partial year rules for Tier One and Tier Two academic employees of community 
colleges. 

Cost: There are no discrete costs attributable to the rule changes. 



Notice – Partial Year Rule 
09/25/15 
Page 2 of 2 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting September 25, 2015 

RULEMAKING TIMELINE 

September 15, 2015 Staff began the rulemaking process by filing Notice of Rulemaking 
with the Secretary of State. 

September 25, 2015  PERS Board notified that staff began the rulemaking process. 

October 1, 2015 Oregon Bulletin publishes the Notice. Notice is sent to employers, 
legislators, and interested parties. Public comment period begins. 

October 27, 2015  Rulemaking hearing to be held at 2:00 p.m. at PERS in Tigard. 

November 2, 2015  Public comment period ends at 5:00 p.m.  

November 20, 2015  Staff will propose adopting the rule modifications, including any  
    changes resulting from public comment or reviews by staff or legal 
    counsel. 

NEXT STEPS 

A rulemaking hearing will be held October 27, 2015, at 2:00 p.m. at PERS headquarters in 
Tigard. The rule is scheduled to be brought before the PERS Board for adoption at the November 
20, 2015 Board meeting. 

 
 

B.2. Attachment 1 - OAR 459-010-0012, Membership of Community College Employees 
 



B.2. Attachment 1 
OREGON ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT BOARD 
CHAPTER 459 

DIVISION 010 – MEMBERSHIP 
 

010-0012-1 Page 1 Draft 

459-010-0012 1 

Membership of Community College Employees  2 

(1) For purposes of this rule, “academic year” means 12 consecutive calendar 3 

months beginning July 1 and ending the following June 30. 4 

[(1)](2) For purposes of establishing membership in the system, effective July 1, 1988, 5 

an academic employee of a community college who is employed .375 full-time equivalent 6 

(FTE) on a 12-month basis or .50 FTE on a 9-month basis is deemed to be employed 600 7 

hours or more in [a] an academic year. [For an academic employee of a community 8 

college, a year shall be the 12-month period beginning July 1 and ending the following 9 

June 30.] 10 

[(2)](3) For an academic employee of a community college, an FTE shall be measured 11 

against an academic year. [beginning July 1 in a given year and ending June 30 of the year 12 

following.] 13 

(4) For purposes of determining a “qualifying position” under OAR 459-010-0003 14 

for an academic employee of a community college, the following definitions apply: 15 

(a) “Partial year of hire” means a period in the academic year the employee 16 

begins employment after the first working day of the academic year, and continues 17 

employment through the last day of the academic year. 18 

(b) “Partial year of separation” means a period in the academic year the 19 

employee is employed as of the beginning of the academic year, and separates from 20 

employment before the last working day of the academic year. 21 



DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT 

010-0012-1 Page 2 Draft 

(c) “Short segment” means a period in the academic year during which the 1 

employee is hired after the first working day of the academic year, and separated 2 

from employment before the last working day of the same academic year. 3 

[(3)](5) An academic employee of a community college is an instructor who teaches 4 

classes offered for college-approved credit or on a non-credit basis. Librarians, counselors, 5 

and aides in non-teaching positions, tutors, or other non-teaching faculty, and classified, 6 

professional or nonprofessional support staff are not academic employees for the purposes 7 

of ORS 238.074; but are subject to the membership requirements under ORS 238.015. 8 

[(4)](6) Each community college shall determine who is an academic employee in its 9 

employ under this rule. In making that determination, a community college shall consider 10 

all disciplines (academic activity) collectively when an employee’s assignment includes 11 

multiple disciplines. 12 

[(5)](7) For persons concurrently employed in academic positions in two or more 13 

community colleges, the combined FTE shall be used in determining eligibility for 14 

membership. If the combined FTE is less than the criteria in section [(1)](2) of this rule, 15 

the combination of hours of service shall be considered in determining eligibility for 16 

membership pursuant to ORS 238.015. 17 

[(6)](8) For academic employees concurrently employed in an academic and a non-18 

academic position in one or more community colleges during an academic year, the 19 

combination of academic and non-academic duties shall be considered in determining 20 

eligibility for membership pursuant to ORS 238.015. [For the purposes of this section, a 21 

year shall be any consecutive 12-month period.] 22 



DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT 

010-0012-1 Page 3 Draft 

[(7)](9) Employment of retired members of the system in academic or non-academic 1 

positions is subject to the limitations in ORS 238.082. 2 

Stat. Auth.: ORS 238.650 3 

Stats. Implemented: ORS 238.074 4 



 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting September 25, 2015 

Item B.3. 

Public Employees Retirement System 
Headquarters: 

11410 S.W. 68th Parkway, Tigard, OR 
Mailing Address: 

P.O. Box 23700 
Tigard, OR 97281-3700 

(503) 598-7377 
TTY (503) 603-7766 

www.o re go n .go v/p er s  

Oregon 
   
     Kate Brown, Governor 

 
 
September 25, 2015 
 
 
TO:   Members of the PERS Board 

FROM:  Stephanie Vaughn, Manager, Policy Analysis & Compliance Section 

SUBJECT: Notice of Rulemaking for Retirement Benefits Rules: 
 OAR 459-013-0060, Payment of Retirement Benefits 
 OAR 459-013-0310, Payment of Increased Benefits under ORS 238.372 to 238.384 

OVERVIEW 

· Action: None. This is notice that staff has begun rulemaking. 

· Reason: Clarify treatment of partial year residency for tax remedy qualification, and add 
information regarding the timing of electronic funds transfer (EFT) payments. 

· Policy Issue: No policy issues have been identified at this time. 

BACKGROUND 

ORS 238.372 prohibits PERS from paying “tax remedy” increases under SB 656 (Chapter 796, 
Oregon Laws 1991), or HB 3349 (Chapter 569, Oregon Laws 1995) if the benefits are not subject to 
Oregon personal income tax because the recipient is not an Oregon resident (as provided in ORS 
316.127(9)). ORS 238.378 requires PERS and the Department of Revenue (DOR) to share 
information necessary to determine whether a member’s benefit is subject to Oregon income tax. 
OAR 459-013-0310 explains how PERS uses the information provided by DOR, and residency 
status information provided by the recipient, to make residency status determinations. 

One scenario the current administrative rule did not take into account is how to determine residency 
when a person files a partial year return (40P) for the tax year in which they submit a residency 
status form to PERS. The proposed rule modification in new paragraph (2)(a)(G) clarify that, if a 
person filed a 40P according to DOR data query information and that person also submitted a 
residency status certification between January 1 and December 15 for the same calendar year, PERS 
will base residency on the recipient’s form, since the form requires the recipient to certify under 
penalty of perjury that they are an Oregon resident for income tax purposes. In addition, a new 
section (4) has been added to provide further clarification that all residency status information 
received by PERS between December 16 and December 31 of a calendar year will be treated as 
received the following calendar year. 

The modifications to OAR 459-013-0060 are housekeeping edits to conform the administrative rule 
to current business practice. In section (1), a new subsection was added to clarify that when the first 
day of the month falls on a weekend or a PERS holiday, retirement benefits processed through 
electronic funds transfer must be issued no later than the previous business day. A new section (3) 
was added stating the only exception applies for retirement benefits payable on January 1, which 
must always be paid in the month of January to avoid exceeding 12 monthly payments in a year. 



Notice – Retirement Benefits Rules 
09/25/15 
Page 2 of 2 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting September 25, 2015 

PUBLIC COMMENT AND HEARING TESTIMONY 

A rulemaking hearing will be held October 27, 2015, at 2:00 p.m. at PERS headquarters in Tigard. 
The public comment period ends November 2, 2015, at 5:00 p.m. 

LEGAL REVIEW 

The attached rules were submitted to the Department of Justice for legal review and any comments 
or changes will be incorporated before the rules are presented for adoption. 

IMPACT 

Mandatory: No. 

Impact: Clarifies administration for recipients who file 40Ps, and clarifies the administration of 
retirement benefit payments on certain calendar dates. 

Cost: There are no discrete costs attributable to the rule modifications. 

RULEMAKING TIMELINE 

September 15, 2015 Staff began the rulemaking process by filing Notice of Rulemaking 
with the Secretary of State. 

September 25, 2015 PERS Board notified that staff began the rulemaking process. 

October 1, 2015 Oregon Bulletin publishes the Notice. Notice is sent to employers, 
legislators, and interested parties. Public comment period begins. 

October 27, 2015 Rulemaking hearing to be held at 2:00 p.m. at PERS in Tigard. 

November 2, 2015 Public comment period ends at 5:00 p.m.  

November 20, 2015  Staff will propose adopting the rule modifications, including any  
    changes resulting from public comment or reviews by staff or legal 
    counsel. 

NEXT STEPS 

A rulemaking hearing will be held October 27, 2015, at 2:00 p.m. at PERS headquarters in Tigard. 
The rule is scheduled to be brought before the PERS Board for adoption at the November 20, 2015 
Board meeting. 

 

B.3. Attachment 1 - OAR 459-013-0060, Payment of Retirement Benefits 
B.3. Attachment 2 - OAR 459-013-0310, Payment of Increased Benefits under ORS 238.372 to 238.384 



B.3. Attachment 1 
OREGON ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT BOARD 
CHAPTER 459 

DIVISION 013 – RETIREMENT BENEFITS 
 

013-0060-1 Page 1 Draft 

459-013-0060  1 

Payment of Retirement Benefits  2 

(1) Retirement benefits shall be payable each month as of the first day of the month 3 

following the effective date of retirement. 4 

(a) When the first day of the month falls on a weekend or a PERS holiday, 5 

retirement benefits processed through electronic funds transfer shall be payable on 6 

the last PERS working day of the prior month.  7 

(b) At the time of death, accrued benefits shall be payable as provided under OAR 8 

459-014-0050(4).  9 

(2) If a retiree elects to receive more than one installment payment as provided under 10 

ORS 238.305(4), the subsequent installment payments will be paid on the anniversary of 11 

the first day of the month that the initial installment payment was made. 12 

(3) Notwithstanding section (1) of this rule, retirement benefits payable on 13 

January 1 shall always be paid in the month of January. 14 

Stat. Auth.: ORS 238.650  15 

Stats. Implemented: ORS 238.300 & 238.305 16 



B.3. Attachment 2 
OREGON ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT BOARD 
CHAPTER 459 

DIVISION 013 – RETIREMENT BENEFITS 
 

013-0310-1 Page 1 Draft 

459-013-0310 1 

Payment of Increased Benefits under ORS 238.372 to 238.384 2 

(1) For purposes of determinations under ORS 238.372 to 238.384: 3 

(a) “Person” includes a member, an alternate payee, or a beneficiary. 4 

(b) The increased benefit percentage to be added to a benefit paid to a beneficiary 5 

under ORS 238.390, 238.395, 238.400, 238.405, or under an optional form of retirement 6 

allowance under ORS 238.305 or 238.325 will be determined based on: 7 

(A) The increased benefit percentage(s) for which the member is otherwise eligible 8 

under ORS 238.364, 238.366 and 238.368; and 9 

(B) The residency of the beneficiary. 10 

(2) PERS will make the following determinations on residency status for the purpose 11 

of determining increased benefit eligibility under ORS 238.372 to 238.384, based on the 12 

yearly Oregon personal income tax return information provided by the Department of 13 

Revenue. 14 

(a) If the Department of Revenue notifies PERS that a person: 15 

(A) Filed Oregon personal income tax as a resident, PERS will treat the person as a 16 

resident of Oregon. 17 

(B) Filed Oregon personal income tax as a non-resident, PERS will treat the person as 18 

a non-resident of Oregon, except as provided in section (3) below. 19 

(C) Did not file Oregon personal income tax, PERS will treat the person as a non-20 

resident of Oregon, except as provided in section (3) below. 21 

(D) Filed Oregon personal income tax as a partial-year resident and the prior year the 22 

person filed personal income tax as a resident, PERS will treat the person as a non-resident 23 



DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT 

013-0310-1 Page 2 Draft
  

of Oregon, except as provided in section (3) below. 1 

(E) Filed Oregon personal income tax as a partial-year resident and the prior year the 2 

person filed personal income tax as a non-resident, PERS will treat the person as a resident 3 

of Oregon. 4 

(F) Filed Oregon personal income tax as a partial-year resident and the prior year the 5 

person did not file personal income tax, PERS will treat the person as a resident of Oregon. 6 

(G) Filed Oregon personal income tax as a partial-year resident, and the person 7 

also submitted residency status information on a form provided by PERS received 8 

between January 1 and December 15 of the same calendar year, PERS will determine 9 

residency status based on the information provided on the form. 10 

(b) If PERS cannot make a residency status determination based on information 11 

provided by the Department of Revenue or the person did not otherwise provide PERS 12 

with residency status information, PERS will treat the person as a non-resident of Oregon, 13 

except as provided in section (3) below. 14 

(3) Residency status information submitted on a form provided by PERS and received 15 

between January 1 and December 15 of the current calendar year will, for purposes of 16 

determining increased benefit eligibility under ORS 238.372 to 238.384, supersede any 17 

Oregon personal income tax return information provided by the Department of Revenue 18 

pursuant to section (2) of this rule. 19 

(4) Residency status information submitted on a form provided by PERS and 20 

received between December 16 and December 31 of a calendar year will be treated as 21 

received the following calendar year. 22 

Stat. Auth.: ORS 238.650 23 

Stats. Implemented: ORS 238.362, 238.364, 238.366, 238.368 & 238.372 to 238.384 24 



 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting September 25, 2015 

Item B.4. 

Public Employees Retirement System 
Headquarters: 

11410 S.W. 68th Parkway, Tigard, OR 
Mailing Address: 

P.O. Box 23700 
Tigard, OR 97281-3700 

(503) 598-7377 
TTY (503) 603-7766 

www.o re go n .go v/p er s  

Oregon 
   
     Kate Brown, Governor 

 
 
September 25, 2015 
 
 
TO:   Members of the PERS Board 

FROM:  Stephanie Vaughn, Manager, Policy Analysis & Compliance Section 

SUBJECT: Adoption of Cost-of-Living Adjustment Rules: 
  459-005-0510, Cost-of-Living Adjustment 
  459-005-0520, Supplementary Payment 

OVERVIEW 

· Action: Adopt modifications to the Cost-of-Living Adjustment rules. 

· Reason: Clarify the cost-of-living adjustment method for earned benefits. 

· Policy Issue: Should PERS incorporate the service time ratio method to blend different cost-
of-living adjustment (COLA) structures? 

BACKGROUND 

On April 30, 2015, the Oregon Supreme Court issued its ruling in the Moro case, invalidating the 
cost-of-living adjustment (COLA) reductions enacted by Senate Bill 822 (effective May 6, 2013) 
and Senate Bill 861 (effective October 6, 2013) as applied to benefits earned before the effective 
dates of those bills. As a result, members who have earned benefits both prior to the effective 
dates of the bills as well as after the effective dates will receive a blended COLA based on the 
COLA structure in effect when the benefits were earned. While the court specifically did not 
provide guidance on how to blend the different COLAs, it did reference a service time ratio 
method as an example of how a blended COLA could be derived.  

In addition, the Supreme Court ruling voided the supplementary payment provision in SB 861, so 
OAR 459-005-0520, Supplementary Payment is proposed for repeal. 

POLICY QUESTION & RECOMMENDATION 

Should PERS incorporate the service time ratio method to blend different cost-of-living 
adjustment (COLA) structures? 

The court decision ties the COLA in retirement to the COLA that was in effect when the benefits 
were earned. Unfortunately, how to determine when benefits are earned is not clear and the court 
did not direct a method in its decision. Benefits are not determined until a member retires, and 
there are many factors that affect a member’s final benefit calculation. Attempting to determine 
the benefit a member has earned at a particular point in time, especially when that point is early- 
or mid-career, is problematic.  

The court did point to ORS 238.364(5) as an example for calculating a blended rate. This statute 
describes how to calculate the “tax remedy” established by House Bill 3349 (1995). Specifically, 
it directs staff to “divide the number of years of creditable service performed before [the repeal 



Adoption – Cost-of-Living Adjustment Rules 
09/25/15 
Page 2 of 5 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting September 25, 2015 

of the tax exemption] by the total number of years of creditable service during which the pension 
income was earned.” PERS then applies the tax remedy to this portion of the member’s benefit. 
This is referred to as the service time ratio method, and is the method used by Milliman in their 
presentation regarding the impact of the Moro case at the May 29, 2015 board meeting.  

Staff considered other methods that prorate the COLA based on the member’s retirement benefit. 
The common challenge with these methods is that they involve determining a member’s benefit 
as of the effective date of the bills. A number of factors considered in calculating a retirement 
benefit are variable, changing over the course of a member’s career (e.g., sick leave, vacation, 
final average salary, etc.). The level of complexity involved in these methods invites confusion, 
more opportunity for miscalculations, and potential challenges.  

The blended COLA methodology outlined in the rule modifications blends the COLAs based on 
creditable service or retirement credit earned by a member when a specific COLA was in effect. 
Because a member’s benefit is not determined until the member retires and includes factors that 
may or may not span the whole of the member’s career, prorating the COLA according to the 
service time ratio is the most reasonable, administratively feasible, and cost effective method. It 
is also the most straight-forward method, making it easier to communicate to members.  

Staff recommends incorporating the service time ratio method of blending the different COLA 
structures. Examples of how this rule would be implemented were provided with the July memo 
when these rule modifications were noticed. 

PUBLIC COMMENT AND HEARING TESTIMONY 

A rulemaking hearing was held August 25, 2015, at 2:00 p.m. at PERS headquarters in Tigard. 
One member of the public attended and provided testimony, as summarized below. A second 
rulemaking hearing was held August 27, 2015, at 2:00 p.m. at Oregon State Archives in Salem. 
No members of the public attended. The public comment period ended September 1, 2015, at 
5:00 p.m.  

At the rulemaking hearing on August 25, 2015, Friedrich Rudolf Beyl provided public comment 
regarding OAR 459-005-0510. Mr. Beyl retired on July 1, 2013, with 30 years of service and 
received a Money Match benefit. He expressed support for the use of the service time ratio 
method to blend different COLAs, and appreciated the detailed examples attached to the July 
Board memo. He inquired as to the origin of the service time ratio. Staff showed Mr. Beyl the 
corresponding ORS 238.364, which outlines how to determine the service time ratio for tax 
remedy purposes. Mr. Beyl also concurred with Mr. Crummé’s concerns that the proposed rule 
modifications do not clearly address how a 2 percent COLA applies to the Tier One Money 
Match option. 

PERS also received two public comment letters. Prior to the start of rulemaking, PERS received 
a letter dated May 5, 2015, from Doug Crummé in which he asks that rulemaking to implement 
Moro clearly address how the two percent COLA applies to the Tier One Money Match option. 
A copy of his letter is included as Attachment 4. 

Mr. Crummé contends that Tier One members who retire under the Money Match benefit 
calculation have a right to a 2 percent COLA on their entire benefit, regardless of whether or not 
they continued to work beyond October 1, 2013. Mr. Crummé provides an example: 



Adoption – Cost-of-Living Adjustment Rules 
09/25/15 
Page 3 of 5 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting September 25, 2015 

…The money match benefit is calculated based on the employee’s life 
expectancy and the Tier One account balance at retirement. The account balance 
is based on employee and employer contributions through 2003 (after which 
contributions were terminated) and on net earnings or losses accruing on the 
account balance through the date or retirement. All other things being equal, an 
employee who retires from PERS employment on a particular date will receive 
the same money-match pension benefit whether the employee quits working for 
PERS employers after 2003 but short of retirement or the employee continues 
working for PERS employers through his or her eventual PERS retirement date… 

Mr. Crummé’s reasoning offers one method for implementing the Moro decision; however, it is 
not the only method, and it proceeds from some incorrect assumptions. Staff continues to 
recommend the service time ratio method of calculating COLA.  

A member’s benefit is not determined until their effective retirement date. Whether a member’s 
retirement is ultimately calculated under the Money Match method cannot be determined until 
retirement (PERS uses whichever method provides the highest benefit). The highest benefit 
calculation can change from month to month for many members, depending on sick leave usage, 
pay raises, changes in jobs or position, etc. Using the service time ratio removes the arbitrary 
nature of a member’s COLA in retirement being based solely on their calculation method. 

For example, contrary to Mr. Crummé’s assertion that all Tier One members will receive the 
same benefit regardless of when they retire (and then become eligible for a COLA), the 
following members received benefits from January 1, 2004, to before January 1, 2014, that were 
not retirements, and therefore not eligible for COLA:  

· 894 Tier One members died before retiring, but received an employer match 

· 1,170 Tier One members died before retiring, but did not receive an employer match 

· 2,862 Tier One members withdrew 

· 310 Tier One members went into Loss of Membership 
This list shows that eligibility for COLA is contingent on actually applying for and receiving a 
retirement, and for thousands of Tier One members, they never became eligible for one.  

As presented, therefore, staff continues to conclude that this rule complies with the Moro ruling 
by the using a service time ratio to allocate the yearly allowance, pension, or benefit before and 
after the legislative COLA change. 

On August 31, 2015, Mr. Crummé provided a second public comment regarding OAR 459-005-
0510. A copy of his email is included as Attachment 5. He suggests that the proposed 
amendments to the rule are inconsistent with the Moro decision. He also states that “Employee 
contract rights to Tier 1 benefits are solely for work performed through 2003. Employee’s 
contract rights to Tier 1 benefits are not for work performed after 2003 or after 2013.”  

Mr. Crummé’s statements are incorrect. The Tier One program was not frozen or terminated as 
of January 1, 2004. While the contributions for Tier One members were directed to the 
Individual Account Program (IAP) as of January 1, 2004, none of the other provisions of the 
program changed. Moreover, work performed after 2003 is still used in determining benefit 



Adoption – Cost-of-Living Adjustment Rules 
09/25/15 
Page 4 of 5 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting September 25, 2015 

eligibility (e.g., 30 years of service) and amounts (e.g., tax remedy increases for those members 
who are eligible). 

LEGAL REVIEW 

The attached rules were submitted to the Department of Justice for legal review and any 
comments or changes are incorporated in the rules as presented for adoption. 

IMPACT 

Mandatory: No. 

Impact: PERS will reprogram ORION to automate the annual cost-of-living adjustment. 

Cost: There is no cost specific to the rule changes. 

RULEMAKING TIMELINE 

July 15, 2015 Staff began the rulemaking process by filing Notice of Rulemaking 
with the Secretary of State. 

July 31, 2015 PERS Board notified that staff began the rulemaking process. 

August 1, 2015 Oregon Bulletin published the Notice. Notice was sent to 
employers, legislators, and interested parties. Public comment 
period began. 

August 25, 2015 First rulemaking hearing held at 2:00 p.m. at PERS in Tigard. 

August 27, 2015 Second rulemaking hearing held at 2:00 p.m. at Oregon State 
Archives in Salem. 

September 1, 2015 Public comment period ended at 5:00 p.m.  

September 25, 2015  Board may adopt the permanent rule modifications. 

BOARD OPTIONS 

The Board may: 

1. Pass a motion to “adopt modifications to the cost-of-living adjustment and supplementary 
payment rules, as presented.” 

2. Direct staff to make other changes to the rules or explore other options. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends the Board choose Option #1. 

· Reason: Implement Senate Bill 861 (2013) annual cost-of-living adjustment due to the 
Oregon Supreme Court decision in Moro. 

If the Board does not adopt: Staff would return with rule modifications that more closely fit the 
Board’s policy direction if the Board determines that a change is warranted. 
 



Adoption – Cost-of-Living Adjustment Rules 
09/25/15 
Page 5 of 5 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting September 25, 2015 

 

B.4. Attachment 1 – OAR 459-005-0510, Cost-of-Living Adjustment 
B.4. Attachment 2 – OAR 459-005-0520, Supplementary Payment 
B.4. Attachment 3 – Blended COLA Examples 
B.4. Attachment 4 – May 5 Public Comment Letter from Doug Crummé 
B.4. Attachment 5 – August 31 Public Comment Email from Doug Crummé 



B.4. Attachment 1 
OREGON ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT BOARD 
CHAPTER 459 

DIVISION 005 – ADMINISTRATION 
 

005-0510-1 Page 1 Draft 

459-005-0510 1 

Cost-of-Living Adjustment 2 

(1) A cost-of-living adjustment (COLA) under ORS 238.360 and 238A.210 is 3 

calculated on an annual basis and [then divided by 12 to determine the adjustment to the 4 

recipient’s monthly allowance, pension, or benefit.] may use up to three COLA 5 

methods that are blended into a COLA percentage rate, as follows: 6 

(a) Creditable service or retirement credit earned before May 1, 2013, will 7 

receive an annual COLA based on ORS 238.360 (2011) or ORS 238A.210 (2011). 8 

(b) Creditable service or retirement credit earned on or after May 1, 2013, and 9 

before October 1, 2013, will receive an annual COLA based on Chapter 53, Oregon 10 

Laws 2013. 11 

(c) Creditable service or retirement credit earned on or after October 1, 2013, 12 

will receive an annual COLA based on ORS 238.360 (2013) or ORS 238A.210 13 

(2013). 14 

(2) The member’s prorated periods in section (1) of this rule will be multiplied 15 

by the appropriate annual COLA percentage for the same periods to determine the 16 

blended annual COLA percentage rate that is applied to a yearly allowance, 17 

pension, or benefit. The resulting annual COLA amount is divided by 12 to 18 

determine the adjustment to the monthly allowance, pension, or benefit. 19 

(3) A beneficiary’s annual COLA percentage rate will be based on the 20 

associated member’s creditable service time.   21 



DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT  DRAFT 

005-0510-1 Page 2 Draft  

[(2)](4) [Monthly] COLA increases end when the recipient is no longer eligible to 1 

receive a monthly allowance, pension, or benefit. 2 

[(3) This rule is effective on July 1, 2014.] 3 

Stat. Auth.: ORS 238.650 & 238A.450  4 

Stats. Implemented: ORS 238.360, 238.575, 238A.210 & OL 2013, Ch. 53 5 



B.4. Attachment 2 
OREGON ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT BOARD 
CHAPTER 459 

DIVISION 005 – ADMINISTRATION  
 

005-0520-1 Page 1 Draft     

[459-005-0520 1 

Supplementary Payment 2 

(1) For purposes of this rule, “benefit recipient” means a member, beneficiary, 3 

alternate payee, or judge member.  4 

(2) In accordance with ORS 238.465(1), an alternate payee is eligible for a 5 

supplementary payment only if the associated member or judge member is eligible.  6 

(3) Increased benefits under ORS 238.364 and 238.366 or cost-of-living adjustments 7 

under 238.360 or 238A.210 are not applied to a benefit recipient’s supplementary 8 

payments.  9 

(4) A benefit recipient’s supplementary payment shall not be included in a benefit 10 

recipient’s yearly allowance or yearly pension or benefit for the purpose of calculating the 11 

cost-of-living adjustments under ORS 238.360, 238.575, or 238A.210. 12 

Stat. Auth: ORS 238.650, 238.465 & 238A.450  13 

Stats. Implemented: ORS 238.360, 238.575, 238A.210 & OL 2013, Ch. 2, §8 (1st 14 

special session)] 15 



Item B.4. Att. 3

EXAMPLE 1 EXAMPLE 3

Effective Date of Retirement: July 1, 2015 July 1, 2015

Yearly Retirement Allowance: $40,000 $75,000

Months of Creditable Service before October 1, 2013: 339  mths 360  mths

Total Months of Creditable Service: 360  mths 360  mths

Service Time Ratio before October 1, 2013 (339/360): 0.9416667 1.00

Service Time Ratio after October 1, 2013 (21/360): 0.0583333 0

Service Time 

Ratio

Annual 

COLA Blended COLA COLA
up to $60,000 up to $60,000 over $60,000

Pre-amendment COLA*: 0.941667 x 2.00% = 1.8833% 1.8833% 1.8833% 2.0000%

Post-amendment COLA, under $60K: 0.058333 x 1.25% = 0.0729% + 0.0729% 0.0%

Post-amendment COLA, over $60K: 0.058333 x 0.15% = + 0.0% + 0.0087% + 0.0%

Blended COLA Percentage Rate: 1.9562% 1.9562% 1.8920% 2.0000%

Yearly Allowance ($60,000 or less): x 40,000$   x 60,000$   

Yearly Allowance (above $60,000): x 15,000$   x 75,000$   

1,173.72$     283.80$   

1,173.72       

Total Annual COLA: 782.48$   1,457.52$     1,500.00$   

÷ 12 ÷ 12 ÷ 12 

Monthly COLA: 65.21$   121.46$   125.00$   

*Annual COLA for 2015 is 2% maximum

M
em

b
er

 D
at

a
C

al
cu

la
ti

o
n

 E
xa

m
p

le

July 1, 2015
$75,000

339  mths

360  mths

Blended COLA

0.9416667

0.0583333

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM
BLENDED COST-OF-LIVING (COLA) CALCULATION EXAMPLES

EXAMPLE 2

Yearly allowance more than $60,000
Creditable service before

 October 1, 2013
Yearly allowance less than $60,000 

Creditable service before and after October 1, 2013
All creditable service before 

October 1, 2013



Item B.4. Att 4







From: Douglas Crummé [mailto:doug.crumme@gmail.com] 

Sent: Monday, August 31, 2015 11:37 AM 
To: Daniel Rivas 

Subject: Proposed amendments to OAR 459-005-0510 

August 31, 2015 

Fr:  Doug Crummé 
 7350 N.E. Sunflower Lane 
 Corvallis, Oregon 97330  

To:  Daniel Rivas 
 PERS Administrative Rules Coordinator 
 11410 S.W. 68th Parkway
 Tigard, Oregon 97223  

Re:  Proposed Amendments to COLA rule, OAR 459-005-0510 

Dear Mr. Rivas, 

Please add these comments to the rulemaking record concerning the 
proposed amendments to OAR 459-005-0510.  I make these comments as a private 
citizen and not on behalf of my government employer.     

For reasons set out in my letter of May 5, 2015, earlier copied to the Board, 
the proposed amendments to OAR 459-005-0510 are inconsistent with Moro v. 
State of Oregon, 357 Or 167 (2015).   

Item B.4. Att.5



Moro holds that the pre-2013 version of ORS 238,360 applies to benefits 
accrued or accruing for work performed before the effective date of those 
amendments.  Id at 231 and 232.  The proposed amendments to OAR 459-005-
0510 would shift the test for the applicable COLA from when the work giving rise 
to the contract rights was performed to when the benefits under those contract 
rights accrue or are accruing.  Employees’ contract rights to Tier 1 benefits are 
solely for work performed through 2003.  Employees’ contract rights to Tier 1 
benefits are not for work performed after 2003 or after 2013. 

  

If I understand correctly, the proposed amendments to OAR 459-005-0510 
would pay a maximum 2-percent COLA on the whole monthly pension benefit to a 
Tier 1 employee who quit her PERS-covered job in 2013 but then did not retire for 
PERS purposes until 2015.  Yet an employee who has continued to work in her 
PERS-covered job after 2013 and then both quits the job and retires under PERS in 
2015 would receive a blended COLA of less than a maximum 2 percent.  Under 
the core holding in Moro, both employees should receive the same 2-percent 
maximum COLA.  The employee contract rights that Moro identifies trump the 
expediency considerations that the Board’s staff cites in its July 31, 2015, memo to 
the Board discussing the proposed rule amendments.   

  

Thank you for your consideration.                           

  

                                                                             Sincerely, 

                                                                                                                                     
                                                                                                                                     
                                         Doug Crummé 

 



 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting September 25, 2015 

Item B.5. 

Public Employees Retirement System 
Headquarters: 

11410 S.W. 68th Parkway, Tigard, OR 
Mailing Address: 

P.O. Box 23700 
Tigard, OR 97281-3700 

(503) 598-7377 
TTY (503) 603-7766 

www.o re go n .go v/p er s  

Oregon 
   
     Kate Brown, Governor 

 
 
September 25, 2015    
 
 
TO:   Members of the PERS Board 

FROM:  Stephanie Vaughn, Manager, Policy Analysis & Compliance Section  

SUBJECT: Adoption of Assumed Rate Rule: 
 OAR 459-007-0007, Assumed Rate 

OVERVIEW 

· Action: Adopt modifications to Assumed Rate rule. 

· Reason: Reflect the change in the assumed rate as adopted by the Board and specify the 
effective date for implementation of the change for PERS transactions. 

· Policy Issue: No policy issues were identified. 

BACKGROUND 

At the July 31, 2015 PERS Board meeting, staff gave notice of rulemaking to implement any 
change to the assumed rate. The proposed rule sets forth the new assumed rate of 7.50% adopted 
by the Board. 

The rule also specifies that the new assumed rate will be effective for PERS transactions with an 
effective date of January 1, 2016, consistent with this Board’s policy decision from 2013 that 
changes to the assumed rate will be effective the following January 1, giving staff ample time to 
perform the necessary preparation, communicate with members and employers, and treating all 
members who retire in a year that a change is adopted equitable treatment, no matter which 
month they retire. The new assumed rate will be aligned with the new actuarial equivalency 
factors (AEFs), which will allow for a clear effective date for all transactions that involve 
calculations using both the latest year-to-date rate and AEF components. 

SUMMARY OF MODIFICATIONS TO RULE SINCE NOTICE 

The adopted assumed rate of 7.50% was added in section (3). 

PUBLIC COMMENT AND HEARING TESTIMONY 

A rulemaking hearing was held August 25, 2015, at 2:00 p.m. at PERS headquarters in Tigard. 
No members of the public commented on the rule. A second rulemaking hearing was held 
August 27, 2015, at 2:00 p.m. at Oregon State Archives in Salem. No members of the public 
attended. The public comment period ended September 1, 2015, at 5:00 p.m. Two public 
comments were received. 

PERS received a public comment letter dated July 11, 2015, from Doug Crummé. A copy of his 
letter is included as Attachment 2. Mr. Crummé argues that the assumed rate should not be 
lowered and, if anything, it should be returned to 8%. He referenced Milliman’s May 29, 2015  



Adoption – Assumed Rate Rule 
09/25/15 
Page 2 of 3 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting September 25, 2015 

PowerPoint presentation which predicted a 75% chance that PERS would be 100% funded in the 
next 20 years, and added that PERS investments have consistently outperformed the market. Mr. 
Crummé also noted that PERS had previously maintained an 8% assumed rate for around 25 
years, despite several investment downturns. Included in his letter is an attachment showing the 
42-year average percentage earnings credited to member accounts. 

In Milliman’s July 31, 2015 presentation to the PERS Board, the actuaries concluded that the 
long-term future investment return assumption should be lowered based on data from the 
investment forecasts and review of the guiding principles presented. The Oregon Investment 
Council also supported a decrease in the assumed rate due to the collapse in bond yields and 
persistent downward pressures on interest rates. On July 31, the PERS Board decided to reduce 
the assumed rate to 7.50%, and the administrative rule must be updated based on the new 
adopted rate. Mr. Crummé’s points may be relevant to the Board’s July decision, but now since 
that decision has been made, the rule needs to be modified to reflect that decision. 

On August 20, 2015, PERS received a public comment email from Marc Feldesman. A copy of 
his email is included as Attachment 3. Mr. Feldesman argues that an effective date of January 1, 
2016 is too early, because actuarial factors associated with the assumed rate change and the 
change in mortality factors will not be known until the November Board meeting. He states that 
members should have at least one full month to evaluate the impact of rate and mortality changes 
to make an informed retirement decision. In a subsequent email, staff informed Mr. Feldesman 
that PERS’ actuary, Milliman, intended to have the updated AEF tables ready no later than 
November 1 (earlier if possible). PERS will post the tables on the PERS website following 
receipt.  

Examples from the impact of the rate changes considered were included in the Milliman 
presentations for both May and July’s meetings. While members considering retirement cannot 
precisely determine the impact of these changes until the new tables are available, their order of 
magnitude is illustrated and shows how much longer a member needs to delay retirement to 
achieve roughly equivalent monthly benefits, if that is driving their decision to retire.  

LEGAL REVIEW 

The attached draft rule was submitted to the Department of Justice for legal review and any 
comments or changes are incorporated in the rule as presented for adoption. 

IMPACT 

Mandatory: Yes, the assumed rate determined by the Board must be adopted by rule and clearly 
describe the effective date of the assumed rate change on PERS transactions. 

Impact: The proposed rule benefits members, employers, and staff by setting forth the assumed 
rate and a clear effective date for implementing a change in the rate. 

Cost: There are no discrete costs directly attributable to specifying the assumed rate in rule. 

RULEMAKING TIMELINE 

July 15, 2015 Staff began the rulemaking process by filing Notice of Rulemaking 
with the Secretary of State. 



Adoption – Assumed Rate Rule 
09/25/15 
Page 3 of 3 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting September 25, 2015 

July 31, 2015 PERS Board notified that staff began the rulemaking process. 

August 1, 2015 Oregon Bulletin published the Notice. Notice was sent to 
employers, legislators, and interested parties. Public comment 
period began. 

August 25, 2015 First rulemaking hearing held at 2:00 p.m. at PERS in Tigard. 

August 27, 2015 Second rulemaking hearing held at 2:00 p.m. at Oregon State 
Archives in Salem. 

September 1, 2015 Public comment period ended at 5:00 p.m.  

September 25, 2015  Board may adopt the permanent rule modifications. 

BOARD OPTIONS 

The Board may: 

1. Pass a motion to “adopt modifications to the Assumed Rate rule, as presented.” 

2. Direct staff to make other changes to the rule or explore other options. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends the Board choose Option #1. 

· Reason: Reflect the change in the assumed rate as adopted by the Board and specify the 
effective date for implementation of the change for PERS transactions. 

If the Board does not adopt: Staff would return with rule modifications that more closely fit the 
Board’s policy direction if the Board determines that a change is warranted. 
 

 

B.5. Attachment 1 – 459-007-0007, Assumed Rate 
B.5. Attachment 2 – Public Comment Letter from Doug Crummé 
B.5. Attachment 3 – Public Comment Email from Marc Feldesman 
 



B.5. Attachment 1 
OREGON ADMINISTRATIVE RULE 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT BOARD 
CHAPTER 459 

DIVISION 007 – EARNINGS AND INTEREST DISTRIBUTION 
 

007-0007-2 Page 1 Draft 

459-007-0007 1 

Assumed Rate 2 

(1) The Board will review the assumed rate in odd-numbered years as part of the 3 

Board’s review and adoption of actuarial assumptions and methods. 4 

(2) The Board may adopt a change in the assumed rate at any time. A change in the 5 

assumed rate is effective the first of the year following the Board’s adoption of the change. 6 

(3) The assumed rate is set at [7.75] 7.50 percent, effective on January 1, [2014] 2016. 7 

Stat. Auth.: ORS 238.650 & 238A.450 8 

Stats. Implemented: ORS Chapters 238 & 238A 9 



Item B.5. Att 2







From: Marc Feldesman [mailto:feldesmanm@gmail.com]  

Sent: Thursday, August 20, 2015 6:48 PM 
To: Daniel Rivas 

Subject: Re: PERS Rulemaking Hearings for COLA and Assumed Rate rules 

Regarding the assumed rate change, the timing for implementing all changes puts eligible retirees in an 
extremely difficult time bind.  Although the final assumed rate will be known by 9/25/15, the actuarial 
factors associated with the assumed rate change and the change in mortality factors will not be known 
until the November Board meeting.  It can hardly be considered adequate notice as members eligible to 
retire before the implementation will not know how the new changes will affect decisions to retire until 
they have barely a week to make an informed decision.   This is hardly a fair timetable.  Members ought 
to have at least one full month to evaluate the impact of rate and mortality changes before being forced 
to make an irrevocable and potentially costly decision. 

Marc R. Feldesman 

Item B.5. Att.3



 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting September 25, 2015 

 

Public Employees Retirement System 
Headquarters: 

11410 S.W. 68th Parkway, Tigard, OR 
Mailing Address: 

P.O. Box 23700 
Tigard, OR 97281-3700 

(503) 598-7377 
TTY (503) 603-7766 
www.o rego n .go v/p er s  

Oregon 
  Kate Brown, Governor 

Item C.1. 

 
 
September 25, 2015 
 
TO:  Members of the PERS Board 

FROM: Mary Dunn, Financial and Administrative Services Division 

SUBJECT: Moro Implementation Project Update and Funding Request 

PROJECT ACTIVITIES 

Since the July 31, 2015 PERS Board meeting, the Moro Implementation Project team has been 
hard at work. We have determined the amount of underpaid COLA and the revised benefit for 
recipients based on members with all their service credit prior to May 1, 2013 (approximately 
119,639 recipients). This group will receive, by October 31, 2015, a lump-sum retroactive 
payment of underpaid COLA minus their Supplementary Payment received last year. Their 
benefit payment will also be revised to reflect the corrected COLA starting November 1, 2015.  

For recipients whose benefit includes service credit earned after May 1, 2013, PERS will apply a 
blended COLA based on the member’s service credit before and after the effective date of the 
legislation challenged in Moro. Of this population, approximately 7,027 recipients will receive a 
lump-sum retroactive payment, minus Supplementary Payments and invoices for updated 
actuarial equivalency factors (AEF), by January 31, 2016. However, others in this group will only 
receive an invoice for their Supplementary Payment and AEF overpayments (there are 
approximately 3,807 recipients in this situation) as any COLA owed to them is not sufficient to 
cover these other changes. For both groups, their revised benefit should start with the February 1, 
2016, payment.  

As reported in July, updated AEF tables for retirements from January 1, 2014, through June 1, 
2015, have been implemented. Now, PERS is recalculating all of the affected members, with the 
goal to have all of these recalculations completed by the end of 2015. We currently have about 
39% recalculated and, based on the project plan, that’s 10% more than scheduled. These AEF 
table updates were required because survivorship options originally used the reduced COLA 
assumption that was deemed invalid by the Supreme Court. 

The next part of the project to begin is reprogramming PERS jClarety system for the blended 
COLA calculation. This will begin following final approval of the OAR presented for adoption at 
this meeting, and is planned to be completed in time for the 2016 COLA update next July, paid 
August 1, 2016. The remaining accounts impacted by the Moro decision are related to death and 
are on hold until after system programming is complete.  

FUNDING SOURCE 

The Oregon Supreme Court decided in the Moro case that PERS underpaid COLA from August 
1, 2013, to October 1, 2015. This underpayment resulted from applying the challenged 2013 
legislation to all recipients. Currently, the total amount of underpayments is calculated to be 
around $73.2 million. When the amount of the Supplementary Payments made in 2014 (about 
$9.8 million) are recovered as a deduction from the COLA payments, the net amount to be 
distributed to recipients is about $63.4 million.  



Moro Update and Funding Request 
9/25/15 
Page 2 of 2 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting September 25, 2015 

In 2013, the PERS Board earmarked a total of $65 million from the Contingency Reserve to fund 
the Supplementary Payment. With PERS no longer making these payments, the $55.2 remaining 
(minus the 2014 payments) is now left unallocated in the reserve.  

Per ORS 238.670(1), the Contingency Reserve “may be used by the board for the following 
purposes: 

(a) To prevent any deficit in the fund by reason of the insolvency of a participating public 
employer. Reserves under this paragraph may be funded only from the earnings on 
employer contributions made under ORS 238.225. 

(b) To pay any legal expenses or judgments that do not arise in the ordinary course of 
adjudicating an individual member’s benefits or an individual employer’s liabilities. 

(c) To provide for any other contingency that the board may determine to be appropriate.” 

As this restored COLA is being paid pursuant to a court judgment, the use of the Contingency 
Reserve to fund these COLA payment seems appropriate. Staff is requesting approval from the 
PERS Board to fund the restored COLA payments from the Contingency Reserve, in an amount 
approximating $63.4 million. 

The Contingency Reserve was funded to its current level with this eventuality in mind. Other 
potential funding sources, such as the Benefit-in-Force Reserve, could be tapped for this purpose 
but would reduce the assets available to fund member benefits. 

BOARD ACTION 

1. Fund the restored COLA payment from the Contingency Reserve. 

2. Have the funding for the restored COLA come from another source, such as the Benefit-in-
Force Reserve.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Option 1, use of the Contingency Reserve to fund these restored COLA payments. 

 



 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting September 25, 2015 
 

Public Employees Retirement System 
Headquarters: 

11410 S.W. 68th Parkway, Tigard, OR 
Mailing Address: 

P.O. Box 23700 
Tigard, OR 97281-3700 

(503) 598-7377 
TTY (503) 603-7766 

www.o re go n .go v/p er s  

Oregon 
   
     Kate Brown, Governor 

Item C.2. 

 
  
 
 
 
September 25, 2015 
 
TO:    Members of the PERS Board 

FROM: Yvette Elledge-Rhodes, Chief Operations Officer 
 

SUBJECT:  OPSRP Contribution Start Date – Funding Source 
 
BACKGROUND: 

At the first Employer Advisory Group (EAG) meeting on January 23, 2015, the main topic of 
discussion was PERS’ guidance on when to start member and employer contributions for a new 
OPSRP member. Guidance has been administered inconsistently since OPSRP was created in 
2004 based on changes in the understanding of the law by PERS and certain employers. The 
inconsistency has been further complicated by the variety of pay periods that employers use.  

PERS and the EAG have discussed ways to resolve this disparity prospectively and retroactively. 
House Bill 3495 was passed in the 2015 session to change the contribution start date 
prospectively, starting on January 1, 2016, when that bill becomes effective. According to the 
new law, contributions will be due after the first full pay period following the initial membership 
date of an OPSRP member, which is similar to how Tier One and Tier Two plans were 
administered. The policy question remains of how to resolve the contributions and earnings that 
are due but not paid because of the inconsistent administration over prior years (2004-2015).  

The chart below shows the estimated cost to make these data corrections, reflecting reported 
salary and earnings information thorough calendar year 2014. PERS will have actual costs when 
data corrections are made in the system. 

As shown below, not all employers are affected equally. 

Employer Group 
Impacted 
vs. Total 

Employers 

Impacted 
vs. Total Members 

             Contributions Prior Years’ 
Earnings Totals 

Members Employers 
State Agencies 86 of 106 16,301 of    46,954 $2,925,526 $3,396,023 $2,884,781 $9,206,330 
Local Governments 254 of 488 14,804 of    69,518 $1,365,097 $2,170,426 $989,916 $4,525,439 
OUS 8 of     8 317 of    23,562 $23,264 $25,466 $33,595 $82,325 
OHSU 1 of     1 249 of      6,382 $21,972 $16,898 $27,628 $66,498 
Community Colleges 17 of   17 2,491 of    27,424 $197,803 $124,580 $229,222 $551,606 
Schools 238 of 295 4,103 of  145,477 $267,821 $393,229 $367,089 $1,028,140 
Totals 604 of 915 38,265 of  319,317 $4,801,483 $6,126,622 $4,532,231 $15,460,338 

 
As this chart shows, correcting these members’ records will trigger significant payments for 
contributions and the associated earnings. To reiterate, the contributions owed are member 
contributions to the IAP and employer contributions toward the cost of the members’ OPSRP 
Pension Program, and the earnings those contributions would have earned had they originally 
been paid when required. Resolving this matter is also challenging because the reasons for the 
misapplication of the law vary:   



OPSRP Contribution Start Date Issue 
9/25/15 
Page 2 of 3 
 
 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting September 25, 2015 
 

1. Inconsistency between administration of contribution start date under Tier One/Tier Two and 
OPSRP, which created another structure until HB 3495 becomes effective. 

2. Changes in the understanding of the statute by PERS and certain employers as well as 
inconsistent communication to certain employers.  

3. Employers have different reporting structures, systems, and pay periods that did not yield 
consistent results from month to month as new OPSRP members came on. 

4. Inconsistent reporting by employers; i.e. local governments had different reporting rules than 
the other actuarial groups. 

POLICY QUESTION: 

After discussions over several meetings, the EAG has recommended that the Contingency 
Reserve be used to fund the costs for these prior contributions and earnings. Per ORS 
238.670(1)(c), the Contingency Reserve may be used to provide for any other contingency that 
the board may determine to be appropriate. 

Attached is testimony from EAG members in support of this request. We also received emails of 
support from the following members of the advisory group: 

· Celia Heron, Policy Analyst, City of Portland 
· Trudy Vidal, Financial Business Systems Manager, State of Oregon 
· Debra Grabler, Chief Financial Officer, Tualatin Valley Fire & Rescue 

The Contingency Reserve’s current balance is  $651,202,143.97. Of that total, $25,000,000 was 
previously allocated from employer account earnings to cover employer insolvencies, but staff 
has not had to use that portion of the reserve since it was established. Note also that the restored 
cost-of-living adjustment (COLA) payments required to comply with the Oregon Supreme 
Court’s Moro decision are slated to be paid out of this reserve. In a separate memo at this board 
meeting, we report the estimate for those costs to be $63.4 million. 

PERS staff need to have this policy question answered before embarking on clean up efforts to 
restore the contributions and earnings to member and employer accounts. As those amounts are 
determined, staff will proceed with invoicing employers, if the Board does not allocate funds 
from the Contingency Reserve for some or all of those costs, or generate charges to the 
Contingency Reserve for the amounts that the Board agrees to allocate there.  

OPTIONS: 

1. Retroactive costs are NOT funded by the Contingency Reserve. Impacted employers would 
be liable for previous contributions and earnings from the data corrections. PERS staff would 
determine the contributions and earnings due from each employer, and some individual 
employers would certainly challenge their responsibility for those costs. 

2. Some retroactive costs are funded by the Contingency Reserve. For example, member and 
employer contributions are paid by employers; earnings are covered by the Contingency 
Reserve. 

3. All retroactive costs (member and employer contributions plus earnings) are funded by the 
Contingency Reserve. 



OPSRP Contribution Start Date Issue 
9/25/15 
Page 3 of 3 
 
 

SL1 PERS Board Meeting September 25, 2015 
 

EAG RECOMMENDATION: 

The EAG recommends Option #3; all retroactive costs for data corrections be funded by the 
Contingency Reserve. PERS staff can administer any of the three options listed above. 
 
C.2. Attachment 1 – Supporting testimony from EAG Members 
 



1201 Court Street NE, Suite 300 | Salem, Oregon 97301-4110 | 503.585.8351 | www.aocweb.org 

September 10, 2015 

PERS Board 
PERS Headquarters   SENT via email 
11410 SW 68th Parkway  
Tigard, OR  97223 

RE:   Letter of support for Option 3 as contained in the PERS staff memo 
relating to the Contribution Start Date issue 

Dear Members of the PERS Board, 

The Association of Oregon Counties (AOC) strongly encourages the Board to adopt 
recommendation number 3 in the staff memo relating to the contribution start date issue, and 
fund all retroactive costs from the Contingency Reserve. 

As you are aware, the original statutes for the PERS Oregon Public Service Retirement 
Plan (OPSRP) pension program were ambiguous with regard to contribution start date.1  
Compounding that problem was various PERS directives to employers.  The letters to you from 
Marion and Linn Counties provide examples of what actually occurred, and I strongly encourage 
you to read those letters. 

In the end, this issue was not caused by employers.  It is the result of ambiguous state 
legislation, compounded by directives to employers from PERS, and subsequent reinterpretation 
of those statutes by PERS.  Employers should not now be liable for that which they did not 
create, and could not control.  Instead, this is an appropriate use of the Contingency Reserve, as 
outlined in the staff memo, and justified in the letters from Linn and Marion Counties. 

AOC therefore ask the PERS Board to adopt Option 3.  Thank you in advance for your 
consideration in this matter. 

Sincerely, 

Rob Bovett 
Legal Counsel 
Association of Oregon Counties 

1 AOC took the lead in successfully promoting 2015 legislation to clarify this ambiguity for future employees hired 
on and after January 1, 2016.  2015 Oregon Laws, Chapter 326 (Enrolled House Bill 3495).  But it is the ambiguity 
in the original OPSRP statute, and any potential retroactive clarification and application, that gives rise to the issue 
now before the PERS Board. 

Item C.2. Att. 1

https://olis.leg.state.or.us/liz/2015R1/Downloads/MeasureDocument/HB3495/Enrolled




 

Corvallis School District 509J 
 

 

Olivia Meyers Buch, Director of Finance and Operations 
1555 SW 35th Street • PO Box 3509J • Corvallis, Oregon  97339 

541‐757‐3859 • www.csd509j.net • 541‐757‐3936 FAX 
 
 

• •  Every Student A Graduate  • •  Every Student Shows Growth  • •  Closing the Opportunity Gap  • • 

 
 

September 8, 2015 
 
 
 
PERS Board of Trustees 
11410 SW 68th Parkway 
Tigard, OR  97223 
 
Testimony in Support of EAG Recommendation RE: OPSRP Start Date Issue 
 
Members of the PERS Board: 
 
The Corvallis School District supports the Employer Advisory Group’s recommendation that the 
PERS Contingency Reserve be used to fund the costs for the prior contributions and earnings 
related to the OPSRP start date issue.  We feel that the complexity of this issue warrants this 
action and without it, the majority of PERS employers will be considered liable for previous 
contributions and earnings simply due to statute interpretation, inconsistent communication, 
and an ineffective reporting system. 
 
I strongly encourage you to support the EAG’s recommendation and take action to resolve this 
matter in a reasonable and equitable way. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 

Olivia Meyers Buch 
Director of Finance and Operations 
Corvallis School District 509J 





















Oregon Community College Association 
260 13th Street NE, Salem, OR  97301 

Phone: (503) 399-9912 Fax: (503) 399-9286 
http://www.occa17.com 

 
 

 
September 11, 2015 
 
Oregon Public Employee Retirement Board 
P.O. Box 23700 
Tigard, Oregon 97281 
 
Dear Members of the PERS Board, 
 
The Oregon Community College Association (OCCA), which represents Oregon’s seventeen community 
colleges, urges your adoption of the recommendation of the PERS Employer Advisory Group to use the 
Contingency Reserve to pay all retroactive costs associated with the OPSRP contribution start date 
correction.  All seventeen community colleges are impacted by this situation.   
 
During the 2015 legislative session, OCCA joined the other PERS employers in supporting the passage of 
HB 3495.  As you know, this bill addressed the prospective application of the OPSRP start date to make it 
clear in statute when member contributions should be started for OPSRP employees.  This legislation 
could not, however, address the retroactive cost implications of resolving the member and employer 
contributions plus earnings due as a result of inconsistent crediting during the years from 2004 to 2015.  
PERS estimates that the cost to community colleges and their employees to resolve the shortfall to be 
more than $458,000.   
 
Given the cost impact this will have on community colleges and their employees, we urge you to use 
your authority to allocate funds from the Contingency Reserve as allowed by ORS 238.670(1)(c) to cover 
all retroactive costs (member and employer contributions as well as earnings).  We believe the use of 
the reserve is justified in that the inconsistency in administering OPSRP start date contributions resulted 
not from the fault of employers but due to ambiguous statutory language and guidance from PERS.  The 
Contingency Reserve was created to address situations like this. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
 
 
 
 

Andrea Henderson 
Executive Director 
 
   





SL1     PERS Board Meeting  September 25, 2015 

Public Employees Retirement System 
Headquarters: 

11410 S.W. 68th Parkway, Tigard, OR 
Mailing Address: 

P.O. Box 23700 
Tigard, OR 97281-3700 

(503) 598-7377 
TTY (503) 603-7766 

h t tp : / / o rego n .go v/p er s  

Oregon 
    Kate Brown, Governor 

September 25, 2015 

TO: Members of the PERS Board 

FROM: Steven Patrick Rodeman, Executive Director 

SUBJECT: Adoption of Actuarial Methods & Assumptions 

BACKGROUND 

Matt Larrabee and Scott Preppernau of Milliman will follow up their July 31, 2015 Board 
meeting presentation with a revised draft of the 2014 Experience Study. At the July meeting, the 
PERS Board directed the actuaries to apply the recommended economic and demographic 
assumptions. The PERS Board also directed the actuaries to move to use an assumed earnings 
rate of 7.5 percent in completing the December 31, 2014 system valuation. The new study is still 
in development as of the mailing date of these meeting materials. It will be distributed to the 
Board as soon as it is available.  

The new version of the 2014 Experience Study will incorporate the PERS Board’s direction from 
the July meeting. Pursuant to ORS 238.605, adoption of the 2014 Experience Study will fulfill 
the PERS Board’s duty to direct the actuary to prepare a report evaluating the current and 
prospective assets and liabilities of the system and indicating its current and prospective financial 
condition. Once adopted, staff will complete the responsibility to distribute a summary of the 
report to all participating public employers by posting the study on the PERS website. 

BOARD OPTIONS 

The Board may: 

1. Pass a motion to “adopt the 2014 Experience Study, as presented.”

2. Direct the actuary or staff to make further revisions to the Experience Study methods and
assumptions, and return with a revised study for the Board’s consideration.

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 

Staff recommends the Board choose Option #1. 
· Reason: The 2014 Experience Study, as presented, reflects the methods and assumptions

necessary to competently report the current and prospective assets and liabilities of the
system and to indicate its current and prospective financial condition.

Item C.3. 



September 25, 2015 

DECEMBER 31, 2014 

ACTUARIAL VALUATION 
OREGON PUBLIC EMPLOYEES 

RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  Milliman 
does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any recipient of this work 
product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice appropriate to its own specific needs. 

Presented by: 

Matt Larrabee, FSA, EA 

Scott Preppernau, FSA, EA 



1 

Introduction  

 Today we will review preliminary valuation results for the    

Tier 1/Tier 2 & OPSRP retirement programs 

– We will also review preliminary valuation results for the RHIA & RHIPA 

retiree healthcare programs 

 All work is based on: 

– Asset levels and member demographics at year-end 2014 

– Updates to methods and assumptions from the 2014 Experience Study 

– Current benefit provisions, including the effects of Senate Bills 822 & 

861 and the related ruling in the Moro case  

 Results are advisory in nature 

– Indicate where 2017 - 2019 contribution rates would be if set today 

– Assess program funded status and unfunded actuarial liability (UAL) 

 Action item for today: Adopt the 2014 Experience Study 
This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 



2 

Projected Benefit Payments 

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 

The dotted line reflects the projected payments from the 12/31/2013 valuation, 
prior to the effects of Moro and updates to methods and assumptions  



3 

System Funded Status and UAL 

 System-total pension funded status is lower and unfunded 

actuarial liability is larger in the 12/31/2014 actuarial valuation than 

in the 12/31/2013 valuation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 

System-total pension funded status 

($ in billions) 12/31/2013 12/31/2014 

Actuarial liability $62.6 $73.5 

Assets (excluding side accounts) $54.1 $55.5 

UAL (excluding side accounts) $8.5 $18.0 

Funded status (excluding side accounts) 86% 76% 

Side account assets $5.9 $5.9 

UAL (including side accounts) $2.6 $12.1 

Funded status (including side accounts) 96% 84% 



4 

Sources of 2014 UAL Increase  

 The expected UAL increase/(decrease) is the change, based on 

12/31/2013 valuation results, projected to occur during 2014 if: 

– Actual 2014 experience mirrored 12/31/2013 valuation assumptions 

– No benefit or assumption changes made for the 12/31/2014 valuation 

 2014 increase reflects effects of temporary negative amortization  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 

Sources of 2014 UAL Increase UAL Increase 

Expected UAL increase/(decrease) during 2014 $0.2 B 

2014 actual investment performance below assumption $0.2 B 

Moro adjustment to projected benefits $5.1 B 

Decrease in assumed return to 7.50% $1.7 B 

Update to mortality assumption $1.8 B 

All other assumption changes and actual experience  $0.5 B 

Total $9.5 B 



5 

Tier 1/Tier 2 Rate Pool Funded Status and UAL 

 Funded status differs for the two large Tier 1/Tier 2 rate pools 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 

($ in billions) SLGRP School Districts 

Actuarial liability $37.2 $27.1 

Assets (excluding side accounts) $28.5 $20.3 

UAL (excluding side accounts) $8.7 $6.8 

Funded status (excluding side accounts) 77% 75% 

Projected 2015 payroll $5.4 $2.9 

Ratio of UAL to payroll 161% 234% 

Side account assets $2.7 $3.1 

UAL (including side accounts) $6.0 $3.7 

Funded status (including side accounts) 84% 86% 



6 

Overview of Rate Calculation Structure   

 The uncollared rate is the theoretical contribution rate to reach 

100% funded status over a specified amortization period if: 

– Contributions at that rate started on the actuarial valuation date, and 

– Actual future experience mirrors the actuarial valuation’s assumptions 

 The rate collar sets a biennium’s base rate, limiting the base rate 

change when there is a large change in the uncollared rate 

 Employers pay the net rate, which can differ from the base rate 

due to adjustments that fall into two major categories 

– Side account rate offsets for employers with side accounts 

– SLGRP charges/offsets (e.g., Transition Liability/Surplus) 
This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 

Rate  

Offsets 

Collared 

Net Rate 

Collared 

Base 

Rate 

Uncollared 

Rate 

Rate Collar 



7 

Comments on Advisory 2017 – 2019 Rates 

  
 No single employer pays the system-wide average rate 

– School district base rates are above the average 

– Most SLGRP employers’ base rates are below the average 

 Employers in a rate pool do not pay the pool average rate 

– Actual rates reflect employer-specific side account rate offsets and/or 

any SLGRP charges/offsets 

– SLGRP normal cost rates are specific to an employer’s composition of 

member tier and job classification 

 Rates shown do not include the effects of: 

– Individual Account Plan (IAP) contributions 

– Rates for the RHIA & RHIPA retiree healthcare programs 

– Debt service payments on pension obligation bonds 

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 



8 

Uncollared Pension Rates – School Districts 
Excludes Retiree Health Care, IAP Contributions, Rate Collar, Side Accounts 

12/31/2013 

2015 - 2017 Final 

12/31/2014 

2017 - 2019 Advisory 

Payroll Payroll 

Tier 1 / 

Tier 2 OPSRP 

Weighted 

Average
1
 

Tier 1 / 

Tier 2 OPSRP 

Weighted 

Average
1 

Normal Cost 11.94% 7.33% 10.14% 13.72% 8.10% 11.28% 

Tier 1/Tier 2 UAL 9.25% 9.25% 9.25% 17.54% 17.54% 17.54% 

OPSRP UAL 0.61% 0.61% 0.61% 1.01% 1.01% 1.01% 

Uncollared Rate 21.80% 17.19% 20.00% 32.27% 26.65% 29.83% 

Increase  10.47% 9.46% 9.83% 

1 Weighting based on the pool’s payroll levels (Tier 1/Tier 2, OPSRP) as of the valuation date. 

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 

The pool-average advisory collared net rates which employers 

would be charged are shown on a subsequent slide 



9 

Uncollared Pension Rates – SLGRP Average 
Excludes Retiree Health Care, IAP Contributions, Rate Collar, Side Accounts 

12/31/2013 

2015 - 2017 Final 

12/31/2014 

2017 - 2019 Advisory 

Payroll Payroll 

Tier 1 / 

Tier 2 OPSRP 

Weighted 

Average
1
 

Tier 1 / 

Tier 2 OPSRP 

Weighted 

Average
1
 

Normal Cost 13.66% 7.79% 11.13% 16.05% 8.63% 12.52% 

Tier 1/Tier 2 UAL 5.71% 5.71% 5.71% 12.09% 12.09% 12.09% 

OPSRP UAL 0.61% 0.61% 0.61% 1.01% 1.01% 1.01% 

Uncollared Rate 19.98% 14.11% 17.45% 29.15% 21.73% 25.62% 

Increase  9.17% 7.62% 8.17% 

1 Weighting based on the pool’s payroll levels (Tier 1/Tier 2, OPSRP) as of the valuation date. 

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 

The pool-average advisory collared net rates which employers 

would be charged are shown on a subsequent slide 

Employer-specific rates vary widely from the SLGRP average 



10 

Current Rate Collar Design 
 The maximum change typically permitted by the collar is: 

– 20% of the rate currently in effect (3% of payroll minimum collar width) 

 If funded status is 60% or lower, the width of the collar doubles 

– 40% of rate currently in effect (6% of payroll minimum collar width) 

 If the funded status is between 60% and 70%, the collar size is 

pro-rated between the initial collar and double collar level 

 

 

 

 

 Collars are calculated at a rate pool level and limit the biennium 

to biennium increase in the UAL Rate for a given rate pool  

 
This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 

8.00%

12.00%

16.00%

20.00%

24.00%

28.00%

32.00% Illustration of Rate Collar 

Double 
Collar 

Single 
Collar 

Prior 
Rate 



11 

Collared Pension Base Rates – School Districts 
Excludes Retiree Health Care & IAP Contributions, Side Account Offsets 

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 

Barring benefit modifications or actual 2015 investment returns differing 

materially from assumption, final 2017 – 2019 base rates will be similar 

to advisory 2017 – 2019 base rates shown in this presentation 

 

12/31/2013 

2015 - 2017 Final 

12/31/2014 

2017 - 2019 Advisory 

Payroll Payroll 

Tier 1 / 

Tier 2 OPSRP 

Weighted 

Average
1 

Tier 1 / 

Tier 2 OPSRP 

Weighted 

Average
1
 

Uncollared Rate 21.80% 17.19% 20.00% 32.27% 26.65% 29.83% 

Collar Limitation (0.00%) (0.00%) (0.00%) (5.83%) (5.83%) (5.83%) 

Collared Base Rate 21.80% 17.19% 20.00% 26.44% 20.82% 24.00% 

Increase 4.64% 3.63% 4.00% 

 

1 Weighting based on the pool’s payroll levels (Tier 1/Tier 2, OPSRP) as of the valuation date  



12 

Collared Pension Base Rates – SLGRP Average 
Excludes Retiree Health Care & IAP Contributions, Side Account Offsets 

 

1 Weighting based on the pool’s payroll levels (Tier 1/Tier 2, OPSRP) as of the valuation date  

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 

Barring benefit modifications or actual 2015 investment returns differing 

materially from assumption, final 2017 – 2019 base rates will be similar 

to advisory 2017 – 2019 base rates shown in this presentation 

Employer-specific base rates can vary widely from SLGRP average rates 

 

12/31/2013 

2015 - 2017 Final 

12/31/2014 

2017 - 2019 Advisory 

Payroll Payroll 

Tier 1 / 

Tier 2 OPSRP 

Weighted 

Average
1 

Tier 1 / 

Tier 2 OPSRP 

Weighted 

Average
1
 

Uncollared Rate 19.98% 14.11% 17.45% 29.15% 21.73% 25.62% 

Collar Limitation (1.14%) (1.14%) (1.14%) (6.26%) (6.26%) (6.26%) 

Collared Base Rate 18.84% 12.97% 16.31% 22.89% 15.47% 19.36% 

Increase 4.05% 2.50% 3.05% 



13 

Collared Pension Net Rates – School Districts 
Excludes Retiree Health Care & IAP Contributions 

12/31/2013
1
 

2015 - 2017 Final 

12/31/2014
1
 

2017 - 2019 Advisory 

Payroll Payroll 

Tier 1 / 

Tier 2 OPSRP 

Weighted 

Average
2
 

Tier 1 / 

Tier 2 OPSRP 

Weighted 

Average
2
 

Collared Base Rate 21.80% 17.19% 20.00% 26.44% 20.82% 24.00% 

Side Account (Offset) (10.62%) (10.62%) (10.62%) (10.61%) (10.61%) (10.61%) 

Collared Net Rate 11.18% 6.57% 9.38% 15.83% 10.21% 13.39% 

Increase 4.65% 3.64% 4.01% 

1 For this exhibit, adjustments are assumed not to be limited due to an individual employer reaching a 0.00% contribution rate. 

2 Weighting based on the pool’s payroll levels (Tier 1/Tier 2, OPSRP) as of the valuation date  

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 

Rates vary by employer, as only some employers have side accounts 

Changes in side account offsets are not collared; actual 2015 returns 

below assumption would lower the offset, increasing the net rate 



14 

Collared Pension Net Rates – SLGRP Average 
Excludes Retiree Health Care & IAP Contributions 

12/31/2013
1
 

2015 - 2017 Final 

12/31/2014
1
 

2017 - 2019 Advisory 

Payroll Payroll 

Tier 1 / 

Tier 2 OPSRP 

Weighted 

Average
2
 

Tier 1 / 

Tier 2 OPSRP 

Weighted 

Average
2
 

Collared Base Rate 18.84% 12.97% 16.31% 22.89% 15.47% 19.36% 

Side Account (Offset) (4.99%) (4.99%) (4.99%) (4.94%) (4.94%) (4.94%) 

SLGRP Charge/(Offset) (0.80%) (0.80%) (0.80%) (0.80%) (0.80%) (0.80%) 

Collared Net Rate 13.05% 7.18% 10.52% 17.15% 9.73% 13.62% 

Increase 4.10% 2.55% 3.10% 

1 For this exhibit, adjustments are assumed not to be limited due to an individual employer reaching a 0.00% contribution rate. 

2 Weighting based on the pool’s payroll levels (Tier 1/Tier 2, OPSRP) as of the valuation date  
This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 

Rates vary by employer, as only some employers have side accounts 

and the SLGRP charge/(offset) varies by employer 

Changes in side account offsets are not collared; actual 2015 returns 

below assumption would lower the offset, increasing the net rate 



15 

2017-19 Contribution Increase Estimates 

  

 Projected 2017-19 contributions are determined by applying collared 

net advisory rates calculated in the 12/31/2014 valuation 

– Projections do not reflect the effects of actual 2015 investment returns  

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 

($ millions) 

Projected 

2015-17 

Payroll* 

(A) 

Projected 

2015-17 

Contribution 

Projected 

2017-19 

Payroll* 

(B) 

Projected 

2017-19 

Contribution 

(B)- (A) 

Projected 

Contribution 

Increase 

State 

Agencies 
$5,580 $575 $5,980 $800 $225 

School 

Districts 
$5,950 $560 $6,370 $850 $290 

All 

Others 
$7,350 $870 $7,870 $1,155 $285 

Total $18,880 $2,005 $20,220 $2,805 $800 

* Assumes payroll grows at 3.50% annually based on 12/31/2014 active member census, 
reflecting proportional payroll composition (Tier 1/Tier 2 vs. OPSRP) as of 12/31/2014  



16 

Looking Toward the Rate-Setting Valuation 

 

 
 This valuation is based on 12/31/2014 assets and 

demographic information and calculates: 

– Advisory 2017-19 uncollared contribution rates 

– Advisory 2017-19 collared base contribution rates 

– Advisory 2017-19 side account rate offsets 

– Advisory 2017-19 collared net contribution rates 

 Actual 2017-19 contribution rates will be determined based on 

12/31/2015 asset and demographic information 

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 

If actual 2015 investment returns are below the 7.5% 
assumed return, how will each of the four measures 

noted above change between the 12/31/2014 advisory 
valuation and the 12/31/2015 rate-setting valuation? 



17 

Effects of 2015 Returns – Uncollared Rates 

 

 
 Any actual 2015 investment underperformance compared to the 

assumed 7.5% return would increase final uncollared 2017-19 

rates determined in the 12/31/2015 rate-setting valuation 

– Actual underperformance has a “first dollar” effect on uncollared rates 

 To illustrate, if actual 2015 return was +2.5%, the uncollared 

system-average rate would be estimated to increase by 2.1% of 

payroll for the 5% investment underperformance 

 The relationship between investment underperformance and 

uncollared rate changes is approximately linear 

– In other words, 2.5% underperformance is estimated to impact the 

uncollared rate by approximately 1.05% of payroll, which is half of the 

effect of 5% underperformance 

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 



18 

Effects of 2015 Returns – Collared Base Rates 

 

 
 Any 2015 investment underperformance would affect a rate 

pool’s collared 2017-19 base rates only if it affects the size of 

the rate collar  

– The collar size increases if a rate pool’s funded status falls below 70% 

– For rate pools currently above 70%, actual underperformance leading 

to funded status below 70% will affect the collared base rate 

 The actual return before the collar would widen varies by pool 

and depends on each pool’s funded status 

– Current funded status: School districts  (75%); SLGRP (77%) 

 If returns are below the necessary threshold, the collar would 

progressively widen (and the collared base rate would 

increase) linearly until funded status was 60% or less 

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 



19 

Effects of 2015 Returns – Side Account Offsets 

 

 
 Like uncollared rates, any actual 2015 investment 

underperformance will decrease final 2017-19 side account rate 

offsets determined in the 12/31/2015 rate-setting valuation 

– Actual underperformance has a “first dollar” effect on side account offsets 

 Most current side account rate offsets are calculated to fully 

amortize at 12/31/2027 if future experience follows assumptions 

– This remaining amortization period, which is shorter than the 20-year 

amortization period used for amortizing new Tier 1/Tier 2 UAL, will lead to 

large changes in 2017-19 side account rate offsets if investment losses 

are material 

 The relationship between investment underperformance and 

changes in side account rate offsets is approximately linear 

 
This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 



20 

Effects of 2015 Returns – Collared Net Rates 

 

 
 How any actual 2015 investment underperformance affects an 

employer’s final 2017-19 net rates determined in the 

12/31/2015 rate-setting valuation depends on two factors 

– Which Tier 1/Tier 2 rate pool the employer participates in 

– Whether or not the employer has a side account 

 The effect on net rates for employers without side accounts 

will be very similar or identical to the effect, if any, on collared 

base rates  

 The effect on net rates for employers with side accounts will 

be the sum of two separate effects 

– Effect, if any, on collared base rates 

– Effect due to change in side account rate offset 

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 



21 

12/31/2014 Retiree Health Care Valuation 

 

 
 Two separate health care benefit subsidies are valued: 

– RHIA provides a $60 per month subsidy toward healthcare premiums 

for Medicare-eligible Tier 1/Tier 2 retirees  

– RHIPA provides Tier 1/Tier 2 state employees who retire prior to age 65 

with an alternative to PEBB coverage until they reach Medicare 

eligibility 

 OPSRP retirees are not eligible for either subsidy 

 RHIA and RHIPA benefits historically have been less well 

funded than Tier 1/Tier 2 & OPSRP benefits 

– To help address that, in July 2009 the Board shortened the shortfall 

amortization period to ten years to improve funded status over less time 

– Rates reflecting the shorter amortization were first effective July 2011 

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 



22 

12/31/2014 Retiree Health Care Valuation 

 

 
 While funded status is low, RHIA and RHIPA liabilities 

combined are less than 1% of the pension liability 

 In recent experience studies, we recommended restructuring 

the RHIPA participation assumption for future state 

government retirements 

– Assume higher participation rates for retirees eligible for the largest 

employer-paid subsidies 

– Rates reflecting new structure first went into effect in July 2015 

 RHIPA warrants continued monitoring, as funded status is very low and 

subsidy payments are sensitive to actual participation levels 

 

 

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 



23 

12/31/2014 Retiree Health Care Valuation 
Unfunded Accrued Liability (UAL) and Advisory Contribution Rates 

RHIA RHIPA* 

12/31/2013 12/31/2014 12/31/2013 12/31/2014 

Accrued Liability $474 $468 $61 $71 

Assets $354 $396 $ 5 $ 7 

UAL $120 $72 $56 $64 

Funded Status 75% 85% 9% 10% 

Normal Cost Rate 0.08% 0.07% 0.09% 0.11% 

UAL Rate 0.45% 0.43% 0.35% 0.39% 

Total Rate 0.53% 0.50% 0.44% 0.50% 

RHIPA assets at year-end 2014 were only about 150% of 2014 

RHIPA benefit payments 

(amounts in millions) 

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 

*State Agencies, OUS, and State Judiciary are the only employers who pay RHIPA rates 



24 

Contribution Rate & Funded Status Projections 

 In November, we will return with contribution rate and funded 

status projections based on this valuation 

– They will use the latest year-to-date investment return information at the 

time the projections are made 

 Projections will be developed using two types of models 

– Deterministic 

• Straight lines reflecting steady future actual investment returns 

– Stochastic 

• Probability distributions reflecting a wide variety of noisy scenarios for possible 

actual future investment returns  

• The modeling will include updates to the risk metrics we have used in 

projection studies conducted in previous years  

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 



25 

Wrap Up / Next Steps   

 Action item: 

– Adoption of the 2014 Experience Study 

 Between now and the November meeting, we will: 

– Assist PERS in preparing financial reporting schedules 

– Develop updated actuarial equivalence factors for 2016 

– Issue system-wide and employer-specific valuation reports 

 At the November meeting, we will: 

– Provide listings of employer-specific advisory 2017-2019 contribution rates 

– Update long-term rate and funded status projections 

 

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 



26 

Certification 
This presentation summarizes key preliminary results of an actuarial valuation of the Oregon Public Employees Retirement 

System (“PERS” or “the System”) as of December 31, 2014, for the Plan Year ending December 31, 2014.  The results are 

preliminary in nature and may not be relied upon to, for example, prepare the System’s Consolidated Annual Financial Report 

(CAFR).  The reliance document will be the forthcoming formal December 31, 2014 System-Wide Actuarial Valuation Report.  

In preparing this report, we relied, without audit, on information (some oral and some in writing) supplied by the System’s staff.  

This information includes, but is not limited to, statutory provisions, employee data, and financial information.  We found this 

information to be reasonably consistent and comparable with information used for other purposes.  The valuation results depend 

on the integrity of this information.  If any of this information is inaccurate or incomplete our results may be different and our 

calculations may need to be revised. 

All costs, liabilities, rates of interest, and other factors for the System have been determined on the basis of actuarial 

assumptions and methods which are individually reasonable (taking into account the experience of the System and reasonable 

expectations); and which, in combination, offer our best estimate of anticipated experience affecting the System. 

Future actuarial measurements may differ significantly from the current measurements presented in this report due to such 

factors as the following: plan experience differing from that anticipated by the economic or demographic assumptions; changes 

in economic or demographic assumptions; increases or decreases expected as part of the natural operation of the methodology 

used for these measurements (such as the end of an amortization period or additional cost or contribution requirements based 

on the plan's funded status); and changes in plan provisions or applicable law.  Due to the limited scope of our assignment, we 

did not perform an analysis of the potential range of future measurements.  The PERS Board has the final decision regarding the 

appropriateness of the assumptions. 

Actuarial computations presented in this report are for purposes of determining the recommended funding amounts for the 

System. The computations prepared for these two purposes may differ as disclosed in our report.  The calculations in the 

enclosed report have been made on a basis consistent with our understanding of the System’s funding requirements and goals.  

The calculations in this report have been made on a basis consistent with our understanding of the plan provisions described in 

the appendix of this report.  Determinations for purposes other than meeting these requirements may be significantly different 

from the results contained in this report.  Accordingly, additional determinations may be needed for other purposes. 

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 



27 

Certification 

Milliman’s work is prepared solely for the internal business use of the Oregon Public Employees Retirement System. To the 

extent that Milliman's work is not subject to disclosure under applicable public records laws, Milliman’s work may not be provided 

to third parties without Milliman's prior written consent. Milliman does not intend to benefit or create a legal duty to any third party 

recipient of its work product.  Milliman’s consent to release its work product to any third party may be conditioned on the third 

party signing a Release, subject to the following exception(s): 

      (a) The System may provide a copy of Milliman’s work, in its entirety, to the System’s professional service advisors who are 

subject to a duty of confidentiality and who agree to not use Milliman’s work for any purpose other than to benefit the System.  

     (b) The System may provide a copy of Milliman’s work, in its entirety, to other governmental entities, as required by law.   

 

No third party recipient of Milliman's work product should rely upon Milliman's work product. Such recipients should engage 

qualified professionals for advice appropriate to their own specific needs. 

The consultants who worked on this assignment are pension actuaries.  Milliman’s advice is not intended to be a substitute for 

qualified legal or accounting counsel. The signing actuaries are independent of the plan sponsors.  We are not aware of any 

relationship that would impair the objectivity of our work.  

On the basis of the foregoing, we hereby certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, this report is complete and 

accurate and has been prepared in accordance with generally recognized and accepted actuarial principles and practices.  We 

are members of the American Academy of Actuaries and meet the Qualification Standards to render the actuarial opinion 

contained herein. 

 

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 



28 

Appendix 
Data Exhibits 

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 

2013

Tier 1 Tier 2 OPSRP Total Total

Active Members

Count 34,174                   42,180                   88,505                   164,859                 162,185                 

Average Age 55.2 49.6 42                         46.9 46.9                      

Average Service 23.5                      14.1                      5.5                        11.4                      11.5                      

Average prior year Covered Salary 70,668$                 61,473$                 44,604$                 54,323$                 52,688$                 

Inactive Members1

Count 16,521                   15,924                   10,118                   42,563                   41,213                   

Average Age 57.7 51.8 46.4 52.8 52.5                      

Average Monthly Benefit 2,052$                   707$                     326$                     1,138$                   1,135$                   

Retired Members and Beneficiaries1

Count 121,545                 8,428                    1,532                    131,505                 128,117                 

Average Age 71.5 66.3 65.8 71.1 70.8                      

Average Monthly Benefit 2,516$                   791$                     381$                     2,381$                   2,365$                   

Total Members 172,240                 66,532                   100,155                 338,927                 331,515                 

2014

1  Inactive and Retiree counts are shown by lives within each rate pool.  In other words, a member is counted once per purposes of this exhibit, regardless of their service 

history for different rate pools.  



29 

Valuation Process and Timeline 

 

 

 Actuarial valuations are conducted annually 

– Alternate between “rate setting” and “advisory” valuations 

– The 12/31/2014 valuation is advisory 

 The Board adopts rate setting valuation results, and rates 

go into effect 18 months subsequent to the valuation date 

Valuation Date Employer Contribution Rates 

             12/31/2013 July 2015 –  June 2017 

             12/31/2015 July 2017 –  June 2019 

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 



30 

 System Liability 
 System Normal Cost 

Projected Future  
Benefit Payments 

 Funded Status 
 Contribution Rates 

 July 2015: Assumptions & 

methods adopted by Board in 

consultation with the actuary 

 September 2015:  System-wide  

12/31/14 “advisory” actuarial 

valuation results 

 November 2015:  Advisory 

2017-2019 employer-specific 

contribution rates 

 July 2016:  System-wide 

12/31/15 “rate-setting” actuarial 

valuation results 

 September 2016:  Disclosure & 

adoption of employer-specific 

2017-2019 contribution rates 

Census Data Demographic 
Assumptions 

Economic 
Assumptions 

Asset  
Data 

Actuarial  
Methods 

Provided by PERS 

Adopted by PERS Board 

Calculated by the actuary 

LEGEND 

Two-Year Rate-Setting Cycle 

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 



31 

Division of Accrued Liability by Category 
12/31/2014 Tier 1/Tier 2 and OPSRP Actuarial Accrued Liability 

$0

$100

$200

$300

$400

$500

$600

$700

$800

$900

35 40 45 50 55 60 65 70

(M
ill

io
n

s
) 

Age 

Age Distribution of  
Tier 1 Active Liability 

17% 

9% 

4% 

7% 
63% 

Actuarial Accrued Liability 
by Member Category 

Tier 1 Actives Tier 2 Actives

OPSRP Actives Inactive

Retirees

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 



32 

Uncollared Pension Rates – System-Wide 
Excludes Retiree Health Care, IAP Contributions, Rate Collar, Side Accounts 

12/31/2013 

2015 - 2017 Final 

12/31/2014 

2017 - 2019 Advisory 

Payroll Payroll 

Tier 1 / 

Tier 2 OPSRP 

Weighted 

Average
1
 

Tier 1 / 

Tier 2 OPSRP 

Weighted 

Average
1 

Normal Cost 13.18% 7.79% 10.94% 15.41% 8.63% 12.30% 

Tier 1/Tier 2 UAL 6.63% 6.63% 6.63% 13.68% 13.68% 13.68% 

OPSRP UAL 0.61% 0.61% 0.61% 1.01% 1.01% 1.01% 

Uncollared Rate 20.42% 15.03% 18.18% 30.10% 23.32% 26.99% 

Increase  9.68% 8.29% 8.81% 

1 Weighting based on the pool’s payroll levels (Tier 1/Tier 2, OPSRP) as of the valuation date. 

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 

The advisory collared net rates which employers would be 

charged are shown later in this presentation 



33 

Collared Pension Base Rates – System-Wide 
Excludes Retiree Health Care & IAP Contributions, Side Account Offsets 

1  Weighting based on the pool’s payroll levels (Tier 1/Tier 2, OPSRP) as of the valuation date. 

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 

The collar limits increases that would be effective July 2017 

Barring benefit modifications or 2015 investment returns significantly 

above assumption, final 2017 – 2019 base rates will be similar to 

advisory 2017 – 2019 base rates shown in this presentation 

 

12/31/2013 

2015 - 2017 Final 

12/31/2014 

2017 - 2019 Advisory 

Payroll Payroll 

Tier 1 / 

Tier 2 OPSRP 

Weighted 

Average
1 

Tier 1 / 

Tier 2 OPSRP 

Weighted 

Average
1
 

Uncollared Rate 20.42% 15.03% 18.18% 30.10% 23.32% 26.99% 

Collar Limitation (0.72%) (0.72%) (0.72%) (6.25%) (6.25%) (6.25%) 

Collared Base Rate 19.70% 14.31% 17.46% 23.85% 17.07% 20.74% 

Increase 4.15% 2.76% 3.28% 



34 

Collared Pension Net Rates – System-Wide 
Excludes Retiree Health Care & IAP Contributions 

12/31/2013
1
 

2015 - 2017 Final 

12/31/2014
1
 

2017 - 2019 Advisory 

Payroll Payroll 

Tier 1 / 

Tier 2 OPSRP 

Weighted 

Average
2
 

Tier 1 / 

Tier 2 OPSRP 

Weighted 

Average
2
 

Collared Base Rate 19.70% 14.31% 17.46% 23.85% 17.07% 20.74% 

Side Account (Offset) (6.38%) (6.38%) (6.38%) (6.37%) (6.37%) (6.37%) 

SLGRP Charge/(Offset) (0.47%) (0.47%) (0.47%) (0.47%) (0.47%) (0.47%) 

Collared Net Rate 12.85% 7.46% 10.61% 17.01% 10.23% 13.90% 

Increase 4.16% 2.77% 3.29% 

1 For this exhibit, adjustments are assumed not to be limited due to an individual employer reaching a 0.00% contribution rate. 

2 Weighting based on the pool’s payroll levels (Tier 1/Tier 2, OPSRP) as of the valuation date  

 This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 

Rates vary by employer, as only some employers have side accounts 

Changes in side account offsets are not collared 



35 

Appendix  
Actuarial Basis 

Data 

We have based our calculation of the liabilities on the data supplied by the Oregon Public Employees Retirement System and 

summarized in the data exhibits on the preceding slides. 

Assets as of December 31, 2014, were based on values provided by Oregon PERS reflecting the Board’s earnings crediting 

decisions for 2014. 

Methods / Policies 

Actuarial Cost Method: Entry Age Normal, adopted effective December 31, 2012.  

UAL Amortization: The UAL for OPSRP, and Retiree Health Care as of December 31, 2007 are amortized as a level percentage 

of combined valuation payroll over a closed period 20 year period for OPSRP and a closed 10 year period for Retiree Health Care. 

For the Tier 1/Tier 2 UAL, the amortization period was reset at 20 years as of December 31, 2013. Gains and losses between 

subsequent odd-year valuations are amortized as a level percentage of combined valuation payroll over the amortization period 

(20 years for Tier/Tier 1, 16 years for OPSRP, 10 years for Retiree Health Care) from the odd-year valuation in which they are first 

recognized. 

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 



36 

Appendix  
Actuarial Basis 

Methods / Policies (cont’d) 

Contribution rate stabilization method: Contribution rates for a rate pool (e.g. Tier 1/Tier 2 SLGRP, Tier 1/Tier 2 School 

Districts, OPSRP) are confined to a collar based on the prior contribution rate (prior to application of side accounts, pre-

SLGRP liabilities, and 6 percent Independent Employer minimum). The new contribution rate will generally not increase or 

decrease from the prior contribution rate by more than the greater of 3 percentage points or 20 percent of the prior 

contribution rate. If the funded percentage excluding side accounts drops below 60% or increases above 140%, the size of 

the collar doubles. If the funded percentage excluding side accounts is between 60% and 70% or between 130% and 

140%, the size of the rate collar is increased on a graded scale.  

Expenses: Tier 1/Tier 2 administration expenses are assumed to be equal to $33.0M, while OPSRP administration 

expenses are assumed to be equal to $5.5M.  The assumed expenses are added to the respective normal costs. 

Actuarial Value of Assets: Equal to Market Value of Assets excluding Contingency and Tier 1 Rate Guarantee Reserves. 

The Tier 1 Rate Guarantee Reserve is not excluded from assets if it is negative (i.e. in deficit status). 

Assumptions 

Assumptions for valuation calculations are as described in the 2014 Experience Study for Oregon PERS and presented to 

the PERS Board in July 2015.  

Provisions 

Provisions valued are as detailed in the 2013 Valuation Report, except as modified by the Supreme Court decision in Moro 

v. State of Oregon. 

 

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 



37 

Appendix  
Blended COLA 

Moro Decision 

The Oregon Supreme Court decision in Moro v. State of Oregon stated that the reduced COLA amounts provided by Senate Bills 

822 and 861 (both passed in 2013) only apply to benefits earned after the effective date of the legislation. According to the Court, 

PERS members who earned benefits before and after the effective date “will be entitled to receive during retirement a blended 

COLA rate that reflects the different COLA provisions applicable to benefits earned at different times.”   

The Supreme Court did not articulate a specific a methodology for determining a  member’s blended COLA.  For purposes of the 

results in this presentation, the blending was based on the creditable service earned before and after the effective date.  

The example below illustrates this blended COLA approach for a member  with 30 years of service at retirement, 20  of which 

were earned prior to the effective date of the SB 861 COLA. 

   

 

 

This work product was prepared for discussion purposes only and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes.  
Milliman does not intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work.  Any 
recipient of this work product who desires professional guidance should engage qualified professionals for advice 
appropriate to its own specific needs. 

Annual Benefit 

COLA Applies to: 

COLA prior to 

SB 822 & 861 

SB 861 

COLA 

Blended  

COLA 

<$60,000 2.00% 1.25%   (20/30) x 2.00%  

+(10/30) x 1.25% 

= 1.75% 

>$60,000 2.00% 0.15%   (20/30) x 2.00%  

+(10/30) x 0.15% 

= 1.38% 



Milliman Experience Study 

 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

 

 

OREGON PUBLIC EMPLOYEES 
RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

2014 Experience Study 

Prepared by: 

Milliman, Inc. 

Matt Larrabee, FSA, EA, MAAA 

Principal and Consulting Actuary 

Scott Preppernau, FSA, EA, MAAA 

Principal and Consulting Actuary 

111 SW Fifth Avenue, Suite 3700 

Portland OR 97204-3654 

Tel +1 503 227 0634 

Fax +1 503 227 7956 

milliman.com 

 



 
 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

 

j:\orr\reports\2014 exp study.docx 

111 SW Fifth Avenue 

Suite 3700 

Portland, OR 97204 

USA 

Tel +1 503 227 0634 

Fax +1 503 227 7956 

milliman.com 

 

September 23, 2015 

Board of Trustees  
Oregon Public Employees Retirement System 
 

Re: 2014 Experience Study – Oregon Public Employees Retirement System 

Dear Members of the Board:  

The results of an actuarial valuation are based on the actuarial methods and assumptions used 
in the valuation. These methods and assumptions are used in developing employer contribution 
rates, disclosing employer liabilities pursuant to GASB requirements and for analyzing the fiscal 
impact of proposed legislative amendments. 

This experience study report has been prepared exclusively for the Oregon Public Employees 
Retirement System (PERS) and its governing PERS Board (Board). The study recommends 
to the Board the actuarial methods and assumptions to be used in the December 31, 2014 
and 2015 actuarial valuations of PERS.  

Except where otherwise noted, the analysis in this study was based on data for the experience 
period from January 1, 2011 to December 31, 2014 as provided by PERS. PERS is solely 
responsible for the validity, accuracy and comprehensiveness of this information; the results of 
our analysis can be expected to differ and may need to be revised if the underlying data 
supplied is incomplete or inaccurate.  

Milliman’s work is prepared solely for the use and benefit of the Oregon Public Employees 
Retirement System.  

Milliman does not intend to benefit or create a legal duty to any third party recipient of this 
report. No third party recipient of Milliman's work product should rely upon this report. Such 
recipients should engage qualified professionals for advice appropriate to their own specific 
needs. 

The consultants who worked on this assignment are pension actuaries and, for the analysis of 
the RHIPA program, healthcare actuaries. Milliman’s advice is not intended to be a substitute for 
qualified legal or accounting counsel.  

The signing actuaries are independent of the plan sponsor. We are not aware of any 
relationship that would impair the objectivity of our work. 

  



Board of Trustees  
Oregon Public Employees Retirement System 
September 23, 2015 
Page 2 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

 

j:\orr\reports\2014 exp study.docx 

On the basis of the foregoing, we hereby certify that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, 
this report is complete and accurate and has been prepared in accordance with generally 
recognized and accepted actuarial principles and practices. We are members of the American 
Academy of Actuaries and meet the Qualification Standards to render the actuarial opinion 
contained herein. Assumptions related to the healthcare cost inflation rates for the RHIPA 
retiree healthcare program discussed in this report were determined by Milliman actuaries 
qualified in such matters. 

Sincerely, 

 

 

Matt Larrabee, FSA, EA, MAAA  Scott Preppernau, FSA, EA, MAAA 
Principal and Consulting Actuary Principal and Consulting Actuary 

 



Milliman Experience Study 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

 

 

Table of Contents 

1. Executive Summary ................................................................................................................... 1 

2. Actuarial Methods and Allocation Procedures ........................................................................ 2 

Overview........................................................................................................................................................................... 2 

Actuarial Cost Method ..................................................................................................................................................... 4 

Amortization Method ....................................................................................................................................................... 4 

Asset Valuation Method ................................................................................................................................................... 5 

Excluded Reserves ............................................................................................................................................................ 5 

Rate Collar Method .......................................................................................................................................................... 5 

Liability Allocation for Actives with Several Employers .................................................................................................... 6 

3. Economic Assumptions ............................................................................................................ 8 

Overview........................................................................................................................................................................... 8 

Inflation ............................................................................................................................................................................ 9 

Real Wage Growth ......................................................................................................................................................... 10 

Payroll Growth ............................................................................................................................................................... 11 

Investment Return .......................................................................................................................................................... 11 

Administrative Expenses................................................................................................................................................. 14 

Healthcare Cost Trend Rates .......................................................................................................................................... 15 

4. Demographic Assumptions ..................................................................................................... 17 

Overview......................................................................................................................................................................... 17 

Mortality ........................................................................................................................................................................ 19 

Retirement Assumptions ................................................................................................................................................ 26 

Disability Incidence Assumptions ................................................................................................................................... 38 

Termination Assumptions ............................................................................................................................................... 41 

Salary Increase Assumptions .......................................................................................................................................... 44 

Retiree Healthcare Assumptions .................................................................................................................................... 48 

5. Appendix .................................................................................................................................. 50 

Data ................................................................................................................................................................................ 50 

Assumption Tables ......................................................................................................................................................... 50 

 



Milliman Experience Study 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

1 

 

1. Executive Summary 

This experience study report has been prepared exclusively for the Oregon Public Employees Retirement 

System (PERS) and the PERS Board (Board) in order to analyze the system’s experience from January 1, 

2011 through December 31, 2014 and to recommend actuarial methods and assumptions to be used in the 

December 31, 2014 and 2015 actuarial valuations of PERS.  

A brief summary of the recommended method and assumption changes contained in this report as well as 

items reviewed at the May 2015 and/or July 2015 Board meetings follows:  

Actuarial Methods  

 No changes recommended for most actuarial methods, including actuarial cost method, amortization 

method, and rate collar. 

Allocation Procedures 

 When allocating accrued liability for Tier 1/Tier 2 active members who have earned service with multiple 

PERS employers, base 75% of the allocation on service with each employer (100% for police & fire 

members) and base the rest on the member account balance associated with each employer. These 

assumptions have both increased 5% since the prior experience study. This movement illustrates the 

continued migration of projected future Tier 1/Tier 2 retirement benefits away from the Money Match 

calculation, which is based on account balances, toward the ongoing Full Formula approach, which is 

based on final average salary.  

Economic Assumptions 

 Lower the inflation assumption from 2.75% per year to 2.50% per year, which in turns lowers the annual 

system payroll growth assumption from 3.75% per year to 3.50% per year. 

 Lower the investment return assumption from the current assumption of 7.75% per year. Based on the 

current target asset allocation of the Oregon PERS Fund, analyses under three different sets of capital 

market assumptions indicate the best estimate of future expected returns falls between 7.00% and 

7.50%. At its July 2015 meeting, the Board selected an assumed return of 7.50%. 

 Add an explicit assumption regarding administrative expenses for Tier 1/Tier 2. 

 Update the assumed health cost trend rates. 

Demographic Assumptions 

 Adjust the healthy mortality assumption to reflect an updated mortality improvement scale for all groups. 

 Adjust retirement rates for most groups to more closely align with recent and expected future experience. 

 Increase the merit component of the salary increase assumption for all members based on observations 

of the last eight years of experience. 

 Update pre-retirement termination of employment assumptions for two member categories. 

 Slightly lower assumed rates of duty disability for general service members. 

 Increase the Tier 1 unused vacation cash out assumption for most categories. 

 Adjust the Tier 1/Tier 2 unused sick leave assumption for three groups to more closely reflect recently 

observed experience. 

 Decrease the healthy participation assumption for the RHIA retiree healthcare program. 

 Increase the RHIPA participation assumption for longer-service members. 

 



Milliman Experience Study   Actuarial Methods and Allocation Procedures 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

2 

 

2. Actuarial Methods and Allocation Procedures 

Overview 

Actuarial methods and allocation procedures are used as part of the valuation to determine actuarial accrued 

liabilities, to determine normal costs, to allocate costs to individual employers and to amortize unfunded 

liabilities. The following Board objectives were considered in developing the actuarial methods and allocation 

procedures: 

 Transparency of shortfall and funded status calculations  

 Predictable and stable employer contribution rates 

 Protection of the plan’s funded status to enhance benefit security for members  

 Equity across generations of taxpayers funding the program 

 Actuarial soundness - crafting policy that will fully fund the system if assumptions are met 

 Compliance with GASB (Governmental Accounting Standards Board) requirements 

The actuarial methods used for the December 31, 2013 actuarial valuation and the changes recommended 

for the December 31, 2014 and 2015 actuarial valuations are shown in the table below. 

Method December 31, 2013 Valuation 
December 31, 2014 and 2015 

Valuations 

Cost method Entry Age Normal (EAN) No change 

UAL Amortization 

method 

UAL amortized as a level percent of combined 

Tier 1/Tier 2 and OPSRP payroll 

No change 

UAL Amortization 
period 

 UAL bases – Closed amortization from the first 

rate setting valuation in which experience is 

recognized 

– Tier 1/Tier 2 – re-amortized over 20 years 
effective December 31, 2013 

– OPSRP – 16 Years 

– RHIA/RHIPA – 10 years 

 Newly established side accounts – Aligned 

with the new Tier 1/Tier 2 base from the most 

recent rate-setting valuation  

 Newly established transition liabilities or 

surpluses – 18 years from the date joining the 

SLGRP (State & Local Government Rate Pool) 

No change 

Asset valuation 
method 

Market value No change 

Exclusion of 
reserves from 
valuation assets 

Contingency Reserve, Capital Preservation 
Reserve, and Tier 1 Rate Guarantee Reserve 
(RGR) excluded from valuation assets. RGR is not 
excluded from valuation assets when RGR is 
negative (i.e., when the RGR is a deficit reserve). 

No change 



Milliman Experience Study   Actuarial Methods and Allocation Procedures 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

3 

 

Method December 31, 2013 Valuation 
December 31, 2014 and 2015 

Valuations 

Allocation of 
Benefits in Force 
(BIF) Reserve 

The BIF is allocated to each rate pool in proportion 
to the retiree liability attributable to the rate pool. 

No change 

Rate collar  Change in base contribution rate limited (i.e., 

collared) to greater of 20% of current base rate or 

3% of payroll. Size of collar doubles if funded 

percentage excluding side accounts falls below 

60% or increases above 140%. If the funded 

percentage excluding side accounts is between 

60% and 70% or between 130% and 140%, the 

size of the rate collar is increased on a graded 

scale. Exclude RHIA and RHIPA (retiree medical) 

rates from the rate collar calculation. 

No change 

Liability allocation 
for actives with 
several 
employers  

 Allocate Actuarial Accrued Liability 30% (5% 

for police & fire) based on account balance 

with each employer and 70% (95% for police & 

fire) based on service with each employer 

Change allocation to 25% (0% for 
police & fire) based on account 
balance and 75% (100% for police 
& fire) based on service with each 
employer. 

 Allocate Normal Cost to current employer No change 

The methods or procedures are described in greater detail on the following pages. 

  



Milliman Experience Study   Actuarial Methods and Allocation Procedures 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

4 

 

Actuarial Cost Method 

The total cost of the program, over time, will be equal to the benefits paid less investment earnings and is not 

affected directly by the actuarial cost method. The actuarial cost method is simply a tool to allocate costs to 

past, current or future years and thus primarily affects the timing of cost recognition.  

The December 31, 2013 valuation used the Entry Age Normal (EAN) method, which allocates costs as a level 

percentage of payroll across the full projected working career. EAN is the required method under the recently 

implemented GASB 67 and 68 financial reporting standards, though the Board could choose to use a different 

method for employer contribution rate calculations. Oregon PERS adopted EAN for all purposes with the 

December 31, 2012 valuation. Employing a consistent method for both financial reporting and contributions is 

more understandable to interested parties as only one set of liability and normal cost calculations will be 

made for each employer. The EAN approach is widely used in the actuarial and public plan sponsor 

community because it provides a realistic estimate of the long-term costs of a retirement program as a level 

percentage of payroll if all assumptions are met. The benefits of this method are unchanged from when the 

Board previously adopted it, and thus we recommend continuing to use the EAN cost method. 

Amortization Method 

Unfunded Actuarial Liability 

The unfunded actuarial liability (UAL) is amortized as a level percentage of combined payroll (Tier 1/Tier 2 

plus OPSRP) in order to maintain more level contribution rates as payroll for the closed group of Tier 1/Tier 2 

members declines and payroll of OPSRP members increases. We recommend this methodology continue. 

The UAL is currently amortized over the following closed periods as a level percent of projected payroll from 

the first rate-setting valuation in which the experience is recognized: 

 Tier 1/Tier 2 – 20 years 

 OPSRP – 16 years 

 RHIA/RHIPA – 10 years 

As part of a collection of method changes made with the 2012 Experience Study, the Board made a policy 

decision to re-amortize all existing Tier 1/Tier 2 shortfall (unfunded actuarial liability or UAL) at the December 

31, 2013 rate-setting actuarial valuation. Gains and losses between subsequent rate-setting valuations will be 

amortized as a level percentage of payroll over a closed 20 year period from the valuation in which they are 

first recognized.  

Side Accounts and Transition Liabilities/Surpluses 

Prior to the 2010 Experience Study, side accounts and transition liabilities/surpluses were amortized over the 

period ending December 31, 2027. To better match the amortization periods for new side accounts and new 

transition liabilities with the amortization of the Tier 1/Tier 2 UAL and to avoid issues related to a shortening 

amortization period, as part of the 2010 Experience Study the PERS Board adopted the following amortization 

procedures which are not tied to a fixed date: 

 Newly established side accounts are amortized over the same period as the new Tier 1/Tier 2 UAL base 

from the most recent rate-setting valuation. For example, a side account created in July 2015 would be 

amortized to December 31, 2033, aligned with the Tier 1/Tier 2 UAL base created in the December 31, 

2013 valuation. 



Milliman Experience Study   Actuarial Methods and Allocation Procedures 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

5 

 

 New transition liabilities/surpluses are amortized over the 18 year period beginning when the employer 

joins the SLGRP. This amortization period aligns with the last Tier 1/Tier 2 amortization base established 

as an independent employer. 

 

We recommend no change to the amortization method or periods of side accounts and new transition 

liabilities/surpluses. 

Asset Valuation Method 

Effective December 31, 2004, the Board adopted market value as the actuarial value of assets, replacing the 

four-year smoothing method previously used to determine the actuarial asset value, which is used for shortfall 

(UAL) calculations. Although asset smoothing is a common method for smoothing contribution rates in public 

sector plans, the smoothed asset value does not provide a transparent measure of the plan’s funded status 

and UAL. Market value provides more transparency to members and other interested parties regarding the 

funded status of the plan. Instead of smoothing assets, a rate collar method (described below) is used to 

smooth contribution rates. 

We recommend no change to the asset valuation method. 

Excluded Reserves 

Statute provides that the Board may establish Contingency and Capital Preservation reserve accounts to 

mitigate gains and losses of invested capital and other contingencies, including certain legal expenses or 

judgments. In addition, statute requires the establishment and maintenance of a Rate Guarantee or Deficit 

reserve to fund earnings crediting to Tier 1 member regular accounts when actual earnings are below the 

investment return assumption selected by the Board.  

The Contingency and Capital Preservation reserves are excluded from the valuation assets used for employer 

rate-setting calculations. We recommend no change to the treatment of the Contingency and Capital 

Preservation reserves. 

The Rate Guarantee Reserve (RGR) was positive as of December 31, 2013, but can become negative (in 

deficit status) if, over time, the required crediting on Tier 1 member accounts exceeds the investment 

earnings on those accounts. The RGR was negative from the December 31, 2008 valuation to the December 

31, 2012 valuation. All else being equal, excluding a negative reserve increases the level of valuation assets 

used in employer rate-setting calculations. This occurs because subtracting a negative amount is 

mathematically equivalent to adding a positive amount of the same magnitude. If the negative reserve was 

larger in absolute value than the sum of the other reserves, this approach would lead to the actuarial value of 

assets used in shortfall (UAL) calculations being larger than the market value of assets.  

As part of the 2010 Experience Study, the Board decided to only exclude the RGR from assets when it is in 

positive surplus position, and to not subtract a negative RGR (which would increase the actuarial value of 

assets) when it is in deficit status. We recommend this treatment of the RGR continue. 

Rate Collar Method 

Effective December 31, 2004, a rate collar method was adopted that limits biennium to biennium changes in 

contribution rates to be within a specified “collar”. The existing rate collar method restricts the change in an 

employer’s “base” Tier 1/Tier 2 contribution rate (i.e., the rate before contemplation of side account rate 

offsets or rate adjustments for any pre-pooled obligations) to the greater of 20 percent of the current rate or 



Milliman Experience Study   Actuarial Methods and Allocation Procedures 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

6 

 

3% of payroll. If the funded status excluding side accounts is less than 60% or greater than 140%, the size of 

the rate collar is doubled. If the funded percentage excluding side accounts is between 60% and 70% or 

between 130% and 140%, the size of the rate collar is increased on a graded scale.  

The rate collar is applied for each employer (or rate pool) prior to any adjustments to the employer 

contribution rate for side accounts, transition liabilities, or pre-SLGRP pooled liabilities. The rate collar only 

applies to employer contribution rates for pension benefits. Rates attributable to RHIA and RHIPA (retiree 

medical) programs are not subject to the collar. 

Liability Allocation for Actives with Several Employers 

Over the course of a member’s working career, a member may work for more than one employer covered 

under the Tier 1/Tier 2 program. Since employer contribution rates are developed on an individual employer 

basis, the member’s liability should be allocated between such a member’s various Tier 1/Tier 2 employers. If 

all of the member’s employers participate in the same rate pool, the allocation has no effect on rates, but if the 

employers participate in different pools or are independent, the allocation can have an impact on the different 

employers’ rates. 

When a member retires, PERS allocates the cost of the retirement benefit between the employers the 

member worked for based on the formula that produces the member’s retirement benefit. If the member’s 

benefit is calculated under the Money Match approach, the cost is allocated in proportion to the member’s 

account balance attributable to each employer. If the member’s benefit is calculated under the percent of final 

average pay Full Formula approach, the cost is allocated in proportion to the service attributable to each 

employer. 

In the period prior to the 2003 system reforms and shortly thereafter, the vast majority of retirement benefits 

were calculated under Money Match, so the member liability in valuations prior to December 31, 2006 had 

been allocated in proportion to the member’s account balance attributable to each employer. With no new 

member contributions to Tier 1/Tier 2, however, this procedure meant no liability was allocated to employers 

for service after December 31, 2003 in the valuation. As Money Match benefits became less dominant and 

retirements with Full Formula benefits become more prevalent, a change in the procedure to allocate liability 

among employers was warranted.  

Effective with the December 31, 2006 valuation, a change was made to allocate a member’s actuarial 

accrued liability among employers based on a weighted average of the Money Match methodology, which 

utilizes account balance, and the Full Formula methodology, which utilizes service. The methodologies were 

weighted according to the percentage of the system-wide actuarial accrued liability for new retirements 

projected to be attributable to Money Match and Full Formula, respectively, as of the next rate-setting 

valuation. For the December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2013 valuations, the Money Match method was 

weighted 70 percent for general service members and 5 percent for police & fire members. 

The table below shows a summary of the portion of the total actuarial liability for Tier 1/Tier 2 active members 

estimated to be attributable to Money Match benefits at the most recent published valuation date and how that 

proportion is projected to change in subsequent years. 



Milliman Experience Study   Actuarial Methods and Allocation Procedures 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

7 

 

December 31, General Service Police & Fire 

2013 27% 4% 

2014 25% 3% 

2015 24% 3% 

2016 22% 2% 

Since the next rate-setting valuation is the December 31, 2015 valuation, we recommend the Money Match 

method be weighted 25 percent for general service members. This weighting will continue to be reviewed with 

each experience study and updated as necessary. For police & fire members we recommend the allocation 

be based entirely on the Full Formula approach, now that the Money Match portion is less than 5% and 

declining. 

As in prior valuations, the member’s normal cost will continue to be assigned to his or her current employer.  

 



Milliman Experience Study   Economic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

8 

 

3. Economic Assumptions 

Overview 

Actuarial Standard of Practice (ASOP) No. 27, Selection of Economic Assumptions for Measuring Pension 

Obligations, provides guidance on selecting economic assumptions used in measuring obligations under 

defined benefit pension plans. ASOP No. 27 suggests that economic assumptions be developed using the 

actuary’s professional judgment, taking into consideration past experience and the actuary’s expectations 

regarding the future. The process for selecting economic assumptions involves: 

 Identifying components of each assumption and evaluating relevant data 

 Considering factors specific to the measurement along with other general factors 

 Selecting a reasonable assumption 

Under ASOP No. 27, an assumption is considered reasonable if: 

 It is appropriate for the purpose of the measurement, 

 It reflects the actuary’s professional judgment, 

 It takes into account relevant historical and current economic data, 

 It reflects the actuary’s estimate of future experience, the actuary’s observation of estimates inherent in 

market data, or a combination thereof, and 

 It has no significant bias, except when provisions for adverse deviation are included and disclosed. 

A summary of the economic assumptions used for the December 31, 2013 actuarial valuation and those 

recommended for the December 31, 2014 and 2015 actuarial valuations is shown below: 

Assumption 
December 31, 2013 

Valuation 
December 31, 2014 and 2015 

Valuations 

Inflation (other than healthcare) 2.75% 2.50% 

Real wage growth 1.00% No Change 

Payroll growth 3.75% 3.50% 

Regular investment return 7.75% 7.50% (selected by the Board at 
the July 2015 Board meeting) 

Variable account investment return Same as regular 
investment return 

Same as regular investment 
return 

Tier 1/Tier 2 administrative expenses N/A $33.0 million/year 

OPSRP administrative expenses $5.5 million/year $5.5 million/year 

Healthcare cost inflation rates 

 2015 rate 

 Ultimate inflation rate 

 Year reaching ultimate rate 

 

5.90% 

4.70% 

2083 

 

7.00% 

4.40% 

2094 

The recommended assumptions shown above, in our opinion, were selected in a manner consistent with the 

requirements of ASOP No. 27. Each of the above assumptions is described in detail below and on the 

following pages. 



Milliman Experience Study   Economic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

9 

 

Inflation 

The assumed inflation rate is the basis for all of the other economic assumptions. It affects other assumptions 

including payroll growth, investment return, and healthcare inflation.  

  

 

In selecting an appropriate inflation assumption, we consider both historical data and the breakeven inflation 

rates inherent in current long-term Treasury Inflation Protection Securities (TIPS). The chart above shows the 

annual inflation rate for the years ending December 31 from 1935 through 2014 as reported by the Bureau of 

Labor Statistics. The mean and median annual rates over this period are 3.64 percent and 2.96 percent 

respectively. 

Historical inflation rates vary significantly from period to period and may not be an indication of future inflation 

rates. With the development of a TIPS market, we can calculate an estimated breakeven inflation rate by 

comparing yields on regular Treasury securities to the yields on TIPS. The table below shows yields as of 

December 31, 2014, for 10-year and 30-year Treasury bonds and TIPS. 

As of 12/31/2014 10-Year 30-Year 

Treasury Yield 2.17% 2.75% 

TIPS Yield 0.49% 0.83% 

Breakeven Inflation 1.68% 1.92% 

We also considered two other inflation measures in our analysis: Social Security’s intermediate inflation 

projection of 2.54 percent over the period 2015-2025 (with an ultimate rate of 2.70 percent), and the 

Congressional Budget Office’s projection of CPI of an average of 2.25 percent inflation over the period 2015-

2025. These measures were taken from the 2014 versions of the OASDI and CBO reports, which were the 

most current available at the time the analysis was performed. 

Based on the information shown above, we recommend lowering inflation assumption from the current level of 

2.75 percent to 2.50 percent. Based on a combination of historical and market data and expert forecasts, our 

judgment is that 2.50 percent is an appropriate unbiased long-term assumption. 



Milliman Experience Study   Economic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

10 

 

Real Wage Growth 

The expected salary growth assumption is the sum of three factors: 

 Inflation, 

 Real wage growth, and  

 Merit and longevity wage growth. 

Real wage growth represents the increase in wages above inflation for the entire group due to improvements 

in productivity and competitive pressures. Merit and longevity wage growth, in contrast, represent the 

increases in wages for an individual due to factors such as performance, promotion, or seniority. 

Real wage growth combined with inflation represents the expected growth in total payroll for a stable 

population. Changes in payroll due to an increase or decline in the covered population are not captured by 

this assumption. The payroll growth assumption is used to develop the annual amount necessary to amortize 

the unfunded actuarial liability as a level percentage of expected payroll. 

The chart below shows the real growth in national average wages over the past fifty years based on data 

compiled by the Social Security Administration.  

 

While the change in any one year has been volatile, the change over longer periods of time is more stable as 

shown in the table below. However, the significant outlier result of a 4.1 percent productivity decrease in 2009 

(measuring change in national average wages from 2008 to 2009) has a strong downward impact on the 

trailing averages shown in the table below. For example, the 10 year trailing average ending on December 31, 

2008, is 1.11 percent. 



Milliman Experience Study   Economic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

11 

 

Length of Period 
Ending December 31, 2013 

Average Real Growth in 
National Average Wages 

10 years 0.41% 

20 years 0.97% 

30 years 0.83% 

40 years 0.40% 

50 years 0.61% 

We also considered the Social Security Administration’s current long-term intermediate wage growth 

assumption of 1.13 percent in our analysis. 

Based on the combination of historical data and forecasted future experience, we consider the current 

assumption of 1.00 percent to continue to be appropriate. We recommend no change to the assumption at 

this time. 

Payroll Growth 

Payroll growth is the sum of inflation and real wage growth. Since we are recommending lowering the inflation 

assumption 25 basis point and making no change to the real wage growth assumption, the payroll growth 

assumption will be reduced from 3.75 percent to 3.50 percent. 

Investment Return 

The assumed rate of investment return is used to discount the future projected benefit payments from the 

retirement plan to the valuation date, to project interest credits on member accounts to retirement, to convert 

member accounts to a monthly retirement allowance under the Money Match formula, and to convert the 

retirement allowance to optional joint & survivor benefits. As such, it is one of the most important assumptions 

used in valuing the plan’s liabilities and developing contribution rates. The assumption is intended to reflect 

the long-term expected future return on the portfolio of assets that fund the benefits. 

To provide some perspective on this assumption, the chart below shows the assumptions used by the 126 

largest US public sector systems in a regularly updated survey published by the National Association of State 

Retirement Administrators (NASRA). As can be seen from the chart (updated in NASRA’s May 2015 Issue 

Brief), the Oregon PERS assumption of 7.75% used in the prior valuation is currently the median assumption 

for large US public sector systems. The majority of systems have investment return assumptions below 8%. 

The average (mean) return assumption is 7.68%. Given the consensus view among investment professionals 

regarding lower long-term expected returns for fixed income investments, we believe that this downward trend 

in the survey will continue in the future as systems periodically revisit their investment return assumptions. 

  



Milliman Experience Study   Economic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

12 

 

NASRA Public Fund Survey 

Assumed Investment Return 

 

Regular Accounts 

Based on the Oregon Investment Council’s (OIC) Statement of Investment Objectives and Policy Framework 

for the Oregon Public Employees Retirement Fund revised as of December 3, 2014 and the revised allocation 

adopted at the June 3, 2015 OIC meeting, we understand the target asset allocation adopted by the OIC is as 

follows: 

 



Milliman Experience Study   Economic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

13 

 

To develop an analytical basis for the Board’s selection of the investment return assumption, we use long-

term assumptions developed by Milliman’s capital market assumptions team for each of the asset classes in 

which the plan is invested based on the OIC’s long-term target asset allocation. Since the OIC uses broader 

asset classes than those for which Milliman’s investment actuaries develop long-term return assumptions, we 

used OIC’s description of each asset class to map it to the classes shown below. For example, the OIC’s 

allocation to “alternatives” was distributed among hedge funds, real estate, and commodities based on the 

detail available. Each asset class assumption is based on a consistent set of underlying assumptions, 

including the inflation assumption. These assumptions are not based on historical returns, but instead are 

based on a forward-looking capital market economic model. Based on the target allocation and investment 

return assumptions for each of the asset classes, our 50
th
 percentile best estimate assumption is developed 

as follows: 

Asset Class 
Target 

Allocation 

Annual 
Arithmetic 

Mean 

20-Year 
Annualized 
Geometric 

Mean 

Annual 
Standard 
Deviation 

Core Fixed Income 8.00% 4.10% 4.00% 4.68% 

Short-Term Bonds 8.00% 3.65% 3.61% 2.74% 

Bank/Leveraged Loans 3.00% 5.69% 5.42% 7.82% 

High Yield Bonds 1.00% 6.67% 6.20% 10.28% 

Large/Mid Cap US Equities 15.75% 7.96% 6.70% 17.07% 

Small Cap US Equities 1.31% 8.93% 6.99% 21.35% 

Micro Cap US Equities 1.31% 9.37% 7.01% 23.72% 

Developed Foreign Equities 13.13% 8.34% 6.73% 19.40% 

Emerging Market Equities 4.13% 10.56% 7.25% 28.45% 

Non-US Small Cap Equities 1.88% 9.01% 7.22% 20.55% 

Private Equity 17.50% 11.60% 7.97% 30.00% 

Real Estate (Property) 10.00% 6.48% 5.84% 12.00% 

Real Estate (REITS) 2.50% 8.74% 6.69% 22.02% 

Hedge Fund of Funds - Diversified 2.50% 4.94% 4.64% 8.09% 

Hedge Fund – Event-driven 0.63% 7.07% 6.72% 8.90% 

Timber 1.88% 6.60% 5.85% 13.00% 

Farmland 1.88% 7.11% 6.37% 13.00% 

Infrastructure 3.75% 8.31% 7.13% 16.50% 

Commodities 1.88% 6.07% 4.58% 18.40% 

Portfolio – Net of 
Investment Expenses 

100.00% 7.80 % 7.03%* 13.27% 

*The model’s 20-year annualized geometric median is 6.99%. 

Based on capital market expectations developed by Milliman. 

  



Milliman Experience Study   Economic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

14 

 

We compared the expected return to the range of returns developed using a mean-variance model and the 

capital market assumptions of Milliman and Callan, the OIC’s investment consultant.  In addition, we modeled 

the returns projected for the OIC’s asset allocation using the 10-year capital market assumptions from the 

2014 Survey of Capital Market Assumptions published by Horizon Actuarial Services, LLC.  Returns shown 

below are net of passive investment expenses. We assume that expenses incurred for active management 

are offset by additional returns gained from active management.  

The table below compares the median of expected annualized returns calculated on a geometric basis for the 

Regular Account based on Milliman’s and Callan’s capital market assumptions, along with the average 

assumptions from the Horizon survey. 

 Milliman Callan Horizon 

Median annualized geometric return 6.99% 7.51% 7.25% 

Assumed inflation 2.50% 2.25% 2.41% 

Timeframe modeled 20 years 10 – 20 years 10 years 

 

Based on the capital market outlooks modeled above, we believe the investment return assumption should be 

reduced from the current 7.75% assumption. An assumption between 7.00% and 7.50% would be 

reasonable, based on the forward-looking return expectations of the investment professionals considered, 

and before any potential active management adjustments. Based on discussion at the July 31, 2015 PERS 

Board meeting, the Board adopted an assumption of 7.50%. 

Variable Account 

The variable account is invested entirely in Public Equities. As a result, the annual expected arithmetic return 

is significantly higher than for the regular account, but so is the standard deviation. The result is a long-term 

compounded geometric annual return similar to the regular account, based on Milliman’s capital market 

assumptions. Prior to the December 31, 2012 valuation, the compound geometric variable account return was 

assumed to be higher than the regular account return. Beginning with that valuation, the variable account 

return assumption was set equal to the regular account return assumption, as the relationship between the 

various asset classes no longer warranted such a distinction.  We recommend continuing to set the variable 

account return assumption equal to the regular account return assumption. 

Administrative Expenses 

In the mature Tier 1/Tier 2 program, administrative expenses are modest compared to program asset levels. 

As such, in prior valuations, administrative expenses for Tier 1/Tier 2 were estimated by a 5 basis point 

adjustment to the expected plan investment return. In contrast, administrative expenses for the relatively new 

OPSRP program are significant in comparison to OPSRP assets. As such, the recent valuations included an 

explicit administrative expense assumption for the OPSRP program, but not for the Tier 1/Tier 2 program.  

Recently implemented GASB Statements No. 67 and No. 68 specifically require the long-term investment 

return assumption to be developed gross of administrative expenses. As a result, we will no longer reflect an 

adjustment for Tier 1/Tier 2 administrative expenses in the expected investment return, and will develop 

explicit administrative expense assumptions for both Tier 1/Tier 2 and OPSRP. 

  



Milliman Experience Study   Economic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

15 

 

The OPSRP assumed administrative expenses in the December 31, 2013 valuation were $5.5 million per 

year. A summary of recent actual administrative expenses for both Tier 1/Tier 2 and OPSRP is shown below. 

 Tier 1/Tier 2 OPSRP 

Year 

Dollar 
Amount 

($ millions) 

Percentage of 
Beginning of 
Year Assets 

Dollar 
Amount 

($ millions) 

Percentage of 
Beginning of 
Year Assets 

2010 $22.8 0.05% $6.1 1.37% 

2011 $22.2 0.05% $6.9 1.05% 

2012 $26.4 0.06% $5.3 0.63% 

2013 $29.6 0.06% $4.5 0.38% 

2014 $30.1 0.06% $5.0 0.30% 

Based on PERS financial reporting information reviewed as part of this study, we recommend setting the 

assumed actual administrative expenses for 2015 and 2016 at $33.0 million for Tier 1/Tier 2 and maintaining 

the current assumption of $5.5 million for OPSRP. 

Healthcare Cost Trend Rates 

Healthcare cost trend rates are used to estimate increases in the employer cost of the RHIPA subsidy. Based 

on analysis performed by Milliman’s healthcare actuaries, we recommend the following change to the 

healthcare cost trend assumption. These rates include consideration of the excise tax that will be introduced 

in 2018 by the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act. 

Note that the following chart shows sample rates. A full chart can be found in the appendices. 

Year
1
 

December 31, 2012 and 
2013 Valuations 

December 31, 2014 and 
2015 Valuations 

2013 8.0% N/A 

2014 6.1% N/A 

2015 5.9% 7.0% 

2016 5.5% 6.3% 

2017 6.2% 6.0% 

2018 5.9% 5.4% 

2019 5.8% 5.3% 

2020 5.9% 5.4% 

2021 6.0% 5.4% 

2022 6.0% 5.4% 

2023 6.5% 5.4% 

2024 6.9% 5.4% 

                                                

1 For valuation purposes, the health cost trend rates are assumed to be applied at the beginning of the plan year. 



Milliman Experience Study   Economic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

16 

 

Year
1
 

December 31, 2012 and 
2013 Valuations 

December 31, 2014 and 
2015 Valuations 

2025 6.9% 5.5% 

2030 6.6% 6.4% 

2035 6.4% 6.3% 

2040 5.9% 5.9% 

2045 5.7% 5.7% 

2050 5.6% 5.5% 

2060 5.5% 5.4% 

2070 5.3% 4.6% 

2080 4.9% 4.5% 

2090 4.7% 4.5% 

2094+ 4.7% 4.4% 

 



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

17 

 

4. Demographic Assumptions 

Overview 

Actuarial Standard of Practice (ASOP) No. 35, Selection of Demographic and Other Noneconomic 

Assumptions for Measuring Pension Obligations, provides guidance on selecting demographic assumptions 

used in measuring obligations under defined benefit pension plans. The general process for recommending 

demographic assumptions as defined in ASOP No. 35 is as follows: 

 Identify the types of assumptions; 

 Consider the relevant assumption universe; 

 Consider the assumption format; 

 Select the specific assumptions; and 

 Evaluate the reasonableness of the selected assumption. 

The purpose of the demographic experience study is to compare actual experience against expected 

experience based on the assumptions used in the most recent actuarial valuation. The observation period 

used in this study is January 1, 2011 through December 31, 2014, and the current assumptions are those 

adopted by the Board for the December 31, 2013 actuarial valuation. If the actual experience differs 

significantly from the overall expected experience, or if the pattern of actual decrements by age, sex, or 

duration does not follow the expected pattern, new assumptions are considered. 

Confidence intervals have been used to measure observed experience against current assumptions to 

determine the reasonableness of the assumption. The floating bars represent the 50 percent and 90 percent 

confidence intervals around the observed experience. The 90 percent confidence interval represents the 

range around the observed rate that could be expected to contain the true rate during the period of study with 

90 percent probability. The size of the confidence interval depends on the number of observations and the 

likelihood of occurrence. If an assumption is outside the 90 percent confidence interval and there is no other 

information to explain the observed experience, a change in assumption should be considered. A sample 

graph with confidence intervals is shown below: 

 

 

  



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

18 

 

Overview (continued) 

 

The demographic assumptions used for the December 31, 2013 actuarial valuation and the recommended 

assumptions for the December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2015 actuarial valuations are shown in detail in 

the following sections.  

A summary of the changes recommended to the Board are as follows: 

 Adjust the healthy mortality assumption to reflect an updated mortality improvement scale for all groups. 

 Adjust retirement rates for most groups modestly to more closely align with recent and expected future 

experience. 

 Increase the merit component of the salary increase assumption for all members based on observations 

of the last eight years of experience. 

 Update pre-retirement termination of employment assumptions for two member categories. 

 Slightly lower assumed rates of duty disability for general service members. 

 Update the Tier 1 unused vacation cash out assumption for most categories. The recommendations 

increase the Tier 1 unused vacation cash out assumption based on recent experience. 

 Adjust the Tier 1/Tier 2 unused sick leave assumption for three groups to more closely reflect recently 

observed experience. 

 Decrease the healthy participation assumption for the RHIA retiree healthcare programs. 

 Increase the participation assumption for the RHIPA retiree healthcare program for longer-service 

members. 

The recommended assumptions, in our opinion, were selected in a manner consistent with the requirements 

of ASOP No. 35. 

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

50% Confidence

Interval

90% Confidence

Interval

If the current 
assumption is outside 

the 90 percent 
confidence interval, a 

change should be 
considered. 



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

19 

 

Mortality  

Mortality rates are used to project the length of time benefits will be paid to current and future retirees and 

beneficiaries. The selection of a mortality assumption affects plan liabilities because the estimated value of 

retiree benefits depends on how long the benefit payments are expected to continue. There are clear 

differences in the mortality rates among healthy retired members, disabled retired members, and non-retired 

members. As a result, each of these groups is reviewed independently.  

A summary of the current assumed mortality rates and recommended changes is shown below:  

Assumption December 31, 2013 Valuation 
Recommended December 31, 

2014 and 2015 Valuations 

Healthy Annuitant Mortality RP2000 Generational with Scale 
AA, Combined Active/Healthy 
Annuitant, Sex Distinct 

RP2000 Generational with Scale 
BB, Combined Active/Healthy 
Annuitant, Sex Distinct 

 School District male No collar, set back 24 months No change to collar adjustment or 
set back 

 Other General Service 
male (and male 
beneficiary) 

Blended 25% blue collar/75% white 
collar, set back 12 months 

No change to collar adjustment or 
set back 

 Police & Fire male Blended 25% blue collar/75% white 
collar, set back 12 months 

No change to collar adjustment or 
set back 

 School District female White collar, set back 24 months No collar, set back 24 months 

 Other female (and female 
beneficiary) 

White collar, no setback Blended 25% blue collar/75% white 
collar, no setback  

Disabled Retiree Mortality RP 2000 Static, Disabled, No Collar, 
Sex distinct 

RP 2000 Generational with Scale 
BB, Disabled, No Collar, Sex 
distinct 

 Male 65% of Disabled table, but not less 
than corresponding healthy annuitant 
rates 

70% of Disabled table, but not less 
than corresponding healthy annuitant 
rates 

 Female 90% of Disabled table, but not less 
than corresponding healthy annuitant 
rates 

95% of Disabled table, but not less 
than corresponding healthy annuitant 
rates 

Non-Annuitant Mortality Fixed Percentage of Healthy 
Annuitant Mortality 

No change 

 School District male 70% 60% 

 Other General Service 
male  

85% 75% 

 Police & Fire male 95% 75% 

 School District female 60% 55% 

 Other female 55% 60% 

 

  



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

20 

 

Mortality (continued) 

Healthy Annuitant Mortality 

Mortality assumptions for healthy retired members are separated into five groups based on employment 

category and gender (school district males, school district females, police & fire males, other general service 

males, all other females). Experience for female police & fire members was not sufficient for them to be rated 

on their own, so they were combined with non-school district general service females.  

Mortality rates are expected to continue to decrease in the future, and the resulting increased longevity should 

be anticipated in the actuarial valuation. For Oregon PERS, this is done through the use of a generational 

mortality table. A generational mortality table anticipates future improvements in mortality by using a different 

static mortality table for each year of birth, with the tables for later years of birth assuming lower mortality than 

the tables for earlier years of birth.  

To assist in review of the current mortality assumption’s reasonability, we calculated the ratio of actual deaths 

to expected deaths (A/E ratio) during the experience study period for each of the five groups described above. 

With a generational mortality table, we generally targeted A/E ratios of near 100 percent in previous studies. 

   Current Assumption 
Recommended 

Assumption 

 Exposures 
Actual 
Deaths 

Expected 
Deaths A/E Ratio 

Expected 
Deaths A/E Ratio 

School District male 62,018 1,758 1,796 98% 1,717 102% 

Other General Service 
male 

99,915 3,015 3,077 98% 2,931 103% 

Police & Fire male 23,670 424 416 102% 408 104% 

School District Female 131,204 2,999 2,946 102% 2,906 103% 

Other female  133,632 3,728 3,817 98% 3,640 102% 

The A/E ratios for all of the groups were near 100 percent, which indicates the current assumptions have 

tracked recent experience well in aggregate. However, based on recently-concluded studies prepared by the 

Society of Actuaries (SOA), we recommend updating the mortality improvement scale used to project future 

mortality from the current Scale AA to Scale BB. The SOA’s research, based upon analysis of large amounts 

of Social Security data, indicates that Scale AA no longer would constitute the “best actuarial information on 

mortality at the time” as mandated by ORS 238.607. 

In this study, we recommend targeting an A/E ratio with a margin slightly above 100 percent (from 102 to 104 

percent). This margin is intended as an allowance for the fact that our analysis uses a headcount-weighted 

approach, rather than a benefits-weighted approach which might produce moderately lower weighted 

mortality rates.  

  



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

21 

 

Mortality (continued) 

 

The RP 2000 generational mortality table has a number of adjustments that can be applied to match the 

mortality rates of Oregon PERS. At times we use a “set back” to adjust the mortality rates. A “set back” of 12 

months, for example, treats all members as if they were 12 months younger than they really are when 

applying the mortality table, which results in lower assumed mortality rates for members. In addition to a “set 

back,” we have also applied a collar adjustment as defined in the RP 2000 table. Essentially, a “white collar” 

adjustment further reduces the rates of mortality while a “blue collar” adjustment increases the rates of 

mortality. The basic table reflects a blend of approximately 55 percent “white collar” and 45 percent “blue 

collar.” Please note that “white collar” and “blue collar” are used in this context only to describe the 

adjustments made to the RP 2000 generational mortality table and are not intended to classify any members 

as either “blue collar” or “white collar.” 

  



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

22 

 

Mortality (continued) 

A summary of the current and recommended healthy retiree mortality assumptions is shown below: 

 December 31, 2013 Valuation 
Recommended December 31, 

2014 and 2015 Valuations 

Basic Table RP2000 Generational with Scale AA, 
Combined Active/Healthy 
Annuitant, Sex Distinct 

RP2000 Generational with Scale 
BB, Combined Active/Healthy 
Annuitant, Sex Distinct 

School District male No collar, set back 24 months No change to collar adjustment or set 
back 

Other General Service male 

(and male beneficiary) 

Blended 25% blue collar/75% white 
collar, set back 12 months 

No change to collar adjustment or set 
back 

Police & Fire male Blended 25% blue collar/75% white 
collar, set back 12 months 

No change to collar adjustment or set 
back 

School District female White collar, set back 24 months No collar, set back 24 months 

Other female 

(and female beneficiary) 

White collar, no setback Blended 25% blue collar/75% white 
collar, no setback 

Disabled Retiree Mortality 

Disabled members are expected to experience higher mortality rates at a given age than healthy retired 

members. In the past, disabled mortality was not expected to improve over time as significantly as healthy 

mortality. As a result, the current assumption does not use generational mortality for disabled retirees. 

However, based on recent studies performed by the Social Security Administration and the Society of 

Actuaries, it is now reasonable to assume continued improvement in disabled mortality as is standard for 

healthy mortality. We now recommend updating the disabled mortality assumption to reflect generational 

mortality improvement. 

 Exposures 
Actual 
Deaths 

December 31, 2013 
Valuation 

Recommended 
December 31, 2014 

and 2015 Valuations 

Expected 
Deaths A/E Ratio 

Expected 
Deaths A/E Ratio 

Male 8,164 300 312 96% 291 103% 

Female 9,328 265 286 93% 253 101% 

 

  



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

23 

 

Mortality (continued) 

 

A summary of current and recommended disabled retiree mortality assumptions is shown below: 

 December 31, 2013 Valuation 
Recommended December 31, 2014 

and 2015 Valuations 

Basic Table RP 2000 Static, Disabled, No Collar, 
Sex distinct 

RP 2000 Generational with Scale BB, 
Disabled, No Collar, Sex distinct 

Male 65% of Disabled table, but not less than 
corresponding healthy annuitant rates 

70% of Disabled table, but not less than 
corresponding healthy annuitant rates 

Female 90% of Disabled table, but not less than 
corresponding healthy annuitant rates 

95% of Disabled table, but not less than 
corresponding healthy annuitant rates 

Non-Annuitant Mortality 

The non-annuitant mortality assumption applies to active members and dormant members (those members 

who have terminated employment but are vested and entitled to a future benefit), and is a fixed percentage of 

the healthy annuitant mortality rates. Because the healthy annuitant mortality assumptions have changed for 

all groups, the associated non-annuitant mortality assumptions have also changed. The analysis below 

compares the current fixed percentages as applied to the recommended healthy annuitant mortality 

assumptions to determine if a change also needs to be made in the fixed percentages for each of the groups. 

A/E ratios for non-annuitants have been targeted around 100 percent.  

  



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

24 

 

Mortality (continued) 

   
December 31, 2013 

Valuation 

Recommended 
December 31, 2014 

and 2015 Valuations 

 Exposures 
Actual 
Deaths 

Expected 
Deaths A/E Ratio 

Expected 
Deaths A/E Ratio 

School District male 81,602 113 132 85% 113 99% 

Other General 
Service male 

177,419 370 415 89% 366 101% 

Police & Fire male 50,284 56 76 74% 60 93% 

School District female 237,658 229 244 94% 224 102% 

Other female 265,198 327 308 106% 336 97% 

With the very limited number of non-retired deaths in the experience period, the A/E ratio tends to fluctuate, 

particularly for police & fire males. Since the underlying annuitant mortality table was changed for all groups 

with the introduction of mortality projection Scale BB, the percentage factors used for active mortality were all 

updated at the same time. 

 

  



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

25 

 

Mortality (continued) 

A summary of the current and recommended non-retired mortality assumptions is shown below: 

 December 31, 2013 Valuation 
Recommended December 31, 

2014 and 2015 Valuations 

Basic Assumption Fixed Percentage of Healthy  
Annuitant Mortality 

No change 

School District male 70% 60% 

Other General Service male  85% 75% 

Police & Fire male 95% 75% 

School District female 60% 55% 

Other female 55% 60% 

 

  



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

26 

 

Retirement Assumptions 

The retirement assumptions used in the actuarial valuation include the following assumptions: 

 Retirement from active status 

 Probability a member will elect a lump sum option at retirement 

 Percentage of members who elect to purchase credited service at retirement. 

Retirement from Active Status 

Members are eligible to retire as early as age 55 (50 for police & fire members) or earlier if the member has 

30 years of service. In our analysis, we have found significant differences in the retirement patterns based on 

length of service, employment category (general service or police & fire), and eligibility for unreduced benefits.  

A summary of the early, normal, and unreduced retirement dates under the plan are as follows: 

Employment 
Category Tier 

Normal 
Retirement Age 

Early  
Retirement Age 

Unreduced 
Retirement 

General Service 1 58 55 30 years of service 

General Service 2 60 55 30 years of service 

General Service OPSRP 65 55 Age 58 with 30 years  

Police & Fire 1 and 2 55 50 30 years of service, or 
age 50 with 25 years of 
service 

Police & Fire OPSRP 60 50 Age 53 with 25 years 

State Judiciary N/A 65 60 60 if Plan B; N/A if Plan 
A 

Structure for Retirement Rates 

The structure of the PERS retirement rate assumption separates rates by job classification and by service 

level. General service rates differ across three service bands: less than 15 years, 15 to 29 years, and 30 or 

more years of service. The first two service bands have different assumptions for school districts versus all 

other general service members. With this study, we also recommend different assumptions for school districts 

versus all other general service members for the third service band. Police & fire rates employ the following 

three service bands: less than 13 years, 13 to 24 years, and 25 or more years of service.  

The service band structure anticipates that member retirement decisions will contemplate the amount of the 

retirement benefit and the affordability of retirement. 

School District and General Service Retirement Rates 

Members with Less Than 15 Years of Service 

Retirement decisions by members with less than 15 years of service are likely to be heavily influenced by the 

availability of resources other than PERS benefits, including Social Security, prior employment, spousal 

benefits, and savings. 

The following charts show the current assumed rates of retirement, the confidence interval around observed 

experience, and the recommended retirement rate assumption for school district and general service 

members retiring with less than 15 years of service. 



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

27 

 

Retirement Assumptions (continued) 

 

 
  



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

28 

 

Retirement Assumptions (continued) 

Members with 15 to 30 Years of Service 

Retirement decisions by members with 15 to 29 years of years of service are likely to be influenced by the 

structure of PERS benefits as well as the availability of other resources, including Social Security, prior 

employment, spousal benefits, and savings. 

The following charts show the current assumed rates of retirement, the confidence interval around observed 

experience, and the recommended retirement rate assumption for school district and general service 

members retiring with more than 15 years of service and less than 30 years of service. 

 

 



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

29 

 

Retirement Assumptions (continued) 

Members with 30 or More Years of Service 

Previously, the retirement rate assumption for members with 30 or more years of service at retirement did not 

differentiate between school district and all other general service members. With this study, we have analyzed 

the rates separately and now recommend adopting distinct rates for these groups. Our analysis indicated that 

school district members with 30 or more years of service had higher rates of retirement than did other general 

service members with 30 or more years of service. Our recommended assumption reflects this experience. 

The following charts show the current assumed rates of retirement, the confidence interval around observed 

experience and the recommended retirement rate assumption for school district and other general service 

members retiring with more than 30 years of service.  

 

 



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

30 

 

Retirement Assumptions (continued) 

Police & Fire 

Members with Less Than 13 Years of Service 

The retirement assumption for police & fire members differs for members retiring with less than 13 years of 

service, those retiring with between 13 and 24 years of service, and those retiring with more than 25 years of 

service. Retirement decisions by members with less than 13 years of service are likely to be heavily 

influenced by the availability of resources other than PERS benefits, including Social Security, prior 

employment, spousal benefits, and savings. 

The following graph shows the current assumed rates of retirement, the confidence interval around observed 

experience and the recommended retirement rate assumption for police & fire members retiring with less than 

13 years of service.  

 

 
 

 
  



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

31 

 

Retirement Assumptions (continued) 

Members with 13 to 24 Years of Service 

Retirement rates for members with 13 to 24 years of service are likely to be influenced by the structure of 

PERS benefits as well as the availability of other resources, including Social Security, prior employment, 

spousal benefits, and savings. 

The following chart shows the current assumed rates of retirement, the confidence interval around observed 

experience, and the recommended retirement rate assumption for police & fire members retiring with between 

13 and 24 years of service.  

 

 

  



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

32 

 

Retirement Assumptions (continued) 

Members with 25 or More Years of Service 

Police & fire members with 25 or more years of service can retire immediately at age 50 (53 for OPSRP) with 

unreduced retirement benefits. As a result, retirement rates at all ages are relatively high, with a spike at first 

eligibility for unreduced benefits, and another increase when Social Security benefits become available. 

The following chart shows the current assumed rates of retirement, the confidence interval around observed 

experience, and the recommended retirement rate assumption for police & fire members retiring with more 

than 25 years of service. 

 

 

  



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

33 

 

Retirement Assumptions (continued) 

Judges 

The following chart shows the current assumed rates of retirement, the confidence interval around observed 

experience, and the recommended retirement rate assumption for members of the State Judiciary. The 

current assumption generally remains in the confidence intervals, so no changes are proposed to the current 

assumption. 

 

 

 

  



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

34 

 

Retirement Assumptions (continued) 

Summary of Recommended Retirement Rates 

The following table summarizes our recommended Tier 1/Tier 2 retirement rates: 

Tier 1/Tier 2 Recommended December 31, 2014 and 2015 Valuations 

 Police & Fire General Service School Districts Judges 

Age < 13 yrs 13-24 yrs 25+ yrs <15 yrs 15-29 yrs 
30+  
yrs <15 yrs 15-29 yrs 30+ yrs 

 

Less than 50     15.00%   15.00%  

50 1.50% 2.00% 24.00%   15.00%   15.00%  

51 1.50% 2.00% 17.50%   15.00%   15.00%  

52 1.50% 2.00% 17.50%   15.00%   25.00%  

53 1.50% 2.00% 17.50%   17.50%   25.00%  

54 1.50% 2.00% 17.50%   17.50%   25.00%  

55 5.00% 8.00% 23.50% 1.50% 3.00% 17.50% 1.50% 4.50% 25.00%  

56 5.00% 8.00% 23.50% 1.50% 3.00% 17.50% 1.50% 4.50% 25.00%  

57 5.00% 8.00% 23.50% 1.50% 3.00% 20.00% 1.50% 4.50% 25.00%  

58 5.00% 8.00% 23.50% 1.50% 10.00% 20.00% 2.50% 14.50% 32.00%  

59 5.00% 8.00% 23.50% 3.50% 10.00% 20.00% 4.50% 14.50% 28.50%  

60 5.00% 11.00% 23.50% 6.00% 10.00% 20.00% 6.50% 14.50% 28.50% 10.00% 

61 5.00% 14.00% 23.50% 6.00% 10.00% 24.00% 8.00% 14.50% 28.50% 10.00% 

62 15.00% 25.00% 38.00% 12.50% 19.50% 31.00% 15.00% 25.00% 34.00% 10.00% 

63 7.00% 17.00% 38.00% 12.50% 16.50% 22.00% 13.00% 22.00% 26.50% 10.00% 

64 7.00% 17.00% 17.00% 12.50% 16.50% 26.00% 13.00% 19.50% 31.50% 10.00% 

65 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 19.50% 28.00% 32.00% 25.50% 33.50% 38.00% 10.00% 

66    25.50% 35.00% 38.00% 21.50% 36.50% 38.00% 10.00% 

67    22.50% 25.00% 26.00% 19.50% 34.50% 38.00% 10.00% 

68    19.50% 25.00% 26.00% 19.50% 28.00% 28.50% 10.00% 

69    19.50% 25.00% 26.00% 19.50% 28.00% 28.50% 30.00% 

70    100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 

  



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

35 

 

Retirement Assumptions (continued) 

The following table summarizes our recommended OPSRP retirement rates: 

OPSRP Recommended December 31, 2014 and 2015 Valuations 

 Police & Fire General Service School Districts 

Age < 13 yrs 
13-24 
yrs 25+ yrs <15 yrs 

15-29 
yrs 

30+ 
yrs <15 yrs 

15-29 
yrs 30+ yrs 

50 1.00% 1.50% 5.50%       

51 1.00% 1.50% 5.50%       

52 1.00% 1.50% 5.50%       

53 1.00% 1.50% 25.00%       

54 1.00% 1.50% 17.50%       

55 4.00% 5.00% 23.50% 1.00% 2.50% 5.00% 1.00% 2.50% 5.00% 

56 4.00% 5.00% 23.50% 1.00% 2.50% 5.00% 1.00% 2.50% 5.00% 

57 4.00% 5.00% 23.50% 1.00% 2.50% 7.50% 1.00% 2.50% 7.50% 

58 4.00% 5.00% 23.50% 1.00% 3.00% 30.00% 1.00% 3.00% 30.00% 

59 4.00% 5.00% 23.50% 1.50% 3.00% 25.00% 1.50% 3.00% 25.00% 

60 4.00% 15.00% 23.50% 3.00% 3.75% 20.00% 3.00% 3.75% 20.00% 

61 4.00% 8.50% 23.50% 3.00% 5.00% 20.00% 3.00% 5.00% 20.00% 

62 12.00% 25.00% 38.00% 8.00% 12.00% 30.00% 6.00% 12.00% 30.00% 

63 7.00% 17.00% 38.00% 7.00% 10.00% 20.00% 6.00% 10.00% 20.00% 

64 7.00% 17.00% 17.00% 6.00% 10.00% 20.00% 6.00% 10.00% 20.00% 

65 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 13.00% 35.00% 20.00% 12.00% 35.00% 20.00% 

66    15.50% 33.00% 20.00% 14.00% 33.00% 20.00% 

67    15.50% 22.00% 30.00% 11.00% 22.00% 30.00% 

68    13.00% 17.00% 20.00% 9.00% 17.00% 20.00% 

69    13.00% 17.00% 20.00% 9.00% 17.00% 20.00% 

70    100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 

 

  



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

36 

 

Retirement Assumptions (continued) 

Lump Sum Option at Retirement 

At retirement, a member has the option of electing a total lump sum distribution equal to two times the 

member’s account balance, a partial lump sum distribution equal to the member’s account balance with a 

reduced monthly allowance, or a monthly allowance with no lump sum distribution. The percentage of active 

members electing a lump sum distribution at retirement has declined slightly from the prior experience study. 

The results of our analysis are as follows: 

Election at 
Retirement 

Number of Retired 
Members 

Percentage of 
Retirements 

December 31, 
2013 Valuation 

Assumption 

Recommended 
December 31, 2014 

and 2015 Valuations 

Partial Lump Sum 868 4.5% 5.0% 4.5% 

Total Lump Sum     

 2011 245 4.6% N/A N/A 

 2012 133 3.3% N/A N/A 

 2013 217 3.7% 4.0% N/A 

 2014 129 3.1% 3.5% N/A 

 2015 TBD TBD 3.0% No change 

 2016 TBD TBD 2.5% No change 

When a member elects a total or partial lump sum under Money Match or a partial lump sum under Full 

Formula, he or she gives up the value of future COLAs (cost of living allowances) on the lump sum amount. A 

total lump sum election under Full Formula may cause the member to give up significantly more. Because 

there are no new contributions to member accounts and the system is projected to become dominated by Full 

Formula over time, we expect the total lump sum rate to decline over time.  

Based on the data shown above, we recommend lowering the partial lump sum assumption of 5.0 percent to 

4.5 percent. We recommend no change to the total lump sum assumption of 3.0 percent in 2015 decreasing 

by 0.5 percent per year until reaching 0.0 percent. 

  



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

37 

 

Retirement Assumptions (continued) 

Purchase of Credited Service 

A member has the option of purchasing service at retirement to enhance his or her retirement benefits. 

Service may be purchased under one or more of the following categories: 

 Purchase of forfeited service 

 Credit for waiting time 

 Credit for educational service 

 Credit for military service 

 Credit for seasonal positions 

 Credit for police officers and firefighters 

 Purchase of retirement credit for disability time 

Most purchases are full cost purchases, meaning the member pays both the member and employer cost to 

obtain the service. Since the member pays the full cost of the service purchased, the purchase produces no 

impact or only a small impact on projected Tier 1/Tier 2 employer costs. The most common, and predictable, 

non-full cost service purchase made by members is purchasing credit for the six-month waiting period. Thus, 

for valuation purposes, we have included an adjustment to account for those members who are expected to 

make the waiting period service purchase.  

For Money Match retirements, the purchase of credited service is generally cost-neutral to the system, 

because the member is depositing both the member and employer contributions. Therefore, in reviewing 

actual experience, we examined non-Money Match retirements. The following table shows the number of 

members who retired in the experience period and elected to purchase credit for the six-month waiting period: 

 Count 

Number Electing 
to Purchase 
Waiting Time 

Service 
Percentage of 
Retirements 

December 31, 
2013 Valuation 

Assumption 

Recommended 
December 31, 
2014 and 2015 

Valuations 

Non-Money Match 
Retirements 11,958 7,204 60% 60% 60% 

We recommend maintaining the assumption of non-Money Match retirements purchasing credited service for 

the six month waiting period at 60 percent. 

  



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

38 

 

Disability Incidence Assumptions 

The Plan provides duty and non-duty disability benefits to members. Members are eligible to receive duty 

disability benefits if they become disabled as a direct result of a job-related injury or illness, regardless of 

length of service. Members are eligible for non-duty disability benefits (also referred to as ordinary disability) if 

they become disabled after ten years of service (six years if a judge), but prior to normal retirement eligibility. 

Duty disability incidence rates are developed separately for police & fire and general service members. 

Ordinary (non-duty) disability rates are developed for the system as a whole. 

Duty Disability 

Due to the limited amount of experience data available at some ages, this assumption employs a standard 

table adjusted to fit within the aggregate confidence interval. We recommend updating the duty disability 

incidence assumption for general service at this time.  

The current assumed aggregate rate for the general service assumption is above the 90 percent confidence 
interval of the disability rates experienced. We recommend updating the assumption to more closely match 
observed experience. 

 

 
The current assumed aggregate rate for police & fire members is below actual observed experience, but 
within the 90 percent confidence interval. As such, we recommend maintaining the current assumption and 
continuing to monitor experience in the next study.  



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

39 

 

Disability Incidence Assumptions (continued) 

 

Ordinary (Non-Duty) Disability 

As with duty disability, the experience data for ordinary disability was very limited at specific ages. Therefore, 

this assumption also uses a standard table adjusted to fit within the aggregate confidence interval. Based on 

the disability rates experienced, we recommend no change to the ordinary disability incidence assumption at 

this time. 

The data underlying the ordinary disability study showed a pattern wherein a member’s record would only be 

recognized as a disability retirement (rather than a service retirement or other separation from service) after a 

lag period that could span over a year. Because such lagged experience is not yet available for 2014, the final 

year of our study, we included in our analysis an assumption as to additional disabilities occurring in 2014 that 

will not be apparent until the subsequent reporting period. Our assumption was based on an average of such 

records observed in the first three years of the study. 

  



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

40 

 

Disability Incidence Assumptions (continued) 

 

The following table summarizes our recommended disability incidence rates: 

 Percentage of the 1985 Disability Class 1 Rates 

 December 31, 2013 Valuation 
Recommended December 31, 2014  

and 2015 Valuations 

Duty Disability   

 Police & Fire 20% (0.006% – 0.169%) No change 

 General Service 1.2% (0.0004% – 0.010%) 0.9% (0.0003% – 0.008%) 

Ordinary Disability 50% with 0.18% cap (0.015% – 0.180%) No change 

 

  



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

41 

 

Termination Assumptions 

Not all active members are expected to continue working for covered employers until retirement. Termination 

rates represent the probabilities that a member will leave covered employment for causes other than 

retirement, disability or death at any given point during their working career.  

Beginning with the most recent experience study, termination rates have been developed as service-based 

assumptions. Prior to that, the assumption was structured as an age-based select and ultimate assumption. 

The service-based assumptions reflect the experience of Tier 1, Tier 2, and OPSRP members, with each 

group affecting the period of the table relating to the relevant service amount. 

Assumptions are developed for the following groups:  

 School District males 

 School District females 

 Other General Service males 

 Other General Service females 

 Police & Fire (single table for both males and females) 

Termination Rates  

The following charts show the confidence interval around observed experience and the recommended rates 

of termination by year of service. These charts are based on the observed experience of members in the 

relevant group during the study period. We recommend changes to the assumptions for non-school district 

general service females and police & fire members. For the other three groups, we recommend maintaining 

the current assumption and evaluating again with the next study. 

Full listings of recommended termination assumptions are included in the appendix. 

School Districts 

 

  



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

42 

 

Termination Assumptions (continued) 

 
 
 

General Service 

 

 



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

43 

 

Termination Assumptions (continued) 

 

Police & Fire 

All police & fire members were rated together, with no variation by group or gender.  

 

 



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

44 

 

Salary Increase Assumptions 

The salary increase assumptions analyzed with demographic experience were: 

 Merit scale increases 

 Unused sick leave adjustments 

 Unused vacation cash out adjustments 

Merit Scale 

The merit scale assumption is used in conjunction with the inflation and real wage growth assumptions to 

project individual member salaries to retirement. To focus on the merit and longevity component of salary 

increases, actual inflation and assumed long-term real wage growth were subtracted from observed salary 

increases. Our analysis assumes a one-year lag in the impact of actual inflation on a member’s salary 

increase. For example, actual inflation during 2013 is expected to impact the ratio of salary during 2014 to 

salary during 2013. In our analysis, the 1.00 percent assumed level of annual real wage growth adopted by 

the PERS Board was used instead of the actual annual changes in the Average Wage Index (AWI) published 

by the Social Security Administration. A stable annual productivity assumption was judged to be a more 

appropriate measure for the salary increase expectations of members and employers in, for example, a 

bargaining process to set salary increases. 

In order to capture experience across a broader range of budget, collective bargaining, and economic cycles, 

the analysis covered observed salary experience from 2006 through 2014. As shown in the table below, 

actual inflation was measured using CPI-U and the assumed real growth in wages is the 1.00 percent 

assumption adopted by PERS. 

Year 

Actual 
Inflation 
(CPI-U) 

Assumed 
Real Wage 

Growth 

2006 2.54% 1.00% 

2007 4.08% 1.00% 

2008 0.09% 1.00% 

2009 2.72% 1.00% 

2010 1.50% 1.00% 

2011 2.96% 1.00% 

2012 1.74% 1.00% 

2013 1.50% 1.00% 

In the past, separate assumptions have been set for:  

 School Districts 

 Other General Service 

 Police & Fire 

The following charts show the current assumed rates of merit salary increases, the eight-year average of 

merit increases based on observed experience, and the recommended rates of merit salary increases. We 

recommend increases in the merit salary increase assumptions for all groups. Our proposed new 

assumptions strike a balance between the previous assumptions and the experience observed in the study 

period. This is partially because the increase observed since the previous study is largely driven by relatively 

larger merit increases in 2013 and 2014, which may not persist in the future.   



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

45 

 

Salary Increase Assumptions (continued) 

 

 

  



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

46 

 

Salary Increase Assumptions (continued) 

 

Unused Sick Leave Adjustment 

Employers may elect to participate in the Unused Sick Leave Program. This program allows Tier 1/Tier 2 

members to convert the value of one-half of their accumulated sick leave into additional retirement benefits. 

The assumption represents the percentage increase in a member’s final average pay due to the inclusion of 

the value of 50 percent of the member’s accumulated sick leave, and is only applied to employers who 

participate in the program. 

For active members, there are currently eight sets of rates developed by employer group, employment 

category (general service or police & fire), and gender. In addition, a single rate is developed for eligible 

dormant members. The chart below shows the current assumption, the four-year average of the observed 

experience, and the recommended assumption for each of the groups studied. If the current assumption is not 

visible on the chart, it is the same as the proposed assumption. 

  



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

47 

 

Salary Increase Assumptions (continued) 

 

Due to the volatility in experience from one study to the next, for the groups where we recommended changes 

the recommended change is between the prior assumption and the actual observed experience. How closely 

the recommended assumption is set to the recently observed experience is influenced by the sample size of 

the particular group.  

Unused Vacation Cash Out Adjustment 

Tier 1 members are eligible to include the value of any lump sum payment of unused vacation pay in the 

calculation of their final average salary. The assumption shown below represents the percentage increase in 

a member’s final average salary expected to result from this provision.  



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

48 

 

Salary Increase Assumptions (continued) 

 
 

Retiree Healthcare Assumptions 

There are two retiree healthcare programs offered to eligible members, the Retiree Health Insurance 

Premium Account (RHIPA) and the Retiree Health Insurance Account (RHIA). 

RHIPA 

RHIPA is a program for eligible retirees from State of Oregon employment that provides a subsidized pre-

Medicare insurance plan. In the previous valuation, the participation rate assumption for future eligible retirees 

varied based on service at the time of retirement, as the level of employer-paid benefits in the RHIPA program 

varies by service level. We recommend continuing this structure for the assumption.  

We further recommend increasing the assumed participation level at certain age ranges, as shown below. We 

believe this change will increase the liability and lower the funded status for the program, which already had a 

very low funded status at the most recent valuation. This level of participation in RHIPA may be affected, at 

least in part, by economic conditions, cost of coverage, competition from alternative programs available to 

retirees, and the impact of healthcare reform legislation becoming effective. Since changes in these factors 

could change participation rates in RHIPA quickly and because the program’s funded status is very low, we 

recommend that PERS closely monitor participation on a regular basis.  

  



Milliman Experience Study  Demographic Assumptions 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

49 

 

Retiree Healthcare Assumptions (continued) 

 

RHIA 

RHIA is a subsidized Medicare supplemental insurance program offered to all eligible retirees. Participation 

rates during the period of study decreased to approximately 38 percent for healthy retirees compared to the 

current assumption of 45 percent. For disabled retirees, the participation followed the current assumption of 

20 percent fairly closely. As shown in the table below, we recommend decreasing the healthy assumption to 

38 percent and maintaining the disabled assumption of 20 percent.  



Milliman Experience Study  Appendix 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

50 

 

5. Appendix 

Data 

Except where noted, the analysis in this study was based on data for the experience period from January 1, 

2011 to December 31, 2014 as provided by the Oregon Public Employees Retirement System (PERS). PERS 

is solely responsible for the validity, accuracy and comprehensiveness of this information; the results of our 

analysis can be expected to differ and may need to be revised if the underlying data supplied is incomplete or 

inaccurate. 

The member data was summarized according to the actual and potential member decrements for each year 

in the study. Actual and potential decrements were grouped according to age or service depending on the 

demographic assumption. 

Assumption Tables 

A complete listing of all the assumptions, methods and procedures presented to the Board for review on 

July 31, 2015 that are to be used in the December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2015 actuarial valuations are 

summarized on the following pages. 

Methods and Procedures 

Actuarial cost method: Entry Age Normal  

UAL amortization method: Level percent of combined Tier 1, Tier 2, and OPSRP payroll 

UAL amortization period:  

 Closed amortization from the first rate setting valuation in which the experience is recognized 

 Tier 1/Tier 2 – 20 years  

 OPSRP – 16 years 

 RHIA/RHIPA – 10 years 

 New side accounts are aligned with the new Tier 1/Tier 2 base from the most recent rate-setting 

valuation. 

 New transition liabilities are amortized over the 18-year period beginning when the employer joins the 

SLGRP. 

Asset valuation method: Market value 

Excluded reserves: Contingency Reserve, Capital Preservation Reserve. Rate Guarantee Reserve is 

excluded only when it is positive. 

Contribution Rate Stabilization Method: Contribution rates for a rate pool (e.g. Tier 1/Tier 2 SLGRP, 

Tier 1/Tier 2 School Districts, OPSRP) are confined to a collar based on the prior contribution rate (prior to 

application of side accounts, pre-SLGRP liabilities, and 6 percent Independent Employer minimum). The new 

contribution rate will generally not increase or decrease from the prior contribution rate by more than the 

greater of 3 percentage points or 20 percent of the prior contribution rate. If the funded percentage excluding 

side accounts drops below 60% or increases above 140%, the size of the collar doubles. If the funded 

percentage excluding side accounts is between 60% and 70% or between 130% and 140%, the size of the 

rate collar is increased on a graded scale.  



Milliman Experience Study  Appendix 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

51 

 

Liability Allocation for Actives with Several Employers: Allocate Actuarial Accrued Liability 25% (0% for 
police & fire) based on account balance with each employer and 75% (100% for police & fire) based on 
service with each employer. 

Allocate Normal Cost to current employer. 

Allocation of Benefits-In-Force (BIF) Reserve: The BIF is allocated to each rate pool in proportion to the 

retiree liability attributable to the rate pool. 

Recommended Economic Assumptions 

Inflation 2.50% 

Real wage growth 1.00% 

Payroll growth 3.50% 

Investment Return 7.50% (as selected at July 2015 Board 
meeting) 

Interest Crediting  

 Regular account Equal to investment return assumption 

 Variable account Equal to investment return assumption 

Health cost trend rates 

 2015 trend rate 

 Ultimate trend rate 

 Year reaching ultimate trend 

 

7.00% 

4.40% 

2094 



Milliman Experience Study  Appendix 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

52 

 

Demographic Assumptions 

Mortality 

 
  

Healthy Annuitant Mortality - Sample Values Beneficiary Mortality - Sample Values

Age

Year of 

Birth 1950 1960 1950 1960 1950 1960 1950 1960 1950 1960 1950 1960 1950 1960

50 0.001860 0.001805 0.001948 0.001890 0.001948 0.001890 0.001434 0.001392 0.001683 0.001633 0.001948 0.001890 0.001683 0.001633

51 0.001989 0.001930 0.002080 0.002019 0.002080 0.002019 0.001545 0.001500 0.001845 0.001790 0.002080 0.002019 0.001845 0.001790

52 0.002125 0.002062 0.002399 0.002328 0.002399 0.002328 0.001666 0.001617 0.001993 0.001934 0.002399 0.002328 0.001993 0.001934

53 0.002427 0.002355 0.002599 0.002522 0.002599 0.002522 0.001835 0.001781 0.002157 0.002093 0.002599 0.002522 0.002157 0.002093

54 0.002635 0.002557 0.002827 0.002742 0.002827 0.002742 0.001994 0.001935 0.002337 0.002245 0.002827 0.002742 0.002337 0.002245

55 0.002873 0.002788 0.003075 0.002984 0.003075 0.002984 0.002174 0.002110 0.002573 0.002448 0.003075 0.002984 0.002573 0.002448

56 0.003139 0.003046 0.003463 0.003360 0.003463 0.003360 0.002366 0.002273 0.002872 0.002705 0.003463 0.003360 0.002872 0.002705

57 0.003549 0.003444 0.003969 0.003852 0.003969 0.003852 0.002623 0.002495 0.003175 0.002959 0.003969 0.003852 0.003175 0.002959

58 0.004100 0.003979 0.004334 0.004163 0.004334 0.004163 0.002945 0.002773 0.003507 0.003235 0.004334 0.004163 0.003507 0.003235

59 0.004527 0.004349 0.004747 0.004514 0.004747 0.004514 0.003265 0.003043 0.003874 0.003539 0.004747 0.004514 0.003874 0.003539

60 0.005015 0.004770 0.005216 0.004912 0.005216 0.004912 0.003620 0.003341 0.004292 0.003881 0.005216 0.004912 0.004292 0.003881

61 0.005564 0.005239 0.005790 0.005397 0.005790 0.005397 0.004021 0.003673 0.004802 0.004299 0.005790 0.005397 0.004802 0.004299

62 0.006202 0.005781 0.006467 0.005968 0.006467 0.005968 0.004481 0.004052 0.005352 0.004743 0.006467 0.005968 0.005352 0.004743

63 0.006915 0.006381 0.007272 0.006643 0.007272 0.006643 0.005035 0.004508 0.006073 0.005383 0.007272 0.006643 0.006073 0.005383

64 0.007716 0.007049 0.008197 0.007413 0.008197 0.007413 0.005622 0.004982 0.006786 0.006015 0.008197 0.007413 0.006786 0.006015

65 0.008611 0.007788 0.009082 0.008130 0.009082 0.008130 0.006381 0.005656 0.007583 0.006720 0.009082 0.008130 0.007583 0.006720

66 0.009450 0.008461 0.010041 0.008899 0.010041 0.008899 0.007105 0.006297 0.008492 0.007527 0.010041 0.008899 0.008492 0.007527

67 0.010374 0.009194 0.011067 0.009709 0.011067 0.009709 0.007905 0.007006 0.009377 0.008310 0.011067 0.009709 0.009377 0.008310

68 0.011385 0.009989 0.011959 0.010386 0.011959 0.010386 0.008815 0.007812 0.010302 0.009131 0.011959 0.010386 0.010302 0.009131

69 0.012297 0.010680 0.012830 0.011031 0.012830 0.011031 0.009670 0.008570 0.011311 0.010025 0.012830 0.011031 0.011311 0.010025

70 0.013209 0.011356 0.013956 0.011999 0.013956 0.011999 0.010561 0.009360 0.012605 0.011171 0.013956 0.011999 0.012605 0.011171

71 0.014417 0.012395 0.015395 0.013236 0.015395 0.013236 0.011532 0.010221 0.013842 0.012268 0.015395 0.013236 0.013842 0.012268

72 0.015925 0.013691 0.016770 0.014417 0.016770 0.014417 0.012837 0.011377 0.015223 0.013492 0.016770 0.014417 0.015223 0.013492

73 0.017356 0.014921 0.018332 0.015760 0.018332 0.015760 0.014074 0.012474 0.016718 0.014817 0.018332 0.015760 0.016718 0.014817

74 0.018981 0.016319 0.020096 0.017277 0.020096 0.017277 0.015467 0.013708 0.018307 0.016224 0.020096 0.017277 0.018307 0.016224

75 0.020825 0.017904 0.022095 0.018995 0.022095 0.018995 0.016986 0.015054 0.019973 0.017701 0.022095 0.018995 0.019973 0.017701

76 0.022885 0.019675 0.024308 0.020898 0.024308 0.020898 0.018600 0.016484 0.021781 0.019304 0.024308 0.020898 0.021781 0.019304

77 0.025157 0.021628 0.026771 0.023015 0.026771 0.023015 0.020288 0.017981 0.023738 0.021039 0.026771 0.023015 0.023738 0.021039

78 0.027619 0.023745 0.029431 0.025303 0.029431 0.025303 0.022084 0.019573 0.025907 0.022961 0.029431 0.025303 0.025907 0.022961

79 0.030261 0.026016 0.032349 0.027811 0.032349 0.027811 0.024031 0.021298 0.028303 0.025084 0.032349 0.027811 0.028303 0.025084

80 0.033122 0.028476 0.035522 0.030539 0.035522 0.030539 0.026172 0.023196 0.031013 0.027486 0.035522 0.030539 0.031013 0.027486

81 0.036258 0.031172 0.038930 0.033469 0.038930 0.033469 0.028548 0.025301 0.034054 0.030181 0.038930 0.033469 0.034054 0.030181

82 0.039685 0.034119 0.042928 0.036906 0.042928 0.036906 0.031177 0.027632 0.037433 0.033175 0.042928 0.036906 0.037433 0.033175

83 0.043750 0.037613 0.047240 0.040614 0.047240 0.040614 0.034094 0.030216 0.041211 0.036525 0.047240 0.040614 0.041211 0.036525

84 0.048145 0.041392 0.051910 0.044629 0.051910 0.044629 0.037342 0.033095 0.045410 0.040246 0.051910 0.044629 0.045410 0.040246

85 0.052862 0.045447 0.056865 0.048889 0.056865 0.048889 0.040965 0.036306 0.050084 0.044388 0.056865 0.048889 0.050084 0.044388

86 0.057909 0.049786 0.062255 0.053523 0.062255 0.053523 0.045013 0.039894 0.055180 0.048905 0.062255 0.053523 0.055180 0.048905

87 0.063316 0.054434 0.068128 0.058572 0.068128 0.058572 0.049546 0.043911 0.060753 0.053844 0.068128 0.058572 0.060753 0.053844

88 0.069146 0.059447 0.077426 0.067245 0.077426 0.067245 0.054596 0.048387 0.066738 0.059148 0.077426 0.067245 0.066738 0.059148

89 0.078501 0.068178 0.088026 0.077230 0.088026 0.077230 0.060161 0.053319 0.072996 0.064695 0.088026 0.077230 0.072996 0.064695

90 0.089224 0.078281 0.100190 0.088796 0.100190 0.088796 0.066205 0.058676 0.082740 0.074076 0.100190 0.088796 0.082740 0.074076

91 0.101447 0.089910 0.113829 0.101910 0.113829 0.101910 0.072635 0.064374 0.093423 0.084490 0.113829 0.101910 0.093423 0.084490

92 0.115256 0.103187 0.128066 0.115821 0.128066 0.115821 0.082751 0.074086 0.104909 0.095841 0.128066 0.115821 0.104909 0.095841

93 0.129671 0.117272 0.143680 0.131260 0.143680 0.131260 0.093863 0.084888 0.117219 0.108172 0.143680 0.131260 0.117219 0.108172

94 0.145516 0.132937 0.160775 0.148366 0.160775 0.148366 0.105888 0.096735 0.130137 0.121309 0.160775 0.148366 0.130137 0.121309

95 0.162785 0.150221 0.179050 0.166904 0.179050 0.166904 0.118735 0.109571 0.143653 0.135263 0.179050 0.166904 0.143653 0.135263

96 0.181471 0.169161 0.198852 0.187238 0.198852 0.187238 0.132324 0.123348 0.163086 0.155113 0.198852 0.187238 0.163086 0.155113

97 0.201590 0.189816 0.224315 0.213348 0.224315 0.213348 0.146588 0.138027 0.178284 0.171279 0.224315 0.213348 0.178284 0.171279

98 0.223193 0.212281 0.247375 0.237656 0.247375 0.237656 0.161460 0.153566 0.184754 0.177495 0.247375 0.237656 0.184754 0.177495

99 0.246385 0.236705 0.259075 0.248897 0.259075 0.248897 0.176860 0.169912 0.199711 0.193800 0.259075 0.248897 0.199711 0.193800

100 0.258039 0.247901 0.284148 0.275737 0.284148 0.275737 0.183279 0.176078 0.204344 0.198295 0.284148 0.275737 0.204344 0.198295

101 0.283295 0.274910 0.295606 0.286856 0.295606 0.286856 0.198514 0.192639 0.221070 0.216688 0.295606 0.286856 0.221070 0.216688

102 0.294719 0.285996 0.323171 0.316765 0.323171 0.316765 0.203119 0.197107 0.229336 0.224790 0.323171 0.316765 0.229336 0.224790

103 0.322525 0.316132 0.334267 0.327642 0.334267 0.327642 0.220186 0.215822 0.252304 0.249792 0.334267 0.327642 0.252304 0.249792

104 0.333599 0.326986 0.362895 0.359282 0.362895 0.359282 0.228420 0.223892 0.264379 0.261747 0.362895 0.359282 0.264379 0.261747

105 0.362532 0.358923 0.371015 0.367321 0.371015 0.367321 0.251800 0.249293 0.293116 0.293116 0.371015 0.367321 0.293116 0.293116

106 0.370644 0.366954 0.397886 0.397886 0.397886 0.397886 0.263850 0.261223 0.307811 0.307811 0.397886 0.397886 0.307811 0.307811

107 0.397886 0.397886 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.293116 0.293116 0.322725 0.322725 0.400000 0.400000 0.322725 0.322725

108 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.307811 0.307811 0.337441 0.337441 0.400000 0.400000 0.337441 0.337441

109 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.322725 0.322725 0.351544 0.351544 0.400000 0.400000 0.351544 0.351544

110 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.337441 0.337441 0.364617 0.364617 0.400000 0.400000 0.364617 0.364617

111 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.351544 0.351544 0.376246 0.376246 0.400000 0.400000 0.376246 0.376246

112 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.364617 0.364617 0.386015 0.386015 0.400000 0.400000 0.386015 0.386015

113 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.376246 0.376246 0.393507 0.393507 0.400000 0.400000 0.393507 0.393507

114 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.386015 0.386015 0.398308 0.398308 0.400000 0.400000 0.398308 0.398308

115 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.393507 0.393507 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000

116 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.398308 0.398308 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000

117 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000

118 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000

119 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000 0.400000

120 1.000000 1.000000 1.000000 1.000000 1.000000 1.000000 1.000000 1.000000 1.000000 1.000000 1.000000 1.000000 1.000000 1.000000

RP2000 Generational w /BB 

combined 75% White/25% 

Blue collar blend, 1 year 

setback

RP2000 Generational w /BB 

combined 75% White/25% 

Blue collar blend, 0 year 

setback

RP2000 Generational w /BB 

combined no collar, 2 year 

setback

RP2000 Generational w /BB 

combined 75% White/25% 

Blue collar blend, 1 year 

setback

RP2000 Generational w /BB 

combined 75% White/25% 

Blue collar blend, 1 year 

setback

RP2000 Generational w / 

BB combined no collar, 2 

year setback

RP2000 Generational w /BB 

combined 75% White/25% 

Blue collar blend, 0 year 

setback

Other Female Male FemaleSchool District Male

Other General Service 

Male Police & Fire Male

School District 

Female



Milliman Experience Study  Appendix 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

53 

 

Demographic Assumptions (continued) 

Non-Annuitant Mortality

Age Male Female Age

Year of 

Birth 1950 1950

Year of 

Birth 1950 1960 1950 1960 1950 1960 1950 1960 1950 1960

70% of RP2000 

Disabled male, 

Generational 

w /BB 

95% of RP2000 

Disabled female, 

Generational 

w /BB 

% of 

Annuitant 

Rates 60% 60% 75% 75% 75% 75% 55% 55% 60% 60%

45 0.015800 0.007078 30 0.000236 0.000236 0.000309 0.000309 0.000309 0.000309 0.000129 0.000129 0.000172 0.000172

46 0.016693 0.007775 31 0.000247 0.000247 0.000335 0.000335 0.000335 0.000335 0.000136 0.000136 0.000195 0.000195

47 0.017587 0.008511 32 0.000266 0.000266 0.000368 0.000368 0.000368 0.000368 0.000145 0.000145 0.000218 0.000218

48 0.018483 0.009286 33 0.000299 0.000299 0.000407 0.000407 0.000407 0.000407 0.000169 0.000169 0.000242 0.000242

49 0.019381 0.010102 34 0.000337 0.000337 0.000449 0.000449 0.000449 0.000449 0.000193 0.000193 0.000265 0.000265

50 0.020283 0.010958 35 0.000379 0.000379 0.000491 0.000491 0.000491 0.000491 0.000217 0.000217 0.000288 0.000288

51 0.021124 0.011818 36 0.000421 0.000421 0.000536 0.000536 0.000536 0.000536 0.000239 0.000239 0.000311 0.000311

52 0.021962 0.012706 37 0.000464 0.000464 0.000581 0.000581 0.000581 0.000581 0.000261 0.000261 0.000334 0.000334

53 0.022795 0.013618 38 0.000505 0.000505 0.000624 0.000624 0.000624 0.000624 0.000283 0.000283 0.000360 0.000360

54 0.023621 0.014488 39 0.000542 0.000542 0.000668 0.000668 0.000668 0.000668 0.000305 0.000305 0.000389 0.000389

55 0.024440 0.015328 40 0.000578 0.000578 0.000712 0.000712 0.000712 0.000712 0.000329 0.000329 0.000422 0.000422

56 0.025253 0.016125 41 0.000613 0.000611 0.000758 0.000755 0.000758 0.000755 0.000356 0.000355 0.000460 0.000459

57 0.025882 0.016871 42 0.000647 0.000644 0.000808 0.000803 0.000808 0.000803 0.000388 0.000386 0.000504 0.000501

58 0.026452 0.017559 43 0.000685 0.000679 0.000865 0.000857 0.000865 0.000857 0.000426 0.000422 0.000553 0.000548

59 0.026967 0.018188 44 0.000729 0.000720 0.000931 0.000920 0.000931 0.000920 0.000469 0.000463 0.000607 0.000600

60 0.027433 0.018763 45 0.000779 0.000768 0.001005 0.000990 0.001005 0.000990 0.000515 0.000508 0.000665 0.000655

61 0.027859 0.019293 46 0.000838 0.000823 0.001091 0.001072 0.001091 0.001072 0.000566 0.000556 0.000727 0.000714

62 0.028249 0.019790 47 0.000905 0.000886 0.001175 0.001151 0.001175 0.001151 0.000618 0.000606 0.000793 0.000776

63 0.028615 0.020538 48 0.000970 0.000947 0.001267 0.001236 0.001267 0.001236 0.000673 0.000657 0.000862 0.000841

64 0.028964 0.021341 49 0.001040 0.001013 0.001361 0.001325 0.001361 0.001325 0.000729 0.000710 0.000933 0.000908

65 0.029304 0.022215 50 0.001116 0.001083 0.001461 0.001418 0.001461 0.001418 0.000789 0.000766 0.001010 0.000980

66 0.029645 0.023176 51 0.001193 0.001158 0.001560 0.001514 0.001560 0.001514 0.000850 0.000825 0.001107 0.001074

67 0.029992 0.024237 52 0.001275 0.001237 0.001799 0.001746 0.001799 0.001746 0.000916 0.000889 0.001196 0.001160

68 0.030348 0.025406 53 0.001456 0.001413 0.001949 0.001891 0.001949 0.001891 0.001009 0.000980 0.001294 0.001256

69 0.031313 0.026687 54 0.001581 0.001534 0.002120 0.002057 0.002120 0.002057 0.001097 0.001064 0.001402 0.001347

70 0.032380 0.028084 55 0.001724 0.001673 0.002306 0.002238 0.002306 0.002238 0.001196 0.001161 0.001544 0.001469

71 0.033555 0.029593 56 0.001883 0.001828 0.002597 0.002520 0.002597 0.002520 0.001301 0.001250 0.001723 0.001623

72 0.034840 0.031213 57 0.002129 0.002066 0.002977 0.002889 0.002977 0.002889 0.001443 0.001372 0.001905 0.001776

73 0.036240 0.032938 58 0.002460 0.002387 0.003250 0.003122 0.003250 0.003122 0.001620 0.001525 0.002104 0.001941

74 0.037752 0.034766 59 0.002716 0.002609 0.003560 0.003386 0.003560 0.003386 0.001796 0.001674 0.002324 0.002123

75 0.039371 0.036692 60 0.003009 0.002862 0.003912 0.003684 0.003912 0.003684 0.001991 0.001838 0.002575 0.002328

76 0.041088 0.038713 61 0.003338 0.003143 0.004342 0.004048 0.004342 0.004048 0.002212 0.002020 0.002881 0.002579

77 0.042891 0.040833 62 0.003721 0.003469 0.004850 0.004476 0.004850 0.004476 0.002465 0.002229 0.003211 0.002846

78 0.044765 0.043053 63 0.004149 0.003829 0.005454 0.004982 0.005454 0.004982 0.002769 0.002479 0.003644 0.003230

79 0.046691 0.045380 64 0.004630 0.004229 0.006147 0.005560 0.006147 0.005560 0.003092 0.002740 0.004072 0.003609

80 0.048651 0.047824 65 0.005167 0.004673 0.006811 0.006098 0.006811 0.006098 0.003510 0.003111 0.004550 0.004032

81 0.050625 0.050401 66 0.005670 0.005077 0.007531 0.006674 0.007531 0.006674 0.003908 0.003463 0.005095 0.004516

82 0.052599 0.053130 67 0.006224 0.005516 0.008300 0.007282 0.008300 0.007282 0.004348 0.003853 0.005626 0.004986

83 0.054559 0.056025 68 0.006831 0.005993 0.008969 0.007790 0.008969 0.007790 0.004848 0.004297 0.006181 0.005478

84 0.056496 0.059106 69 0.007378 0.006408 0.009623 0.008273 0.009623 0.008273 0.005319 0.004714 0.006786 0.006015

85 0.058404 0.062387 70 0.007925 0.006814 0.010467 0.008999 0.010467 0.008999 0.005809 0.005148 0.007563 0.006703

86 0.062255 0.065881 71 0.008650 0.007437 0.011546 0.009927 0.011546 0.009927 0.006343 0.005622 0.008305 0.007361

87 0.068128 0.069595 72 0.009555 0.008215 0.012577 0.010813 0.012577 0.010813 0.007060 0.006257 0.009134 0.008095

88 0.077426 0.073536 73 0.010414 0.008953 0.013749 0.011820 0.013749 0.011820 0.007741 0.006861 0.010031 0.008890

89 0.088026 0.077701 74 0.011389 0.009791 0.015072 0.012958 0.015072 0.012958 0.008507 0.007539 0.010984 0.009735

90 0.100190 0.085478 75 0.012495 0.010742 0.016571 0.014246 0.016571 0.014246 0.009342 0.008280 0.011984 0.010621

91 0.113829 0.094185 76 0.013731 0.011805 0.018231 0.015674 0.018231 0.015674 0.010230 0.009066 0.013069 0.011583

92 0.128066 0.104909 77 0.015094 0.012977 0.020078 0.017261 0.020078 0.017261 0.011158 0.009890 0.014243 0.012623

93 0.143680 0.117219 78 0.016571 0.014247 0.022073 0.018977 0.022073 0.018977 0.012146 0.010765 0.015544 0.013776

94 0.160775 0.130137 79 0.018157 0.015610 0.024262 0.020858 0.024262 0.020858 0.013217 0.011714 0.016982 0.015050

95 0.179050 0.143653 80 0.019873 0.017086 0.026642 0.022904 0.026642 0.022904 0.014395 0.012758 0.018608 0.016491

96 0.198852 0.163086 81 0.021755 0.018703 0.029198 0.025102 0.029198 0.025102 0.015701 0.013916 0.020432 0.018108

97 0.224315 0.178284 82 0.023811 0.020471 0.032196 0.027680 0.032196 0.027680 0.017147 0.015198 0.022460 0.019905

98 0.247375 0.184754 83 0.026250 0.022568 0.035430 0.030461 0.035430 0.030461 0.018752 0.016619 0.024727 0.021915

99 0.259075 0.199711 84 0.028887 0.024835 0.038933 0.033472 0.038933 0.033472 0.020538 0.018202 0.027246 0.024147

100 0.284148 0.204344 85 0.031717 0.027268 0.042649 0.036666 0.042649 0.036666 0.022531 0.019968 0.030051 0.026633

101 0.295606 0.221070 86 0.034745 0.029872 0.046691 0.040142 0.046691 0.040142 0.024757 0.021942 0.033108 0.029343

102 0.323171 0.229336 87 0.037990 0.032660 0.051096 0.043929 0.051096 0.043929 0.027250 0.024151 0.036452 0.032307

103 0.334267 0.252304 88 0.041488 0.035668 0.058070 0.050434 0.058070 0.050434 0.030028 0.026613 0.040043 0.035489

104 0.362895 0.264379 89 0.047101 0.040907 0.066020 0.057922 0.066020 0.057922 0.033089 0.029325 0.043798 0.038817

105 0.371015 0.293116 90 0.053534 0.046969 0.075142 0.066597 0.075142 0.066597 0.036413 0.032272 0.049644 0.044446

106 0.397886 0.307811 91 0.060868 0.053946 0.085371 0.076432 0.085371 0.076432 0.039949 0.035406 0.056054 0.050694

107 0.400000 0.322725 92 0.069154 0.061912 0.096050 0.086866 0.096050 0.086866 0.045513 0.040747 0.062946 0.057504

108 0.400000 0.337441 93 0.077803 0.070363 0.107760 0.098445 0.107760 0.098445 0.051625 0.046688 0.070332 0.064903

109 0.400000 0.351544 94 0.087310 0.079762 0.120581 0.111274 0.120581 0.111274 0.058238 0.053204 0.078082 0.072785

110 0.400000 0.364617 95 0.097671 0.090133 0.134288 0.125178 0.134288 0.125178 0.065304 0.060264 0.086192 0.081158

111 0.400000 0.376246 96 0.108883 0.101497 0.149139 0.140428 0.149139 0.140428 0.072778 0.067841 0.097852 0.093068

112 0.400000 0.386015 97 0.120954 0.113890 0.168236 0.160011 0.168236 0.160011 0.080623 0.075915 0.106970 0.102767

113 0.400000 0.393507 98 0.133916 0.127369 0.185531 0.178242 0.185531 0.178242 0.088803 0.084461 0.110852 0.106497

114 0.400000 0.398308 99 0.147831 0.142023 0.194306 0.186673 0.194306 0.186673 0.097273 0.093452 0.119827 0.116280

115 0.400000 0.400000 100 0.154823 0.148741 0.213111 0.206803 0.213111 0.206803 0.100803 0.096843 0.122606 0.118977

116 0.400000 0.400000 101 0.169977 0.164946 0.221705 0.215142 0.221705 0.215142 0.109183 0.105951 0.132642 0.130013

117 0.400000 0.400000 102 0.176831 0.171598 0.242378 0.237574 0.242378 0.237574 0.111715 0.108409 0.137602 0.134874

118 0.400000 0.400000 103 0.193515 0.189679 0.250700 0.245732 0.250700 0.245732 0.121102 0.118702 0.151382 0.149875

119 0.400000 0.400000 104 0.200159 0.196192 0.272171 0.269462 0.272171 0.269462 0.125631 0.123141 0.158627 0.157048

120 1.000000 1.000000 105 0.217519 0.215354 0.278261 0.275491 0.278261 0.275491 0.138490 0.137111 0.175870 0.175870

Disabled Retired Mortality

School District Female Other FemaleSchool District Male

Other General Service 

Male Police & Fire Male



Milliman Experience Study  Appendix 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

54 

 

Demographic Assumptions (continued) 

Retirement Assumptions (Tier 1/Tier 2) 

Retirement from Active Status (Tier 1/Tier 2) 

 

  

Retirement Assumptions (Tier 1/Tier 2)

Judges

Age <13 Years 13 - 24 25+ Years < 15 years 15-29 Years 30+ Years < 15 years 15-29 Years 30+ Years

< 50 15.00% 15.00%

50 1.50% 2.00% 24.00% 15.00% 15.00%

51 1.50% 2.00% 17.50% 15.00% 15.00%

52 1.50% 2.00% 17.50% 15.00% 25.00%

53 1.50% 2.00% 17.50% 17.50% 25.00%

54 1.50% 2.00% 17.50% 17.50% 25.00%

55 5.00% 8.00% 23.50% 1.50% 3.00% 17.50% 1.50% 4.50% 25.00%

56 5.00% 8.00% 23.50% 1.50% 3.00% 17.50% 1.50% 4.50% 25.00%

57 5.00% 8.00% 23.50% 1.50% 3.00% 20.00% 1.50% 4.50% 25.00%

58 5.00% 8.00% 23.50% 1.50% 10.00% 20.00% 2.50% 14.50% 32.00%

59 5.00% 8.00% 23.50% 3.50% 10.00% 20.00% 4.50% 14.50% 28.50%

60 5.00% 11.00% 23.50% 6.00% 10.00% 20.00% 6.50% 14.50% 28.50% 10.00%

61 5.00% 14.00% 23.50% 6.00% 10.00% 24.00% 8.00% 14.50% 28.50% 10.00%

62 15.00% 25.00% 38.00% 12.50% 19.50% 31.00% 15.00% 25.00% 34.00% 10.00%

63 7.00% 17.00% 38.00% 12.50% 16.50% 22.00% 13.00% 22.00% 26.50% 10.00%

64 7.00% 17.00% 17.00% 12.50% 16.50% 26.00% 13.00% 19.50% 31.50% 10.00%

65 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 19.50% 28.00% 32.00% 25.50% 33.50% 38.00% 10.00%

66 25.50% 35.00% 38.00% 21.50% 36.50% 38.00% 10.00%

67 22.50% 25.00% 26.00% 19.50% 34.50% 38.00% 10.00%

68 19.50% 25.00% 26.00% 19.50% 28.00% 28.50% 10.00%

69 19.50% 25.00% 26.00% 19.50% 28.00% 28.50% 30.00%

70 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Police & Fire General Service / School Districts

General Service School Districts



Milliman Experience Study  Appendix 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

55 

 

Demographic Assumptions (continued) 

Retirement Assumptions (OPSRP) 

Retirement from Active Status (OPSRP) 

 

Lump Sum Option at Retirement 

Partial Lump Sum 4.5% for all years 

Total Lump Sum 3.0% for 2015, declining by 0.5% per year until reaching 0.0% 

 

  

Retirement Assumptions (OPSRP)

Age <13 Years 13 - 24 25+ Years < 15 years 15-29 Years 30+ Years < 15 years 15-29 Years 30+ Years

50 1.00% 1.50% 5.50%

51 1.00% 1.50% 5.50%

52 1.00% 1.50% 5.50%

53 1.00% 1.50% 25.00%

54 1.00% 1.50% 17.50%

55 4.00% 5.00% 23.50% 1.00% 2.50% 5.00% 1.00% 2.50% 5.00%

56 4.00% 5.00% 23.50% 1.00% 2.50% 5.00% 1.00% 2.50% 5.00%

57 4.00% 5.00% 23.50% 1.00% 2.50% 7.50% 1.00% 2.50% 7.50%

58 4.00% 5.00% 23.50% 1.00% 3.00% 30.00% 1.00% 3.00% 30.00%

59 4.00% 5.00% 23.50% 1.50% 3.00% 25.00% 1.50% 3.00% 25.00%

60 4.00% 15.00% 23.50% 3.00% 3.75% 20.00% 3.00% 3.75% 20.00%

61 4.00% 8.50% 23.50% 3.00% 5.00% 20.00% 3.00% 5.00% 20.00%

62 12.00% 25.00% 38.00% 8.00% 12.00% 30.00% 6.00% 12.00% 30.00%

63 7.00% 17.00% 38.00% 7.00% 10.00% 20.00% 6.00% 10.00% 20.00%

64 7.00% 17.00% 17.00% 6.00% 10.00% 20.00% 6.00% 10.00% 20.00%

65 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 13.00% 35.00% 20.00% 12.00% 35.00% 20.00%

66 15.50% 33.00% 20.00% 14.00% 33.00% 20.00%

67 15.50% 22.00% 30.00% 11.00% 22.00% 30.00%

68 13.00% 17.00% 20.00% 9.00% 17.00% 20.00%

69 13.00% 17.00% 20.00% 9.00% 17.00% 20.00%

70 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00% 100.00%

Police & Fire General Service / School Districts

General Service School Districts



Milliman Experience Study  Appendix 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

56 

 

Purchase of Credited Service at Retirement 

Money Match Retirements 0% 

Non-Money Match Retirements 60% 

Disability Assumptions 

 

Disability Assumptions

Age Police & Fire

General 

Service

Ordinary 

Disability

20 0.006% 0.000% 0.015%

25 0.009% 0.000% 0.022%

30 0.013% 0.001% 0.032%

35 0.020% 0.001% 0.049%

40 0.032% 0.001% 0.079%

45 0.052% 0.002% 0.130%

50 0.090% 0.004% 0.180%

55 0.169% 0.008% 0.180%

60 0.241% 0.011% 0.180%

Duty Disability



Milliman Experience Study  Appendix 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

57 

 

Termination Assumptions 

 

Termination Assumptions

Duration

School District 

Male

School District 

Female

General 

Service Male

General 

Service Female Police & Fire

0 20.00% 15.50% 19.00% 18.50% 10.00%

1 16.00% 14.05% 17.16% 17.00% 5.97%

2 13.55% 12.34% 14.34% 13.09% 5.02%

3 11.48% 10.83% 11.98% 11.67% 4.22%

4 9.72% 9.51% 10.00% 10.41% 3.54%

5 8.24% 8.35% 8.36% 9.29% 3.31%

6 6.98% 7.33% 6.98% 8.28% 3.06%

7 5.91% 6.44% 5.83% 7.38% 2.83%

8 5.01% 5.66% 4.87% 6.59% 2.61%

9 4.60% 4.97% 4.23% 5.87% 2.41%

10 4.23% 4.36% 3.96% 5.24% 2.23%

11 3.89% 3.83% 3.71% 4.67% 2.06%

12 3.57% 3.55% 3.48% 4.46% 1.90%

13 3.28% 3.35% 3.26% 4.18% 1.76%

14 3.02% 3.16% 3.06% 3.91% 1.63%

15 2.78% 2.98% 2.86% 3.66% 1.50%

16 2.55% 2.81% 2.68% 3.43% 1.39%

17 2.35% 2.66% 2.51% 3.21% 1.28%

18 2.16% 2.51% 2.36% 3.00% 1.19%

19 1.98% 2.37% 2.21% 2.81% 1.10%

20 1.82% 2.23% 2.07% 2.63% 1.01%

21 1.68% 2.11% 1.94% 2.46% 0.94%

22 1.54% 1.99% 1.82% 2.31% 0.87%

23 1.42% 1.88% 1.70% 2.16% 0.80%

24 1.30% 1.77% 1.59% 2.02% 0.80%

25 1.20% 1.67% 1.49% 1.89% 0.80%

26 1.20% 1.58% 1.40% 1.77% 0.80%

27 1.20% 1.50% 1.40% 1.66% 0.80%

28 1.20% 1.50% 1.40% 1.55% 0.80%

29 1.20% 1.50% 1.40% 1.50% 0.80%

30 + 1.20% 1.50% 1.40% 1.50% 0.80%



Milliman Experience Study  Appendix 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

58 

 

Merit Salary Increase Assumptions 

 

  

Merit Increases

Duration

School 

District 

Other General 

Service Police & Fire

0 3.53% 3.95% 5.17%

1 3.20% 3.55% 4.57%

2 2.88% 3.17% 4.03%

3 2.58% 2.83% 3.54%

4 2.29% 2.51% 3.10%

5 2.01% 2.24% 2.71%

6 1.74% 1.98% 2.37%

7 1.50% 1.75% 2.07%

8 1.25% 1.56% 1.81%

9 1.03% 1.38% 1.59%

10 0.82% 1.22% 1.41%

11 0.61% 1.08% 1.26%

12 0.42% 0.97% 1.13%

13 0.25% 0.87% 1.03%

14 0.08% 0.78% 0.96%

15 -0.07% 0.71% 0.90%

16 -0.21% 0.66% 0.86%

17 -0.34% 0.61% 0.83%

18 -0.46% 0.57% 0.82%

19 -0.57% 0.54% 0.81%

20 -0.67% 0.52% 0.81%

21 -0.75% 0.51% 0.81%

22 -0.83% 0.49% 0.80%

23 -0.86% 0.47% 0.80%

24 -0.89% 0.46% 0.79%

25 -0.91% 0.45% 0.76%

26 -0.93% 0.43% 0.73%

27 -0.94% 0.40% 0.67%

28 -0.94% 0.38% 0.60%

29 -0.94% 0.34% 0.51%

30 -0.94% 0.29% 0.39%

31 + -0.94% 0.00% 0.00%



Milliman Experience Study  Appendix 

 
This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

59 

 

Unused Sick Leave Adjustment 

Actives  

 State General Service Male 6.25% 

 State General Service Female 3.75% 

 School District Male 7.25% 

 School District Female 5.75% 

 Local General Service Male 4.75% 

 Local General Service Female 3.25% 

 State Police & Fire 4.75% 

 Local Police & Fire 7.50% 

Dormants 3.00% 

Unused Vacation Cash Out Adjustment 

Tier 1  

 State General Service 1.60% 

 School District 0.25% 

 Local General Service 2.20% 

 State Police & Fire 1.80% 

 Local Police & Fire 2.90% 

Tier 2 0.00% 

Retiree Healthcare Assumptions 

Retiree Healthcare Participation 

RHIPA  

 8 – 9 years of service 10.0% 

 10 – 14 years of service 10.0% 

 15 – 19 years of service 18.0% 

 20 – 24 years of service 26.0% 

 25 – 29 years of service 29.0% 

 30+ years of service 38.0% 

RHIA  

 Healthy Retired 38.0% 

 Disabled Retired 20.0% 



Milliman Experience Study Appendix 

This work product was prepared solely for Oregon Public Employees Retirement System for the 
purposes stated herein, and may not be appropriate to use for other purposes. Milliman does not 
intend to benefit and assumes no duty or liability to other parties who receive this work. Milliman 
recommends that third parties be aided by their own actuary or other qualified professional when 
reviewing the Milliman work product. 

60 

Healthcare Cost Trend Rates 

Year Rate

2015 7.00%

2016 6.30%

2017 6.00%

2018 5.40%

2019 5.30%

2020 5.40%

2021-2024 5.40%

2025-2027 5.50%

2028 6.40%

2029 6.50%

2030-2034 6.40%

2035 6.30%

2036 6.20%

2037 6.10%

2038 6.00%

2039-2040 5.90%

2041-2043 5.80%

2044-2045 5.70%

2046-2049 5.60%

2050-2055 5.50%

2056-2061 5.40%

2062 5.30%

2063 5.20%

2064 5.10%

2065 5.00%

2066 4.90%

2067 4.80%

2068 4.70%

2069 4.70%

2070 4.60%

2071-2093 4.50%

2094+ 4.40%








	AGENDA 9-25-2015
	A.1. Minutes 7.31.2015 FINAL
	ADMINISTRATION

	A.2.a.  Forward Calendar
	A.2.b. OIC Report August 2015
	A.2.c. Budget Execution Report - Sept 2015 FINAL
	A.2.d 2015 Cust.Survey Results FINAL
	MEMBER CUSTOMER SATISFACTION SURVEY
	For the second year, we asked: “What type of device do you prefer to access websites?” Approximately 85% of respondents preferred a computer, while approximately 13% preferred a tablet and 8% a phone.
	NUMERICAL MEMBER RESULTS (may not equal 100% due to rounding)
	COMPARISON OF 2011-2015 MEMBER RESULTS
	KEY MEMBER ISSUES AND SUGGESTIONS (in order of number of responses)
	SURVEY METHODOLOGIES
	Percent of employer respondents rating “excellent” or “good” (the state’s measures do not include the “Don’t Know” responses; the numbers in the graph have been rebaselined to exclude those responses).

	How do you rate…

	B.1. Notice - 2015 Legislation FINAL
	OVERVIEW
	BACKGROUND
	NEXT STEPS

	B.1. Att 1 005-0001-1
	459-005-0001
	Definitions, Generally

	B.1. Att 2 005-0310-1
	B.1. Att 3 005-0350-1
	B.1. Att 4 011-0500-1
	B.1. Att 5 080-0150-1
	B.2. Notice - Partial Year for Academic Employees FINAL
	OVERVIEW
	BACKGROUND
	NEXT STEPS

	B.2. Att 1 010-0012-1
	B.3. Notice - Retirement Benefits FINAL
	OVERVIEW
	BACKGROUND
	NEXT STEPS

	B.3. Att 1 013-0060-1
	B.3. Att 2 013-0310-1
	B.4. Adoption - COLA FINAL
	OVERVIEW
	BACKGROUND

	B.4. Att 1 005-0510-1
	B.4. Att 2 005-0520-1
	B.4. Att 3 Addendum
	B.4. Att 4 May 5 COLA public comment letter from Doug Crumme
	B.4. Att 5 August 31 COLA public comment email
	B.5. Adoption - Assumed Rate FINAL
	OVERVIEW

	B.5. Att 1 007-0007-2
	C.1. Moro Implementation Project Update and Funding Request FINAL
	C.2. OPSRP Contribution Start Date spr edits
	C.2. Att 1
	2015-09-10-LetterToPERS
	OPSRP CSD Testimony
	EAG Testimony
	Scanned Document
	doc20150909161319
	PERS OPSRP Issue.MC Response.2015
	Ltr to PERS Board-Contingency Fund FINAL

	C.3. Placeholder Adoption of Actuarial Methods and Assumptions and 2014 Valuation Results
	BACKGROUND
	C.3. Milliman Actuarial Valuation
	C.3. Milliman 2014 Exp Study
	Hartman Board Memo 9-24-15




